

Nikon Software License Agreement

NOTICE TO USER

You should carefully read the Nikon License Agreement and Disclaimer of Warranty contained herein before opening this package or breaking any seals. BY OPENING THIS PACKAGE, YOU INDICATE YOUR ACCEPTANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT AND ARE AGREE-ING TO BECOME BOUND BY THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT. If you do not agree to the terms of this agreement, do not open the package or break any seals. Promptly return within fifteen (15) days from the date of delivery the unopened package to the authorized Nikon Dealer where you obtained it for a full fee refund.

In consideration of the payment of the license fee, Nikon grants to you a non-exclusive license to use the enclosed computer program and documentation ("Nikon Device Driver Software") only under the terms stated in this agreement. This license is not a sale of the Nikon Device Driver Software and you do not become owner of it. Nikon retains ownership of Nikon Device Driver Software and all copies of it, and reserves all rights not expressly granted to you under this agreement. You only own the disk on which the Nikon Device Driver Software is recorded. This agreement constitutes the complete and exclusive agreement between you and Nikon and takes the place of any prior agreement, oral or written, between us relating to the Nikon Device Driver Software.

1. License

This license allows you to:

A Use the Nikon Device Driver Software only on a single Apple or IBM computer. You must obtain a supplementary license from Nikon before using the Nikon Device Driver Software in connection with systems, multiple central processing units, computer networks, or emulations on a mainframe or mini computer.

B Make one copy of the Nikon Device Driver Software in machine-readable form solely for back-up purposes. The Nikon Device Driver Software is protected by United States copyright law. You must reproduce on each copy the Nikon copyright notice and any other proprietary legends that were on the original copy.

C Transfer the Nikon Device Driver Software and all rights under this license to another party together with a copy of this Agreement provided you give Nikon written notice of the transfer and the other party reads and agrees to accept the terms and conditions of the agreement.

D Configure the Nikon Device Driver Software for your own use by adding or removing fonts, desk accessories, and/or device drivers.

2. Restrictions

Except as otherwise stated in this Agreement, you may not distribute copies of the Nikon Device Driver Software to others or electronically transfer the Nikon Device Driver Software

from one computer to another over a network. The Nikon Device Driver Software contains trade secrets, and in order to protect them, you may not decompile, reverse engineer, disassemble, or otherwise reduce the Nikon Device Driver Software to a human perceivable form. YOU MAY NOT MODIFY, ADAPT, TRANSLATE, RENT, LEASE, LOAN, RESELL FOR PROFIT, DISTRIBUTE, NETWORK, OR CREATE DERIVATIVE WORKS BASED UPON THE NIKON DEVICE DRIVER SOFTWARE OR ANY PART THEREOF.

3. Term

This license is effective until terminated. This license will terminate automatically without notice from Nikon if you fail to comply with any provisions of this license. Upon termination you must destroy the Nikon Device Driver Software and all copies thereof. You may terminate this license at any time by destroying the Nikon Device Driver Software and all copies thereof.

4. Foreign Export

You agree and certify that neither the Nikon Device Driver Software nor any direct product thereof is being or will be shipped, transferred, or re-exported, directly or indirectly, into any country prohibited by the United States Export Administration Act and the regulations thereunder or will be used for any purpose prohibited by the same.

5. Limited Warranty and Limitations of Warranty and Liability

A Nikon warrants that the disk on which the Nikon Device Driver Software is recorded is free from defects in material and workmanship under normal use and conditions for a period of ninety (90) days from date of delivery to the original licensee as evidenced by the original fee receipt. During this period, if there is any defect in material or workmanship to the disk, return it to the Nikon authorized dealer from whom you obtained it, together with your original fee receipt and it will be repaired or replaced free of charge. If you ship the Nikon Device Driver Software to your Nikon authorized dealer, you must pay all postage, shipping, transportation, insurance and delivery costs.

B This warranty extends to the original licensee only and is not assignable or transferable. This warranty does not apply to any disk which has been subject to misuse, abuse, negligence or accident. Any repaired or replaced disk shall be warranted for the remainder of the original limited warranty or thirty (30) days, whichever is longer. All warranties implied by law on the disk, including but not limited to merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose, are limited to the duration of the above warranty. Nikon's entire liability and your exclusive remedy here-under is limited solely to repair or replacement of the disk on which the Device Driver Software is recorded, or, at Nikon's option, a refund of the license fee.

C Except for the limited warranty for the disk on which the Nikon Device Driver Software is recorded as set forth above, Nikon makes no warranties, either expressed or implied. The Nikon Device Driver Software is sold "as is" without any warranty of any kind and Nikon, its employees, distributors, dealers and agents specifically disclaim any warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied, including but not limited to any implied warranty of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. In no event does Nikon, its employees, distributors, dealers, or

agents warrant the performance of or the results you may obtain from the Nikon Device Driver Software, or that the Nikon Device Driver Software will meet your requirements, or that the operation of the Nikon Device Driver Software will be uninterrupted and error-free. If the Nikon Device Driver Software is defective, you assume all costs of repair or servicing. In no event shall Nikon, its employees, distributors, dealers or agents be liable to you for any direct, indirect, consequential or incidental damages, losses or expenses of any kind, including but not limited to the loss of profits, business information or business interruption, arising out of or resulting from the Nikon Device Driver Software, however caused, even if Nikon has been advised of the possibility of such damages, losses or expenses.

D EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, NIKON SHALL HAVE NO LIABIL-ITY OR RESPONSIBILITY OF ANY KIND (INCLUDING LIABILITY FOR NEGLIGENCE) TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY WITH RESPECT TO ANY LIABILITY, LOSS OR DAMAGE CAUSED OR ALLEGED TO HAVE BEEN CAUSED, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY BY THE NIKON DEVICE DRI-VER SOFTWARE SOLD, LICENSED OR FURNISHED BY NIKON UNDER THIS AGREEMENT. NOTWITHSTANDING THE ABOVE LIMITATION, NIKON'S LIABILITY ON ANY CLAIM OF ANY KIND (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE) FROM THE DELIVERY, LICENSE, OR USE OF THE NIKON DEVICE DRI-VER SOFTWARE FURNISHED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL IN NO CASE EXCEED THE FEE YOU PAID FOR THE NIKON DEVICE DRIVER SOFTWARE.

SOME STATES DO NOT ALLOW (A) LIMITATIONS ON HOW LONG AN IMPLIED WARRANTY LASTS OR (B) THE EXCLUSION OR LIMITATIONS OF INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES SO THE ABOVE LIMITATIONS OR EXCLUSIONS MAY NOT APPLY TO YOU. NIKON'S WARRANTY GIVES YOU SPECIFIC LEGAL RIGHTS AND YOU MAY ALSO HAVE OTHER RIGHTS WHICH VARY FROM STATE TO STATE.

6. General

This agreement is governed and shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York. If any provision of this Agreement shall be determined to be invalid for any reason, the remaining provisions shall not be invalidated and shall remain in full force and effect.

Apple Disclaimer

The following disclaimer is required by Apple Computer, Inc. It applies only to Apple software. All other software is covered by Nikon's limited warranty.

"APPLE COMPUTER, INC. ("APPLE") MAKES NO WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, REGARDING THE APPLE SOFTWARE. APPLE DOES NOT WARRANT, GUAR-ANTEE OR MAKE ANY REPRESENTATIONS REGARDING THE USE OR THE RESULTS OF THE USE OF THE APPLE SOFTWARE IN TERMS OF ITS CORRECTNESS, ACCURACY, RELIABILITY, CURRENTNESS OR OTHERWISE. THE ENTIRE RISK AS TO THE RESULTS AND PERFORMANCE OF THE APPLE SOFTWARE IS ASSUMED BY YOU. THE EXCLUSION OF IMPLIED WARRANTIES IS NOT PERMITTED BY SOME STATES. THE ABOVE EXCLUSION MAY NOT APPLY TO YOU."

Page IV

"IN NO EVENT WILL APPLE, ITS DIRECTORS, OFFICERS, EMPLOYEES OR AGENTS BE LIABLE TO YOU FOR ANY CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL OR INDIRECT DAMAGES (INCLUDING DAMAGES FOR LOSS OF BUSINESS PROFITS, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION, LOSS OF BUSINESS INFORMATION, AND THE LIKE) ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE THE APPLE SOFTWARE EVEN IF APPLE HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. BECAUSE SOME STATES DO NOT ALLOW THE EXCLUSION OR LIMITATION OF LIABILITY FOR CONSEQUENTIAL OR INCIDEN-TAL DAMAGES, THE ABOVE LIMITATIONS MAY NOT APPLY TO YOU. APPLE'S LIABILITY TO YOU FOR ACTUAL DAMAGES FROM ANY CAUSE WHATSOEVER, AND REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF THE ACTION (WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), PRODUCT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE), WILL BE LIMITED TO \$50."

The MacApp software is proprietary to Apple Computer, Inc. and is licensed to Nikon Inc. for distribution only for use in combination with Nikon Control.

Acknowledgments

Nikon acknowledges with gratitude the contributions of the Design, Planning and Production Sections of the Electronic Image Engineering Division of Nikon Corp. and the Marketing & Development Group at Nikon Electronic Imaging.

This manual may not, in whole or in part, be copied, photocopied, reproduced, translated, or converted to any electronic or machine readable form without prior written consent of Nikon Inc.

The accompanying 35mm slide is for instructional purposes only and may not be copied, reproduced, translated, or converted to any electronic or machine readable form for any other usage without prior written consent. The slide is © 1993, John Harcourt.

Trademark Information

Coolscan[™], Nikon Control[™], Coolscan Control[™], and Eject Coolscan Film[™] are trademarks of Nikon Inc. Nikon LS-10[™], Nikon LS-10E[™], Nikon LS-3510AF[™], Nikon LS-3500[™], and Nikon CP-3000[™] are trademarks of Nikon Corporation. Macintosh[™], PowerBook[™], Quadra[™], HDI-30[™], IIci[™], IIfx[™], AppleLink[™], ColorSync[™] and QuickDraw[™] are trademarks of Apple Computer, Inc. Image*Access[™]* is a trademark of AXS/Optical Technology Resource, Inc. Photoshop[™], Illustrator[™] and PostScript[™] are trademarks of Adobe Systems Inc. Fractal ColorStudio[™] is a trademark of Fractal Design. Windows[™] and DOS[™] are trademarks of Microsoft® Corporation. PhotoStyler[™] is a trademark of Aldus Corporation. Picture Publisher[™] is a trademark of Micrografx, Inc. Centronics[™] is a trademark of Centronics. Microchannel[™] is a trademark of IBM.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page V

IBM-PC[™] is a trademark of IBM. T-130[™] and T-260[™] are trademarks of Trantor Systems, Ltd. NB Handler CDEV, NB-GPIB, GPIB-AT, GPIB-PCIIA, and MC-GPIB are [©] National Instruments, Inc. Agfachrome[™] is a trademark of Agfa Corporation. Ektachrome[™] and Kodachrome[™] are trademarks of Eastman Kodak Co. Fujichrome[™] is a trademark of Fuji Corporation. Color Key[™] and MatchPrint[™] are trademarks of 3M Corp. Chromalin[™] is a trademark of DuPont Corp. Pantone[™] is a trademark of Pantone, Inc. HP-IB[™] is a trademark of Hewlett-Packard. America Online[™] is a trademark of America Online Inc. PressLink[™] is a trademark of Knight-Ridder. Targa[™] is a trademark of Truevision, Inc.

All trademarks have been used in an editorial fashion with no intention of infringement.

Nikon Inc. Electronic Imaging Department 1300 Walt Whitman Road Melville, NY 11747-3064 516-547-4355

© 1993, Nikon Inc. All rights reserved. Printed in the United States of America

Table of Contents

Chapter 1 – Read This First	1
About this Manual	1
The Package Contents	1
User Registration	1
Minimum Macintosh Scanning System Requirements	1
Minimum IBM PC and Compatibles Scanning System Requirements	2
Suggested Macintosh System Configurations	2
Suggested IBM PC or Compatibles System Configurations	3
Before You Begin	3
Chapter 2 – Software Installation – Macintosh	5
Nikon Software	5
Nikon Scanner Plug-in Software	5
Nikon Control Software	5
Utility Software	6
System Requirements	6
About the Nikon Installer	6
The Distribution Diskette	6
Before You Begin	7
Running the Nikon Installer	7
Chapter 3 – Software Installation – IBM PC or Compatible	11
Nikon Software	11
Nikon Scanner Plug-in Software	11
Nikon Control Software	11
Utility Software	11
Nikon Installer Software	11
System Requirements	12
The Distribution Diskette	12
Running the Nikon Installer	12
The Cofference Installer Disland	13
The Software Installer Dialog	
The Product Selection Dialog	14
The Product Selection Dialog The Installation Options Dialog	14 15
The Product Selection Dialog The Installation Options Dialog The Path Selection for Files Dialog	14 15 16
The Software Installer Dialog The Product Selection Dialog The Installation Options Dialog The Path Selection for Files Dialog Installing Third-Party Applications	14 15 16 19
The Software Installer Dialog The Product Selection Dialog The Installation Options Dialog The Path Selection for Files Dialog Installing Third-Party Applications The Path Selection for Installer Dialog	14 15 16 19 19
The Software Installer Dialog The Product Selection Dialog The Installation Options Dialog The Path Selection for Files Dialog Installing Third-Party Applications The Path Selection for Installer Dialog The Installation Method Dialog	14 15 16 19 19 19
The Software Installer Dialog The Product Selection Dialog The Installation Options Dialog The Path Selection for Files Dialog Installing Third-Party Applications The Path Selection for Installer Dialog The Installation Method Dialog Configuring and Testing the GPIB	14 15 16 19 19 19 19 20

Chapter 4 – Getting Started on the Macintosh	23
Launching the Nikon Scanner	23
Plug-in Initialization	25
The Scan Dialogs	25
Inserting the Slide	27
Coolscan	27
LS-3510AF	28
Scanning a Preview Image	29
Final Scan	30
Setting the Crop	30
Conclusion	32
Chapter 5 – Getting Started on the IBM PC or Compatible	33
Launching the Software	33
Inserting the Slide	35
Coolscan	35
LS-3510AF	36
Scanning a Preview Image	37
Final Scan	38
Setting the Crop	38
Conclusion	40
Chapter 6 – Producing a Scan	41
Step 1. Insert the slide into the scanner	41
Step 2. Launch the application program	41
Step 3. Select the film type and orientation	42
Step 4. Perform a preview scan	44
Step 5. Select the size of the scan	44
Step 6. Select the final resolution of the scan	45
Lock the file size	46
Step 7. Select the area to scan	47
Step 8. Perform a final scan	48
Step 9. Name the file	48
Step 10. Eject/Remove the slide	49
Chanter 7 Introduction to the Nilson Comment Director	F 1
Unapter / - Introduction to the Nikon Scanner Plug-In	
IIIIrouuction.	51 71
Launching the INIKON Scanner	
riug-in initialization	
I në Scan Dialogs	54
Using the Nikon Scanner Plug-In	57
Message Boxes	57

	Buttons	58
	Value Edit Boxes	58
	Pop-up Menus - Macintosh	59
	Combo Boxes – Windows	59
	Graphics Windows	60
	Using the Mouse to Control the Scan Dialog	61
	The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog Box	62
	The Tools Dialog Box	64
	Selecting the Scan Dialog Size	67
	Selecting the Focus Method – Coolscan only	68
	Interface Buttons	68
	Calibrating the Lamp (LS-3510AF only)	70
	The Scanner State	
	Getting Help	
	81	
Cha	nter 8 – Setting and Restoring the Nikon Plug-in State – Macintosh	73
	The Settings Controls	74
	Reset	74
	Set Defaults	74
	Load Settings	
	Save Settings	
	The Automatic Method	
	Summary	
	The Set Default Method	
	Summary	
	The User-Named Method	
	Summary	
	5 uninar j	
Cha	nter 9 – Setting and Restoring the Nikon Plug-in State – Windows	
	The Settings Controls	
	Use Defaults	80
	Set Defaults	80
	Load Settings	80
	Save Settings	
	The Automatic Method	81
	Summary	
	The Set Default Method	
	Summary	82
	The User-Named Method	
	Summary	
	Summurj	

Table of Contents

Chapter 10 – Performing a Preview or Final Scan	85
The Scan Controls	85
The Preview Button	85
The Scan Button	85
The Abort Keystroke	85
Autoexposure Cycle	86
Forcing an Autoexposure Cycle	87
Autofocus – LS-3510AF only	88
Manual Focus – LS-3510AF only	88
Performing a Preview Scan	89
Performing a Final Scan	90
Saving the Scan	90
Ejecting the Film (Coolscan only)	91
Quitting the Application	92
Chapter 11 – Cropping and Sizing Images	93
The Sizing Controls	93
The Preview Window	94
Width	94
Height	95
Width and Height Units	95
Final Resolution	95
Final Resolution Units	96
Scan Pitch	96
Scan Resolution Status	97
Locking the Aspect	97
Locking the File Size	97
File Size Status	98
The Preview Window	98
Crop Rectangle	99
Coordinate Display	101
The Sizing Controls	101
Dimensional Units	103
Resolution and Scan Pitch	103
Final Resolution	104
Scan Pitch	106
Locking Proportions and File Size	107
Moving the Crop Rectangle	108
Disk Space Status	110

Chapter 12 – Film Type and Orientation	113
The Image Orientation Controls	113
Portrait/Landscape Button in Portrait Mode	113
Portrait/Landscape Button in Landscape Mode	113
Flip Vertical Button	114
Flip Horizontal Button	114
Portrait or Landscape	114
Film Type	115
Color Positive Film	115
Color Negative Film	115
Black and White Positive Film	115
Black and White Negative Film	116
Changing the Film Type	116
Chapter 13 – Contrast, Brightness and Color Balance	119
The Exposure Controls	119
Automatic Exposure	119
Autoexposure Button	120
Autoexposure Check Box	120
Autoexposure Check Mark	120
Brightness	121
Adjusting Brightness	121
Contrast	122
Adjusting Contrast	123
Color Balance	124
Red Exposure	124
Green Exposure	125
Blue Exposure	126
Chapter 14 – Focusing with Coolscan	
Focus Controls	
Selecting the Focus Method (Macintosh only)	
Metered Focus Method	
Focus Level Meter	
Visual Focus Method	130
Chanter 15 - Camma Curve Controls	199
Gamma Curve Controls	133 1ዓዓ
Gamma Curve Editor Button	193
Custom Check Rox	122
Scanner Carma Curve	193
Changing Vour Mind	12/
	104

Chapter 16 – The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog	135
The Interactive Help Button (Macintosh only)	136
Gamma Curves	137
Custom and Default Gamma Curves	137
Where Gamma Curves Reside (Macintosh only)	138
Sending Gamma Tables to the Scanner	138
Custom Check Box	139
Factory Default Gamma Curves	139
Default Settings (Macintosh only)	139
Load Settings and Save Settings	140
Loading Curves from Gamma Files	141
Entering the Gamma Editor	142
Loading the Factory Default Gamma Curves	142
Loading Custom Gamma Curves (Macintosh only)	142
Resetting the Gamma Curves	143
Viewing the Gamma Curves	144
Red/Cyan, Green/Magenta and Blue/Yellow (RGB) Gamma Curves	145
Monochrome Gamma Curve	145
Master Gamma Curve	146
Red, Green, and Blue (RGB) Gamma Curves	146
Viewing the Histogram	147
Adjusting the Preview Image	148
Setting Control Points on the Gamma Curves	148
Setting the Black Point	149
Setting the White Point	150
Automatic Contrast Adjustment	152
Modifying the Gamma Curves	152
Graphically Altering a Gamma Curve	152
Forcing a Gamma Curve to Linear	154
Exiting the Gamma Curve Editor Dialog	154
Exiting Without Saving Results of the Editing Session	155
Exiting and Saving Results of the Editing Session	155
Chapter 17 – Nikon Control Application Software – Macintosh	157
Launching Nikon Control	157
Scan Windows	157
Status Bar	158
The Main Menu	158
The Apple Menu	158
The File Menu	159
New Scan	160
Close	160

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page XII

Table of Contents

Save As	161
Fiert	161
Quit	162
The Edit Menu	162
Undo/Redo (Last Command Used)	162
Zoom In	162
Zoom Out	163
Double Zoom	163
Halve Zoom	
Set Zoom to 1:1	
Original Scan Zoom	
Chapter 18 – Nikon Control Application Software – Windows	165
Launching Nikon Control	
Scan Windows	
The Main Menu	
The File Menu	
New Scan	
Open	
Close	
Save	
Save As	
About	
Exit	
The Edit Menu	169
The Window Menu	170
Cascade	170
Tile	170
Arrange Icons	170
Zoom In	170
Zoom Out	
Fit In Window	
Autosize Window	
Information	
Selecting the Active Scan Window	
	-
Troubleshooting – Macintosh	
Troubleshooting – Windows	
Glossary of Computer Imaging Terms	
Index	

Table of Contents

Page XIV

Read This First

About this Manual

This software reference contains instructions for using Nikon Coolscan (LS-10 and LS-10E), LS-3510AF, and LS-3500 scanners running on either an Apple Macintosh computer or an IBM PC or compatible computer under Microsoft Windows 3.1 or later. Use of this manual assumes that the user has a working knowledge of the relevant operating system. Where possible, Nikon has attempted to make both versions of software as similar as possible in feature set and interface design. There may be occasions, because of operating system dissimilarities, where the two versions may not match exactly. The explanations in the respective platform sections may also differ for that reason. Specific references to Coolscan apply to all Coolscan models. Specific references to model LS-3510AF may apply to model LS-3500 as well.

Commands that are taken from the user interface are shown using HELVETICA type. Cautions and Notes are printed in **boldfaced** type with a triangular warning marker located in the margin.

The Package Contents

Listed below are the components of the Nikon Software Reference for Scanners package:

- Nikon Software Reference for Scanners
- Nikon Scanning Software for Macintosh
- Nikon Scanning Software for Windows
- Nikon User Registration Card
- Sample 35mm Slide

User Registration

To receive the latest product information and software updates from Nikon, please complete the enclosed registration card and mail it today!

Minimum Macintosh Scanning System Requirements

- Macintosh family of computers with SCSI interface (for use with Coolscan or LS-3510AF SCSI models)
- Macintosh System 6.0.5 or later
- 32-bit QuickDraw (when using earlier than System 7.0)

- 8 Megabytes of RAM (more recommended)
- 80 Megabyte Hard Disk (300MB or more recommended)
- National Instruments NB-GPIB card with cable (with LS-3510AF GPIB models)
- 8-bit display (24-bit true-color display *strongly* recommended)
- SCSI II cable adapter (with LS-3510AF SCSI models)

Minimum IBM PC and Compatibles Scanning System Requirements

- Microsoft Windows version 3.1 or later
- 8 Megabytes of RAM (more recommended)
- 80 Megabyte Hard Disk (300MB or more recommended)

• National Instruments GPIB-AT card (for ISA bus) or MC-GPIB card (for Microchannel bus) with cable (with LS-3510AF and LS-3500 GPIB models). The National Instruments GPIB-PCIIA card is *not* supported under Windows 3.1.

- SCSI controller card with ASPI driver (with LS-3510AF SCSI models)
- 8-bit display (24-bit true-color display *strongly* recommended)
- SCSI II cable adapter (with LS-3510AF SCSI models)

Suggested Macintosh System Configurations

Following these suggestions will yield the best scanning results:

• Set your disk cache (found in the "Memory" Control Panel in System 7, and in the General Control Panel in System 6) to the minimum setting, as scan times increase if the RAM cache is set above the minimum.

• Virtual Memory, also in the "Memory" Control Panel in System 7, should be switched off. Most imaging applications have their own method for dealing with images larger then available RAM.

• File Sharing should be switched off. Any extended background operation, such as copying large files from your system to another over a network, may cause the scanner to abort during a scan.

• Allocate at least 80% of your available memory to the application that is hosting the Nikon Scanner plug-in. Adding memory to your system is one of the best investments you can make to increase overall image processing performance.

• For the most accurate display, set your "Monitors" Control Panel to the maximum number of colors available. "Thousands" or "Millions" of colors will provide an excellent display of your image. If your system only supports a maximum of 256 colors you will see a 'dithered' image, which looks 'soft', and is difficult to adjust or edit accurately. The monitor setting has no effect on the actual quality of your image, which is always captured in 24-bit mode (16.7 million colors).

 Color images can occupy large amounts of disk space. Make sure your hard disk has sufficient free space to store the images you plan to scan. You should have at least 60 megabytes of free space available if you plan on maximum resolution scans.

Suggested IBM PC or Compatible System Configurations

• For the most accurate display, set your monitor to display the maximum number of colors available. 16-bit or 24-bit graphics adapters will provide an excellent rendition of your image. If your system only supports a maximum of 256 colors (VGA) you will see a 'dithered' image, which looks speckled or grainy. The monitor setting has no effect on the actual quality of your image, which is always captured in 24-bit mode (16.7 million colors).

• Color images can occupy large amounts of disk space. Make sure your hard disk has sufficient free space to store the images you plan to scan. You should have at least 60 megabytes of free space available if you plan on maximum resolution scans.

Before You Begin

Before proceeding, make a backup copy of your master diskettes! Store the master diskettes in a safe place. Always work with the backup copies to install the software.

In "Getting Started" you will learn the basics of how to perform a scan, thus getting you up and running within the shortest time possible. "Getting Started" provides condensed instruction that will lead you through your first scan, using the enclosed sample slide. Don't worry if you do not understand some of the terminology and concepts introduced here. The goal is to familiarize yourself with the controls by performing a routine scan.

You will probably require about one half-hour to complete this trial run. In that time you will gain a working knowledge of the scanning system. Nikon scanners are designed to yield a high quality scan requiring little user intervention. You need only properly insert the film in the scanner, launch the scanning software, and select the SCAN command. However, if you would like a thorough explanation of the scanner controls, color imaging techniques, and color separation guidelines, we strongly recommend reading the entire contents of this manual. Before you begin, make sure that you have the minimum system requirements for a functional scanning system. In particular, if you are using a GPIB model scanner, you must have a GPIB interface card and software installed in your computer, or have one ready to install.

For detailed information on the scanning hardware and a full discussion of programming your own scanner interface, refer to the *Technical and Programmer's References*, available from Nikon.

Now, let's begin by following the instructions in the "Software Installation" chapter for your particular computer.

Software Installation – Macintosh

Nikon Software

The enclosed distribution diskette *Scanning Software for Macintosh*, includes two scanning software programs, *Nikon Scanner plug-in* software and *Nikon Control*. Also included is a driver for the Nikon CP-3000 printer. Two software utilities, *NB Handler* and *Eject Coolscan Film* are included to assist you in configuring your GPIB computer interface (if applicable), and ejecting slides from Coolscan scanners, respectively.

Before you can use your scanner, you must install the scanning software on your computer. Because the scanning software files are compressed, you cannot simply copy them to your hard disk. Rather, by responding to a few simple prompts and providing a minimum amount of information, the *Nikon Installer*, also located on the distribution diskette, will automatically decompress and install the Nikon Scanner plug-in, Nikon Control, ColorSync profiles and Eject Coolscan Film (if applicable) onto your hard drive, as requested.



Commands that are taken from the user interface in this section are shown using HELVETICA **type.**

Nikon Scanner Plug-in Software

The Nikon Scanner plug-in software must be used in conjunction with another software application. It is called a *plug-in* because it 'plugs in' to any software application which is compatible with the Adobe Photoshop plug-in standard. The Nikon Scanner plug-in software user interface remains the same across most of the popular imaging applications. This allows you to scan from within different applications as desired, even crossing over from the Macintosh to the PC, without having to learn a new scanner software interface. Use of the Nikon Scanner plug-in is explained in detail later in this manual.

Nikon Control Software

Nikon Control is a stand-alone scanning software application that directly supports the Nikon Scanner plug-in for use with Nikon scanners only. If you would rather not scan from within another application program, such as Photoshop, Nikon Control is an easy-to-use application. Use of Nikon Control is explained in detail later in this manual.

Utility Software

The distribution diskette also contains two software utilities. The first, NB Handler, is used to communicate with the GPIB interface card for use with Nikon LS-3510AF scanners or CP-3000 printers with a GPIB interface. Eject Coolscan Film is a simple software application for ejecting the slide inserted in Coolscan scanners only. This application has no menu. It will locate Coolscan, send the EJECT FILM command, then quit.

System Requirements

Macintosh System 6.0.5 (System 7.1 is recommended) must be installed on the computer before attempting to run the Nikon Installer software. The destination disk drive, the drive on which you will be loading the scanning software, must have enough disk space to accommodate the Nikon Scanner plug-in and Nikon Control. If you are planning on using the plug-in with specific third-party applications, make sure that the application is already installed on the destination drive before installing the plug-in.

About the Nikon Installer

The Distribution Diskette

Insert the *backup copy* of the distribution diskette into an available floppy disk drive. The disk should open automatically to the top-left corner of the screen, revealing its contents, shown in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1 Contents of the distribution diskette.

Make sure to read contents of the *Read Me First* file for important technical information before proceeding.

Before You Begin

The Nikon Installer program provides two installation options. The first option, *Easy Install*, installs all necessary files for your LS-3510AF with GPIB interface. This can only be installed to a disk with a working System Folder. The second set of options, *Customize*, allows you to specify installation of software for other Nikon products. Both options allow you to quit during the installation if desired.

There are times when you will already have another imaging application loaded onto your Macintosh and would like to use the Nikon Scanner plug-in in conjunction with it. For example, you might be using Nikon Image*Access* or Adobe Photoshop. If you already have one of these applications loaded onto your computer, all that is required is to run the Nikon Installer, then copy the Nikon Scanner plug-in from the Nikon Control folder to the desired folder. The Nikon Scanner plug-in can then be automatically accessed by your existing imaging software.



 \land

The LS-3510AF/LS-3500 GPIB software must be installed to a system disk. The Nikon Installer will not allow installation of the GPIB Drivers to a nonsystem disk.

It is strongly recommended that you disable all virus protection software before using the Nikon Installer. Some virus protection software may be triggered by the Nikon Installer.

Running the Nikon Installer

Step 1. Double-click the NIKON INSTALL icon with the mouse button.

The Installer will display an introductory screen.

Step 2. Click the OK button.

Step 3. The following message will appear:

Chapter 2

Software Installation – Macintosh



Figure 2.2 The installation message for suggested system configuration.

It is strongly recommended that you adhere to the recommended system configuration to optimize performance of your Nikon scanner.

Click the CONTINUE button.

Step 4. The Nikon Installer dialog box, seen in Figure 2.3, will appear, and your Startup disk will be selected for the installation.

Click "Install" to:	
Install Nikon Control Faller	
For the LS-35108F GP18 Scanner	Install
on the hard disk named	
- Applications	
	E)est Disk
	Switch Disk
	Customize

Figure 2.3 The Nikon Installer dialog for selecting Easy Install of LS-3510AF GPIB model. Click CUSTOMIZE for installation for other Nikon devices.

If you are installing a Nikon LS-3510AF or LS-3500 *GPIB* model scanner, click the INSTALL button and proceed to Step 7.

-01⁻

If you are installing a Nikon Coolscan scanner, an LS-3510AF *SCSI* model scanner, or a Nikon CP-3000 Dye Sublimation Printer, click CUSTOMIZE, and proceed to Step 5.

Step 5. A dialog box containing the three installation options will appear, as seen in Figure 2.4. Select the option you want to install by clicking on it.

LS-10 COOLSCAN [™] CP-30000 Dye Sublimation Printer	P Install
LS-3510RF SCSI	
	= System
	Elect Disk
fou have selected:	(
 L5-35108F SCS1 	[Switch Disk]
	Easy Install

Figure 2.4 The Nikon Installer dialog for selecting other Nikon devices for installation.

Step 6. Once you have selected the device for installation, click the INSTALL button, *not* to be confused with the EASY INSTALL, button which returns you to the first dialog.

-01'-

If you want to install the LS-3500/LS-3510AF GPIB model, click the $\mathsf{E}\mathsf{ASY}$ Install button.

Step 7. The dialog box shown in Figure 2.5 will appear, indicating the progress of the installation. You will see the names of the files being installed adjacent to EXTRACTING: as they are first copied then extracted to your hard disk, as well as the number of FILES REMAINING TO BE EXTRACTED: just below. This extraction process will take a few minutes to complete. Note that you can quit the installation at any time by clicking the STOP button. Your system will automatically be restarted at the end of the installation, so that the necessary driver software will load.

If you selected the Easy Install option in Step 4, all files necessary for operating a Nikon LS-3510AF GPIB model scanner will be copied and extracted to your hard disk. A folder named Nikon Control will be created on the hard disk, in this example on the hard disk "System." The NB-Handler software will be installed in the Control Panels folder in your System Folder if you are using System 7. Your system will automatically be restarted at the end of the installation, so that the GPIB drivers will load.

If you selected a Nikon device other than the LS-3510AF GPIB model for installation, as in Step 5, all relevant files will be copied and extracted to your hard disk.

니		
F	eading from:	
~		
*****	1787/m874	
o		~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
	Macintosh Scanning Software	
	·	- 81
Extrac	ing: Nikon Control	
Extrac	ting: Nikon Control	
Extrac Files re	ing: Nikon Control	
Extrac Files re	ting: Nikon Control maining to be extracted: 1 Stop ExtractorCR™ © 1992 Bill Goodman	
Extrac Files re	ting: Nikon Control maining to be extracted: 1 Stop Extractor CR™ © 1992 Bill Goodman	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~



Step 8. In most cases, a message will be displayed informing you that the installation was completed successfully. Be sure to make note of any error messages that appear, before contacting Nikon Technical Support. Some virus detection software may be triggered by the Nikon Installer. You should disable them before using the Nikon Installer.

If you are installing a Nikon LS-3510AF with a SCSI interface, using the built-in SCSI interface on the Macintosh, connect the DB25 to SCSI II cable adapter to the rear panel connector on the Macintosh, then to the Mini 50-pin connector on the LS-3510AF. If this is the only device on the SCSI bus, connect a terminator to the second plug on the Nikon device. Restart your Macintosh and proceed to the chapter "Getting Started on the Macintosh."

Software Installation – IBM PC or Compatible

Nikon Software

The enclosed distribution diskette *Scanning Software for Windows*, includes two scanning software programs, *Nikon Scanner plug-in* software and *Nikon Control*. Also included is a driver for the Nikon CP-3000 Dye Sublimation Printer. The software utility *Eject Coolscan Film* is included to assist you in ejecting a slide from Coolscan scanners within the Program Manager, Windows' File Manager, or DOS.

Nikon Scanner Plug-in Software

The Nikon Scanner plug-in software must be used in conjunction with another software application. It is called a *plug-in* because it 'plugs in' to a number of software applications such as Nikon Image*Access*, Micrografx Picture Publisher and Adobe Photoshop/PC. The Nikon Scanner plug-in software user interface remains the same across these and most other popular imaging applications. This allows you to scan from within different applications as desired, even crossing over from the PC to the Macintosh, without having to learn a new scanner software interface. Use of the Nikon Scanner plug-in is explained in detail later in this manual.

Nikon Control Software

Nikon Control is a stand-alone scanning software application that directly supports the Nikon Scanner plug-in for use with Nikon scanners only. If you would rather not scan from within another application program, such as Photoshop, Nikon Control is an easy-to-use application. Use of Nikon Control is explained in detail later in this manual.

Utility Software

The distribution diskette also contains the software utility Eject Coolscan Film, a simple software application for ejecting the slide inserted in Coolscan scanners only. This application has no menu. It will locate Coolscan, send the EJECT FILM command, then quit.

Nikon Installer Software

By responding to a few simple prompts and providing a minimum amount of information, the *Nikon Installer* will automatically install the Nikon Scanner plug-in and/or the Nikon Control software onto your hard drive, as requested.

 \wedge

Commands that are taken from the user interface in this section are shown using HELVETICA **type.**

System Requirements

Windows 3.1 or later must be installed on the computer before attempting to run the Nikon Installer software. The destination disk drive, the drive on which you will be loading the scanning software, must have enough disk space to accommodate the Nikon Scanner plug-in and/or Nikon Control, and the SCSI driver. If you are planning on using the Nikon Scanner plug-in with specific third-party applications, you should have all the required disks available before continuing.

The Distribution Diskette

The Nikon software distribution diskette contains the Nikon Control application, the ASPI driver required by the SCSI controller card, and the main installation program called SETUP.EXE. The SETUP.EXE program will install Nikon Control and/or a number of third-party applications you may already own. *Make sure to make a backup copy of the Nikon distribution diskette before continuing.*

Running the Nikon Installer

First, insert the backup copy of the distribution diskette into an available 3-1/2 inch floppy disk drive. Please contact Nikon Technical Support at 516-547-4311 if you require 5-1/4 inch media.

The Nikon Installer software must be run from Windows. In the Windows Program Manager click the mouse on the FILE menu item, as shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1 The Windows Program Manager.

The FILE drop-down menu will appear, as shown in Figure 3.2. Drag the mouse down to the RUN item and release the mouse button.

Chapter 3

Software Installation – IBM PC or Compatible

	Program Manager	•
Dele Options	Window Help	 _
New		
Open	Enter	
Move	F7	
Copy	FB	
Delete	Del	
Properties	Alt+Enter	
Bun		
Exit Windows		

Figure 3.2 The FILE menu.

At this time the RUN dialog will be displayed, prompting you to enter the path to the Nikon Installer. The Nikon Installer program is named SETUP.EXE. If the Nikon distribution diskette is in the 'A' drive, enter A:\SETUP.EXE into the file name dialog, then click the OK button. This is illustrated in Figure 3.3.

Command Line:	UK.
A:VSETUP.EXE	Cancel
🗌 Run Minimized	Browne.
	Help



You will be prompted to answer a series of basic questions, after which the Nikon Installer will automatically install the designated scanning software.

You can access help at any stage of the installation by clicking on the HELP button. Similarly, you can exit the Nikon Installer at any time by clicking on the EXIT button.

To complete the software installation, simply select from the options available in each dialog, which are explained fully in the following sections.

The Software Installer Dialog

The first dialog that appears after you launch the SETUP.EXE program is the NIKON SCANNER SOFTWARE SETUP dialog, seen in Figure 3.4. The Installer is decompressing the scanner software files on the floppy disk and copying them to a temporary file on your hard disk. This will take a few moments to complete.

Software Installation – IBM PC or Compatible

Nikon Scanner Software Setup



At the conclusion of the setup operation, the NIKON SCANNER SOFTWARE INSTALLER dialog will appear, as shown in Figure 3.5.

If you want to continue with the installation, click the CONTINUE button. If you don't want to continue with the installation, click the EXIT button. Clicking the HELP button will provide you with basic information about the current step in the installation procedure.

-	Nikon Scanner Software Installer
	Welcome to the Nikon Scanner
	This program will copy the scanner driver files to your hard drive.
	When the setup is complete, you will be ready to start scanning.
	<u>Continue</u> <u>Exit</u> <u>H</u> elp

Figure 3.5 The NIKON SCANNER SOFTWARE INSTALLER dialog.

The Product Selection Dialog

The PRODUCT SELECTION dialog, seen in Figure 3.6, is used to indicate which Nikon product is being installed. Select the appropriate button, then click on the CONTINUE button to proceed.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 14

Chapter 3

Software Installation – IBM	PC or	Compatible
-----------------------------	-------	------------

	Product Selection
æ	Select the Nikon product you are installing.
۲	LS-10 Coolscan (SCSI)
0	LS-3510AF (SCSI)
0	LS-3510AF (GPIB)
0	LS-3500 (GPIB)
0	CP-3000D (GPIB)

Figure 3.6 The PRODUCT SELECTION dialog.

The Installation Options Dialog

Chapter 3

The next step entails selecting the application software which you want to 'host,' or control the Nikon Scanner plug-in software. Use of the Nikon Scanner plug-in requires a host application.

Select the host application through the INSTALLATION OPTIONS dialog, shown in Figure 3.7. The function of this dialog is to tell the Nikon Installer which application you will be using to access the scanner.

-	Installation Options
	 Select the software you are installing or updating.
۲	Nikon Control(TM)
0) Nikon ImageAccess/PC
0	Aldus PhotoStyler
0) Micrografx Picture Publisher 3.x
(Micrografx Picture Publisher 4.0
0	Adobe Photoshop
Note Othe	e: Only Nikon Control is included in this package. er software must be purchased separately.
<u>C</u> on	tinue <u>B</u> ack <u>E</u> xit <u>H</u> elp

Figure 3.7 The INSTALLATION OPTIONS dialog.

The default selection is Nikon Control. If you select any of the other listed software products, refer to the section "Installing Third-Party Applications" in this chapter.

The Path Selection for Files Dialog

The Installer software must be informed as to where you want the scanning software installed. This is accomplished by entering the 'logical disk' and path into the PATH SELECTION FOR FILES dialog, as shown in Figure 3.8, then clicking CONTINUE. The default path for Nikon Control is C:\NIKON.

E	The setup program will copy all files into the following directory.
P	th: C:\NIKON
lf you group	are installing Nikon Control, a ne w program will be added to the Program Manager.
	una Baak Euit Hala

Figure 3.8 The PATH SELECTION FOR FILES dialog.

If you want to install the Nikon Control software as the host application, click CONTINUE. This will invoke the SCSI DEVICE DRIVER OPTIONS dialog, as seen in Figure 3.9.

Chapter 3

Software Installation – IBM PC or Compatible

SCSI Device Driver Options
Would you like to add the Coolscan SCSI device driver to your CONFIG.SYS file?
Copy file and update CONFIG.SYS
○ Copy file but don't update CONFIG.SYS
O Don't copy file or update CONFIG.SYS
Since you are installing a SCSI scanner, you must have a SCSI ASPI driver loaded. A driver is supplied for the SCSI card included with the LS-10 Coolscan scanner.
If you choose to update the CONFIG.SYS file, the current file will be renamed to CONFIG.BAK.
If you do not update the CONFIG.SYS file, you must add this line yourself:
DEVICE=d:\path\MA13B.SYS
Where "d:\path" is the drive and path you are installing to.
<u>Continue</u> <u>B</u> ack <u>E</u> xit <u>H</u> elp

Figure 3.9 The SCSI DEVICE DRIVER OPTIONS dialog.

When using the scanner with the included SCSI controller card, select the COPY FILE AND UPDATE CONFIG.SYS selection. Expert level users, who are familiar with the structure of the Config.SYS file, may choose one of the other options.



Improperly editing the CONFIG.SYS file may cause your system to operate improperly or fail to boot. Always make a backup copy of the CONFIG.SYS file before editing it.

After you click on CONTINUE, each file is copied to your hard disk. The NIKON SETUP Progress Indicator, seen in Figure 3.10, will report the percentage of the installation completed.

Software Installation – IBM PC or Compatible

Chapter 3

-	Nikon Setup
Sou C:\ De: C:\	ırce File: DIST\V400\DISK1\NKNSCDRV.DLL stination File: NIKON\NKNSCDRV.DLL
	27%
	Cancel

Figure 3.10 The NIKON SETUP Progress Indicator.

At the conclusion of the Nikon Control installation you will be prompted to create a PROGRAM MANAGER GROUP FOR NIKON CONTROL, as seen in Figure 3.11. The Program Manager group allows you to quickly launch application software by doubleclicking on an icon, instead of typing a path in the RUN dialog in the Program Manager, or having to locate the program in the Windows File Manager.

-	Nikon Setup
	Create Program Manager group for Nikon Control?
	Yes No

Figure 3.11 The NIKON SETUP dialog.

After you create the Program Manager group you will see the REBOOT SYSTEM dialog. You must reboot your system in order to load the driver software and use your Nikon scanner.



Figure 3.12 The REBOOT SYSTEM dialog.

Chapter 3

Congratulations! You have successfully installed the Nikon Control software. If you wish to install the Nikon Scanner plug-in software for use with a third party application, please proceed to the next section.

Installing Third-Party Applications

The Path Selection for Installer Dialog

If you are using one of the listed third-party software applications in the INSTALLER OPTIONS dialog, the Nikon Installer needs to know where you want the Nikon plug-in software to reside. This is accomplished by entering the destination disk and path into the PATH SELECTION FOR INSTALLER dialog, shown in Figure 3.13. The Nikon Installer will do its best to anticipate where you want the files to go, based on your host application selection. This path information will automatically appear in the PATH text box. If this path is correct, click on CONTINUE. If it is incorrect, correct the path entry, then click on CONTINUE.

If necessary, you can revert to the PATH SELECTION FOR INSTALLER dialog by clicking on BACK.

æ	Please en applicatio	ter the directory n from.	to install your
Pa	ath: A:\PSSE	TUP.EXE	
This just s applie	will call the se elected. If you ation, press t	etup program for u have already i the "Skip" butto	the application y nstalled the n.
This s just s applic	will call the se elected. If you cation, press t <u>Continue</u>	etup program for u have already in the "Skip" button <u>S</u> kip	the application y nstalled the n. <u>B</u> ack

Figure 3.13 The PATH SELECTION FOR INSTALLER dialog.

The Installation Method Dialog

At this time, you need to inform the Nikon Installer whether you will be installing new host application software and the plug-in onto the destination disk, or updating an already installed host application and only loading the plug-in onto the destination disk. This is accomplished via the INSTALLATION METHOD dialog, shown in Figure 3.14.

Software Installation – IBM PC or Compatible

If you are installing new host application software, click the NEW INSTALLATION radio button, then click CONTINUE. If you are updating a previously installed host application, click the UPDATING A CURRENT INSTALLATION radio button, then click on CONTINUE.



Figure 3.14 The INSTALLATION METHOD dialog.

If you are installing new host application software, you will be required to supply the path of its installation software. At this time, you should insert your host application distribution disks, if they aren't already loaded, into the appropriate floppy drive and follow the third-party vendor's installation instructions. The path of the host application installation software is entered through the PATH SELECTION FOR INSTALLER dialog, shown in Figure 3.13.

Upon completion of the third-party application software installation, you will be required to enter the destination path for the Nikon Scanner plug-in. This is accomplished by entering the path into the PATH SELECTION FOR FILES dialog, as seen in Figure 3.8, then clicking CONTINUE.

If you are only updating previously installed application software, the same requirement applies, i.e. enter the destination path for the Nikon Scanner plug-in. Again, this is accomplished by entering the path into the PATH SELECTION FOR FILES dialog, as seen in Figure 3.8, then clicking CONTINUE.

Configuring and Testing the GPIB

If you are installing a Nikon LS-3510AF GPIB model, the National Instruments AT-GPIB and MC-GPIB are supported. When installing the software drivers for these boards, be sure to select the installation for Windows. National Instruments can be reached directly at 1-800-IEEE-488 (1-800-433-3488).

Chapter 3

Installing the SCSI Driver Software

The Nikon LS-3510AF SCSI model and all Coolscan models are interfaced to the computer through the SCSI bus. It is necessary to load the *SCSI driver* software into the computer's memory in order to access the scanner. This is typically accomplished by adding a DEVICE statement in the computer's CONFIG.SYS file.

The Nikon Installer can automatically update the current CONFIG.SYS file for you via the SCSI DEVICE DRIVER OPTIONS dialog, seen in Figure 3.9. This is the recommended procedure for novice users.

The dialog contains three options. The first is COPY FILE AND UPDATE CONFIG.SYS. If you select this option and click CONTINUE, the scanner SCSI device driver will be added to your current CONFIG.SYS file, which will then be renamed CONFIG.BAK. The following line will automatically be entered into the CONFIG.SYS file:

DEVICE=C:\PATH\MA13B.SYS

Alternatively, you can modify the CONFIG.SYS file yourself. In this case, select the COPY FILE BUT DON'T UPDATE CONFIG.SYS radio button, then click CONTINUE. If you select this option, you must manually enter the following line into your CONFIG.SYS file:

DEVICE=C:\PATH\MA13B.SYS

The last option in this dialog, DON'T COPY FILE OR UPDATE CONFIG.SYS should only be selected when you do not want to complete this operation.

If you are attempting to use the scanner with a third-party SCSI controller card you should consider the advantages of running your scanner and hard disk from isolated buses. There are a wide variety of SCSI controller cards on the market, but not every card can supply the SCSI functionality required to run your scanner. The required ASPI driver software is often an additional cost. The Trantor T-130 SCSI controller card and ASPI software have been certified by Nikon for use with your scanner. For microchannel use, the Trantor T-260 has been certified by Nikon. Only select COPY FILE AND UPDATE CONFIG.SYS if you are using the Trantor T-130 SCSI controller card.

Software Installation – IBM PC or Compatible

Chapter 3

Page 22
Getting Started on the Macintosh

Launching the Nikon Scanner

To access your Nikon Scanner plug-in you must first launch your imaging application, such as Photoshop, shown in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1 Launching the imaging application.

A menu bar associated with the Photoshop application will appear at the top of the screen. It will look similar to the one shown in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2 The Photoshop Main menu.

Click on the FILE portion of the Main menu. Notice the file pull-down menu looks similar to the following illustration. Without releasing the mouse button, pull down until the ACQUIRE item is highlighted, as shown in Figure 4.3.

Getting Started on the Macintosh

🔹 File Edit Mode Window New ... ЖN Open... ₩0 Open As... ç Place.. 4 3 Saue 3 Repert Ø Acquire Anti-aliased PICT... 1 50 L **Decompress EPS JPEG...** Nikon Scanner 8 **PICT Resource...** 0 TWAIN Acquire... TWAIN Select Source... Preferences . ۰L Quit ₩Q

Figure 4.3 Selecting ACQUIRE from the Photoshop FILE pull-down menu.

Next, drag the mouse to the right, following the arrow to the right of the ACQUIRE item. This will bring up the NIKON SCANNER item, as shown in Figure 4.4. Highlight this box and release the mouse button. This will initialize the plug-in's Main Scan dialog box.



Figure 4.4 Selecting the NIKON SCANNER menu item.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Chapter 4

Plug-in Initialization

The plug-in will first set up the software environment and display the following message.



The plug-in will next search the SCSI for SCSI model scanners, or the GPIB bus for GPIB model scanners to ensure that your scanner is installed and functional. While it is searching, the following message will appear for SCSI model scanners:



Or for GPIB model scanners, the following message will appear:

Opening the GPIB Scanner...

Once the plug-in opens the functional SCSI or GPIB scanner, you will be able to commence scanning.

The Scan Dialogs

The Nikon Scanner plug-in's main scanning dialog box is called the Main Scan dialog. There are three sizes of this scan dialog, designed to best accommodate the wide variety of available monitor sizes. Macintosh PowerBooks are supported with appropriate artwork, depending on the available display. These three different sized dialog boxes offer similar functionality, with the dialog box for large screens offering a substantially larger preview, making such operations as color correction and cropping easier and more precise.

The scan dialog shown in Figure 4.5 is the dialog used for monitors that have resolutions of 832 x 624 pixels or larger, including 16" through 21" screens.

Getting Started on the Macintosh

Chapter 4



Figure 4.5 The Nikon Scanner plug-in's Main Scan dialog for monitors that have resolutions of 832 x 624 pixels or greater (Coolscan connected).

The scan dialog shown in Figure 4.6 is the default dialog size for monitors with resolutions that are *less* than 832 x 624 pixels, that include 9" through 14" screens.

|

Note that using the larger dialog results in longer preview times. This can be changed in the Tools dialog, explained later in this chapter.



Figure 4.6 The Nikon Scanner plug-in's Main Scan dialog for monitors that display less than 832 x 624 pixels (Coolscan connected).

Most scanning operations can be performed from this dialog box, including selecting the film type, previewing the image, fine focusing, cropping the image, and performing basic brightness, contrast and color balance tasks.

If the message box in the upper left-hand corner contains NIKON COOLSCAN VER.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 26

1.0.2 (for Coolscan users), or NIKON LS-3510AF VER. 1.34 (for LS-3510AF users), you are ready to perform a preview scan or a final scan. Please note that engineering changes may mean that your software version, which was the shipping version at the time of this printing, will not be the same. If no scanner type is indicated, the message NO SCANNER CONNECTED will appear. In this case, the scanner may not have been in a ready state (indicated by a steady green LED on the front panel) when you started the Nikon Scanner plug-in software. You can establish a connection to the scanner by clicking on the relevant search icon, SCSI or GPIB, which is located at the top of the Main Scan dialog. You will need to check your installation, particularly the SCSI or GPIB cabling to confirm proper connections and termination if this attempt fails. For scanner installations with other SCSI or GPIB external devices, place the scanner in the SCSI or GPIB chain, remembering to maintain proper termination. If you are unsure of which SCSI or GPIB address to use, consult the Installation Guide included with your scanner.

Inserting the Slide

Take out the included sample 35mm slide. You will be using this slide to perform your first preview scan and final scan.

The two sides of the film in the slide mount are not the same. One side is known as the *emulsion* side, and contains the image dye layers. The other side is known as the *base*, and consists of the celluloid film support. We will explain the significance of the emulsion side of the film, and how to identify it in a later chapter. For the purpose of this introduction we have predetermined the emulsion side for you. The emulsion side does *not* have the "Nikon Electronic Imaging" logo printed on the slide mount.

As you have probably already noticed, the slide mount is square, and can be inserted in the scanner in any orientation. However, the orientation of the slide when it is inserted into the scanner *does* affect the scanning process. This will be addressed in depth in a later chapter.

Coolscan

The slide is inserted into Coolscan in much the same way as a floppy diskette is inserted into a disk drive, as shown in Figure 4.7. For optimum scanning, the emulsion side should face the top of the scanner, as shown in Figure 4.7. Insert the slide into the slot in the front of the scanner, making sure that the "Nikon Electronic Imaging" logo faces down, and that the side of the slide corresponding to the top of the head of the person seen in the picture enters the scanner facing the *left* side of the film slot. Gently push the slide in as far as it will go, *without forcing it.* The carriage mechanism inside the scanner will take care of the rest.





Figure 4.7 Inserting the emulsion side of the film facing the top of Coolscan.

LS-3510AF

You will be using the Standard Slide Holder for this scan. Hold the mount as in the diagram in Figure 4.8. Insert the slide so that the emulsion side of the film faces the back of the scanner, and the picture is rightside-up. Since the LS-3510AF is an autofocus scanner, it will not make much difference which way you place the emulsion (other than image orientation, right-reading or backwards), although sharpest results will be achieved when the emulsion faces the front of the scanner. This is because the imaging lens will not be reading the film through the film base, which may reduce definition, depending on the film type.

Insert the Slide Holder into the scanner so that the slide mount is closest to the lamp. Close the dustproof cover so that the outside light does not affect the scan.

The sample slide is a landscape, or a horizontal image. Therefore we can leave the default scanning orientation in the landscape position.



Figure 4.8 Loading the slide into the LS-3510AF.

Scanning a Preview Image

The purpose of the preview scan is to rapidly display the image from the slide on your computer screen. Once the image is scanned and on the screen, you can then perform more detailed operations which will affect how the image will be captured in the final high resolution scan. A sampling of such operations might include cropping a particular portion of the image, or adjusting the contrast, brightness and color balance. The results of these operations will be displayed on the screen. For now, though, we will scan the sample slide using the plug-in's default settings.



Chapter 4

For Coolscan users: Before proceeding, make sure that the center line of the focus wheel on the front panel of the scanner is in the centered position. If not, set this position by rotating the wheel with your thumb.

So, go ahead and click the PREVIEW button.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 29

Getting Started on the Macintosh

Preview

In order to obtain the best scan, Coolscan and the LS-3510AF first perform an *autoexposure* sequence to determine certain image characteristics. This will be indicated on screen by the dialog shown below, and followed by additional messages as required. The LS-3510AF will also perform an autofocus sequence, accompanied by the message PERFORMING AUTOFOCUS. Coolscan users should then see the green LED on the scanner's front panel blink on and off slowly as the scanner is acquiring the image, while LS-3510AF users should see the green BUSY LED illuminated. We can now see the image as it is displayed, line by line, in the preview window.



Should you discover that you have inserted the slide in the wrong orientation, you can abort the scan by pressing the Command "**¢**" and period "." keys simultaneously. Coolscan users can then eject the slide by clicking on the EJECT button in the bottom-right corner of the Scan dialog box. *Do not* click the EJECT button during a scan. Always abort the scan first.

Eject

The preview scan should take a little less than one minute to complete, with slight variations in speed depending on the model of your Macintosh and the size of your display. Upon completion, the preview image will stay in the Scan dialog box while you prepare for the final scan.

Final Scan

The next step is to perform the final scan at a higher resolution, or image quality. First, we have to crop, or trim the preview image. Notice there is a narrow black border around it. We want to eliminate this from the scanning area so that it does not appear in our final scan.

Setting the Crop

Start by placing the cursor anywhere over the preview, clicking and dragging a *crop rectangle* to enclose the area of interest. Adjust the crop rectangle by placing the cursor on any of the small boxes, or 'hot spots,' on the crop rectangle. The cursor will change to an arrow when it is placed over any of these boxes. Now, move the rectangle inward by clicking and dragging until the border line of the rectangle encloses the area

Â

of interest, as in Figure 4.9a for Coolscan, and Figure 4.9b for LS-3510AF. Repeat this step using the other small boxes, as necessary, until you have cropped the image to its edges, and the unexposed, or black area is completely outside of the rectangle.



Figure 4.9a Selecting a crop area – Coolscan.



Figure 4.9b Selecting a crop area – LS-3510AF.

The dimensions, resolution, and pitch setting in the preview window can be left at the default setting of 9 x 6 inches, 72 pixels/inch, and 6, respectively.

You are now ready to make the final scan. Click on the SCAN button, shown in Figure 4.10, at the lower-right corner of the Main Scan dialog box. The scanner will begin the scanning cycle. Again, the SETTING UP THE SCANNER dialog will appear on your screen. This will be followed immediately by the *scanning progress indicator*, which shows the approximate duration of the scan and the portion remaining to be completed. Coolscan users should also see the green LED on the scanner's front panel blink on and off as the scan proceeds, while LS-3510AF users should see the green BUSY LED illuminated. The final scan should take approximately two minutes to complete, with slight variation in speed depending on the model of your Macintosh and the size of your display.

Chapter 4

Scan

Figure 4.10 Start your final scan by clicking the SCAN button.

Unlike the preview scan, the image will not display on the screen as the scan progresses. Instead, you will see the scanning progress indicator. The final scan will appear upon completion in a new window labeled "UNTITLED-1." You will want to save the file with an appropriate name, so it will be easy to locate later on. You can save the image in the normal manner, using the SAVE As... command located under the FILE pull down menu, as shown in Figure 4.11, or close the window and begin again.

🖯 Niko	n Control 🔻	-
Nikon Co Nikon Sc	ontrol anner 4.0	
Save the fil Untitled-1	e as:	Save Cancel
le Format: •	∕PICT File	
A COLUMN AND A COLUMN A		



You will not be able to see the high-quality color produced by the scanner unless your computer is configured with a 24-bit display card. Using an 8-bit card will display a dithered, or softened image, comprised of many small dots. Select "Thousands" or "Millions" of colors from your Monitors control panel for the best display.

Conclusion

Congratulations! You have completed "Getting Started!" Feel free to continue exploring on your own. However, to take advantage of the full functionality of the scanner we strongly recommend reading the following chapters. In them, you will learn the fundamentals of scanning, managing different film types, adjusting color, contrast, and brightness, and utilizing the software controls.

Â

Getting Started on the IBM PC or Compatible

Launching the Software

Before launching the scanning software make sure that your scanner is powered on. Power on is indicated by a solid green illuminated LED on the scanner's front panel.

If you are using a third-party imaging application you will need to access the Nikon Scanner plug-in from the F_{ILE} menu. If you are using the Nikon Control software, the dialog will appear automatically.

If you are using a third-party imaging application, pull down the FILE menu to access the appropriate menu item used by that application for scanning input. Then, select NIKON SCANNER... from the submenu. Once launched you should see the following messages appear on your screen.



After a moment, the following message will appear:

Setting up the scanner		
700000000000000000000000000000000000000		
Cancel		

The Nikon Scanner plug-in is now attempting to establish connection with the scanner.

The Main Scan dialog will then appear.

Getting Started on the IBM PC or Compatible

Chapter 5



Figure 5.1 The Nikon Scanner plug-in's Main Scan dialog for monitors with resolutions of 640 x 480 pixels (Coolscan connected).

For Nikon scanners with a SCSI interface, the Nikon Scanner plug-in and the Nikon Control software assume that the scanner is configured for SCSI ID #5. This is the factory default condition. If this is not the case, consult the Installation Guide accompanying your scanner for proper configuration instructions.

Most scanning operations can be performed from this dialog box, including selecting the film type, previewing the image, fine focusing, cropping the image, and performing basic brightness, contrast and color balance tasks.

If the message box in the upper left-hand corner contains NIKON COOLSCAN VER. 1.0.2 (for Coolscan users), or NIKON LS-3510AF VER. 1.30 (for LS-3510AF users), you are ready to perform a preview scan or a final scan. Please note that engineering changes may mean that your ROM version, which was the shipping version at the time of this printing, will not be the same. If no scanner type is indicated, the message NO SCANNER CONNECTED will appear. In this case, the scanner may not have been in a ready state (indicated by a steady green LED on the front panel) when you started the Nikon Scanner plug-in software. You can establish a connection to the scanner by clicking on the relevant search icon, SCSI or GPIB, which is located at the top of the Main Scan dialog. You will need to check your installation, particularly the SCSI or GPIB cabling to confirm proper connections and termination if this attempt fails. For scanner installations with other SCSI or GPIB external devices, place the scanner in the SCSI or GPIB chain, remembering to maintain proper termination. If you are unsure of which SCSI or GPIB address to use, consult the Installation Guide included with your scanner.

Chapter 5

Inserting the Slide

Take out the included sample 35mm slide. You will be using this slide to perform your first preview scan and final scan.

The two sides of the film in the slide mount are not the same. One side is known as the *emulsion* side, and contains the image dye layers. The other side is known as the *base*, and consists of the celluloid film support. We will explain the significance of the emulsion side of the film, and how to identify it in a later chapter. For the purpose of this introduction we have predetermined the emulsion side for you. The emulsion side does *not* have the "Nikon Electronic Imaging" logo printed on the slide mount.

As you have probably already noticed, the slide mount is square, and can be inserted in the scanner in any orientation. However, the orientation of the slide when it is inserted into the scanner *does* affect the scanning process. This will be addressed in depth in a later chapter.

Coolscan

The slide is inserted into Coolscan in much the same way as a floppy diskette is inserted into a disk drive, as shown in Figure 5.2. For optimum scanning, the emulsion side should face the top of the scanner, as shown in Figure 5.2. Insert the slide into the slot in the front of the scanner, making sure that the "Nikon Electronic Imaging" logo faces down, and that the side of the slide corresponding to the top of the head of the person seen in the picture enters the scanner facing the *left* side of the film slot. Gently push the slide in as far as it will go, *without forcing it.* The carriage mechanism inside the scanner will take care of the rest.



Figure 5.2 Inserting the emulsion side of the film facing the top of Coolscan.

LS-3510AF

You will be using the Standard Slide Holder for this scan. Hold the mount as in the diagram in Figure 5.3 below. Insert the slide so that the emulsion side of the film faces the back of the scanner, and the picture is rightside-up. Since the LS-3510AF is an autofocus scanner, it will not make much difference which way you place the emulsion (other than image orientation, right-reading or backwards), although sharpest results will be achieved when the emulsion faces the back of the scanner. This is because the imaging lens will not be reading the film through the film base, which may reduce definition, depending on the film type.

Insert the Slide Holder into the scanner so that the slide mount is closest to the lamp. Close the dustproof cover so that the outside light does not affect the scan.

The sample slide is a landscape , or a horizontal image. Therefore we can leave the default scanning orientation in the landscape position.



Figure 5.3 Loading the slide into the LS-3510AF.

Chapter 5

Scanning a Preview Image

The purpose of the preview scan is to rapidly display the image on the slide on your computer screen. Once the image is scanned and on the screen, you can then perform more detailed operations which will affect how the image will be captured in the final high resolution scan. A sampling of such operations might include cropping a particular portion of the image, or adjusting the contrast, brightness and color balance. The results of these operations will be displayed on the screen. For now, though, we will scan the sample slide using the scanner's default settings.

\triangle

For Coolscan users: Before proceeding, make sure that the center line of the focus wheel on the front panel of the scanner is in the centered position. If not, set this position by rotating the wheel with your thumb.

So, go ahead and click the PREVIEW button.

Pre<u>v</u>iew

In order to obtain the best scan, Coolscan and the LS-3510AF first perform an *autoexposure* sequence to determine certain image characteristics. This will be indicated on screen by the dialog shown below, and followed by additional messages as required. The LS-3510AF will also perform an autofocus sequence, accompanied by the message PERFORMING AUTOFOCUS. Coolscan users should then see the green LED on the scanner's front panel blink on and off slowly as the scanner is acquiring the image, while LS-3510AF users should see the green BUSY LED illuminated.

Performing an Autoexposure	
Cancel	

Should you discover that you have inserted the slide in the wrong orientation, you can abort the scan by pressing the Escape key. Coolscan users can then eject the slide by clicking on the EJECT SLIDE button in the bottom-right corner of the Scan dialog box. *Do not* click the EJECT SLIDE button during a scan. Always abort the scan first.

Getting Started on the IBM PC or Compatible

Eject Slide

The preview scan should take a little less than one minute to complete, with slight variations in speed depending on the model of your Macintosh and the size of your display. Upon completion, the preview image will stay in the Scan dialog box while you prepare for the final scan.

Final Scan

The next step is to perform the final scan at a higher resolution, or image quality. First, we have to crop, or trim the preview image. Notice there is a narrow black border around it. We want to eliminate this from the scanning area so that it does not appear in our final scan.

Setting the Crop

Start by placing the cursor anywhere over the preview, clicking and dragging a *crop rectangle* to enclose the area of interest. Adjust the crop rectangle by placing the cursor on any of the small boxes, or 'hot spots,' on the crop rectangle. The cursor will change to an arrow when it is placed over any of these boxes. Now, move the rectangle inward by clicking and dragging until the border line of the rectangle encloses the area of interest, as in Figure 5.4a for Coolscan and Figure 5.4b for LS-3510AF. Repeat this step using the other small boxes, as necessary, until you have cropped the image to its edges, and the unexposed, or black area is completely outside of the rectangle. Note that the crop rectangle does not appear if the full image area is selected.



Landscape Mode







The dimensions, resolution, and pitch setting in the preview window can be left at the default setting of 9 x 6 inches, 72 pixels/inch, and 6, respectively.

You are now ready to make the final scan. Click on the SCAN button, as shown in Figure 5.5, at the lower-right corner of the Main Scan dialog box. The scanner will begin the scanning cycle. Again, the SETTING UP THE SCANNER dialog will appear on your screen. This will be followed immediately by the *scanning progress indicator*, which shows the approximate duration of the scan and the portion remaining to be completed. The scanning progress indicator will appear at the bottom of the window in PhotoStyler and Photoshop/PC. Coolscan users should also see the green LED on the scanner's front panel blink on and off as the scan proceeds, while LS-3510AF users should see the green BUSY LED illuminated. The final scan should take approximately two minutes to complete, with slight variation in speed depending on the model of your PC and the size of your display.

Scan

Figure 5.5 Start your final scan by clicking the SCAN button.

Unlike the preview scan, the image will not display on the screen as the scan progresses. Instead, you will see the scanning progress indicator. The final scan will appear upon completion in a new window labeled "UNTITLED-1." You will want to save the file with an appropriate name, so it will be easy to locate later on. You can save the image in the normal manner, using the SAVE AS... command located under the FILE pull down menu or close the window and begin again.

Getting Started on the IBM PC or Compatible

Chapter 5

File <u>N</u> ame: *.bmp	<u>D</u> irectories: c:\apps\assorted	ОК
	 C:\ D: apps D: assorted 	* Cancel
Save File as <u>Type:</u> Windows Bitmap Files	Dri <u>v</u> es:	₹ ŧ

Figure 5.6 The SAVE As... dialog.

You will not be able to see the high-quality color produced by the scanner unless your computer is configured with a 16-bit or 24-bit display card. Using an 8-bit VGA card will display a dithered, or softened image, comprised of many small dots.

Conclusion

 \land

Congratulations! You have completed "Getting Started!" Feel free to continue by exploring on your own. However, to take advantage of the full functionality of the scanner we strongly recommend reading the following chapters. In them, you will learn the fundamentals of scanning, managing different film formats, adjusting color, contrast, and brightness, and utilizing the software controls.

Producing a Scan

This chapter will take you through the ten basic steps in performing a scan using either the Nikon Control or third-party application with the Nikon Scanner plug-in software. It will introduce you to scanning and the scanner controls in more detail than in the "Getting Started" chapters. This chapter assumes that the Nikon Control standalone application and/or Nikon Scanner plug-in have been properly installed, and the Main Scan dialog is open.

The ten steps to a quick scan are as follows:

Step 1.	Insert the slide into the scanner
Step 2.	Launch the application program
Step 3.	Select the film type and orientation
Step 4.	Perform a preview scan
Step 5.	Select the size (dimensions) of the scan
Step 6.	Select the final resolution of the scan
Step 7.	Select the area to scan
Step 8.	Perform a final scan
Step 9.	Name the file
Step 10.	Eject/Remove the slide

These ten steps are described here in greater detail.

Step 1. Insert the slide into the scanner

The first step required is, of course, to insert the slide into the scanner. Selecting and orienting the scanned image is described in detail in Chapter Twelve of this manual.

Step 2. Launch the application program

Macintosh: Launch the Nikon Control software by double-clicking on its icon. The Nikon Scanner plug-in will then be loaded and the Main Scan dialog displayed.

If you are using the Nikon Scanner plug-in with a third-party application that supports Photoshop plug-ins, select the Nikon SCANNER item from the ACQUIRE submenu in the FILE pull-down menu, as illustrated in Figure 4.4 in Chapter Four. *Windows:* Launch the Nikon Control software by double-clicking on its icon. The Nikon Scanner plug-in will then be loaded and the Main Scan dialog displayed.

If you are using the Nikon Scanner plug-in with a third-party application that is supported by the Nikon Installer, select the Nikon Scanner item from the appropriate menu in the application.

Commands from the user interface can be invoked via a keyboard shortcut, by holding down the Alt key and striking the letter which is underlined on the command button. For example, the PREVIEW command can be invoked by holding down the Alt key and striking the "V" key, the letter underlined on the PREVIEW button. This keyboard shortcut is *not* available for every command.

Step 3. Select the film type and orientation

Step 3 requires that you make sure that the film type is correctly indicated. There are four possible film types:

- 1. Positive color (slide)
- 2. Negative color (print film)
- 3. Positive black and white
- 4. Negative black and white

The scanner will perform image processing based on the film type selected, so it is critical to indicate the correct film type. The film type should be selected *before* a preview or final scan is executed.

The film type is selected through the FILM TYPE selection box in the Scan dialog box, as shown in Figure 6.1a for Macintosh, and Figure 6.1b for Windows. This is accomplished by holding down the mouse button within the selection box and dragging until the desired film type is highlighted in black. The mouse button is then released and the selected film type becomes active.







Figure 6.1b Film type selection in the lower left corner of the Scan dialog box – Windows. (a) The FILM TYPE selection box showing the currently selected film type. (b) Changing the film type.

The film inserted into the scanner is oriented as either portrait or landscape. In order for the software to correctly display the preview image, it must first know the orientation of the image. The final scan will be properly oriented based on this selection.

The image orientation button is located adjacent to the preview image window. The symbol on the face of this button changes to reflect which orientation the film is assumed to be in in the LS-3510AF. In the LS-3500 and Coolscan the *film* is always oriented the same way. The buttons are used to re-orient the resulting image. In the portrait orientation the button looks like this:



Figure 6.2 Image orientation button in portrait mode.

Clicking the mouse on this button will cause the image orientation to toggle between portrait and landscape mode. In the landscape orientation, the button looks like this:



Figure 6.3 Image orientation button in landscape mode.

Step 4. Perform a preview scan

The preview scan is a low resolution scan of the entire frame of film. Think of the preview scan as a 'snap shot' of the image. Once the image is on the screen, you can set the parameters for the final scan, such as resolution, size, cropping the area of interest, and adjustment of the contrast, brightness and color balance. As you change these parameters you will see the results displayed on the screen, thus enabling you to preview the effect they would have on the final scan.

Perform a preview scan by clicking on the PREVIEW button.

Preview





Once the PREVIEW button is clicked, the scanner will set its exposure, then make a preview scan. The image will display on a line-by-line basis as the preview progresses.

The preview image will remain in the Scan dialog box as you prepare for the final scan. If you cancel the dialog box without making a final scan, and return to it later, the last preview scan taken will be displayed.

Step 5. Select the size of the scan

The next step is to select the area of the preview scan for final scanning. In some cases, the entire preview, or film area may be chosen. Other times, only a portion of the preview may be desired as the image for the final scan.

Page 44

As an example, let's select a portion of the image that would be used to create a 4" x 6" final scan size.

To accomplish this, you will have to set the width and height fields of the sizing portion of the Scan dialog box, then position the resulting crop rectangle. First, set the width to 4 inches by entering "4" into the WIDTH value edit box. Note that the units, in this case inches, for width and height are set by default.

Vidth: 4	Inches 🔻	
----------	----------	--

Figure 6.5a The WIDTH value edit box – Macintosh.

Width: 4	Inches	ŧ
----------	--------	---

Figure 6.5b The WIDTH value edit box – Windows.

Similarly, set the height to 6 inches by entering "6" into the Height value edit box.

Figure 6.6a The HEIGHT value edit box – Macintosh.

Height: 6	Inches	ŧ
-----------	--------	---

Figure 6.6b The HEIGHT value edit box – Windows.

Note that the size of the crop rectangle seen in the preview image area has changed to reflect the new dimensions. Do not be concerned about the selected boundaries yet. You will adjust the crop rectangle in Step 7.

Step 6. Select the final resolution of the scan

The final resolution determines the amount of detail captured in the scan. The final resolution setting is especially important because it will affect how your scans will look when reproduced for print applications. Therefore, the final *output* resolution (the resolution at which your scan will be reproduced) will require a certain *input* scan resolution. This will affect the size of the resulting file. The higher the resolution, the greater the file size. For example, a 4" x 5" scan at an output scan resolution of 72

dots/inch would create a 364.5 kilobyte file. A 4" x 5" scan at an output resolution of 288 dots/inch would create a 5.7 megabyte file.

As a starting point for high-quality print reproduction, set the output scan resolution, or *final res*, to be about *twice* the printing line screen resolution. For example, if you know you will be printing an image at 150 lines per inch, your input scan resolution would be approximately 300 pixels or dots per inch.

In this case, let's set the final resolution to 72 pixels/inch. Note that the crop rectangle does not change.

Pixels/Inch 🔻

Figure 6.7a Setting the FINAL RESOLUTION - Macintosh.

Final <u>R</u> es:	72	dpi	±
--------------------	----	-----	---

Figure 6.7b Setting the FINAL RESOLUTION – Windows.

As mentioned, changing the final resolution automatically changes the *pitch* of the scanner stage mechanism (scanner resolution). The pitch is automatically set by changing the output resolution. Therefore, all you really need to know is what *output* resolution, or FINAL RES, you want. See page 96 for an explanation of scanner *pitch*.

The new values for these fields follow. We won't modify the pitch at this time.

Pitch: 2

Pitch:	2
--------	---

Figure 6.8 The scan PITCH (input scan resolution) – Macintosh and Windows.

Lock the file size

Since you have entered the width, height and output resolution, let's make sure that these parameters cannot be changed when you reposition the crop rectangle in Step Seven.

There are two ways to lock the scan dimensions. For now, lock the file size by clicking in the LOCK FILE SIZE box.

Lock: 🛛 Aspect 🖾 File Size

Figure 6.9a Locking the FILE SIZE – Macintosh.

Page 46

Lock: X Aspect X File Size:

Figure 6.9b Locking the FILE SIZE – Windows.

Locking the file size results in a lock icon appearing in the sizing area. The sizing cannot be changed unless the file size is unlocked.

Width:	4	Inches 🔻 🧧
Height:	6	Inches 🔻 🗕 🖨
Final Res:	72	Pixels/Inch 🔻 🗖
Pitch:	2	Scan Res: 1351DPI
Lock: 🛛	Aspec	t 🛛 File Size: 373 KB

Figure 6.10a Results of locking the file size – Macintosh.

Width: 4	Inches	1 -
Height: 6	Inches	₹-8
Final <u>R</u> es: 72	dpi	Ī
Pitch: 2	Scan Re	es: 1351 DPI
Lock: X Aspe	ect 🔀 <u>F</u> ile S	ize: 373 KB

Figure 6.10b Results of locking the file size - Windows.

Step 7. Select the area to scan

Now that you have defined the final size of the image contained by the crop rectangle, it is necessary to position the crop rectangle such that only the desired portion of the film is scanned. This is accomplished graphically, using the mouse.

Position the cursor inside the crop rectangle such that the four-way arrow is visible. Now hold down the mouse button and move the cursor. Note that the entire crop rectangle moves with the cursor. Position the crop rectangle over the area of the film you wish to scan and release the mouse button.

Adjust the size of the crop by clicking on the corner or side 'handles' of the rectangle, and dragging to a new size. The output dimensions and resolution will *not* change. See page 99 for a detailed explanation of the crop rectangle tool.



Figure 6.11 Positioning the crop rectangle.

Note that the pixel coordinates at the four corners of the preview window have changed in accordance with the new crop rectangle location.

Step 8. Perform a final scan

Now that you have set the scanning parameters, simply click on the $\ensuremath{\mathsf{SCAN}}$ button to execute the final scan.





The Nikon Scanner control will keep you informed of the progress of the scan operation by displaying status messages during the scan.

Step 9. Name the file

Now that the final scan is done, it is necessary to name the scan file in order for it to be saved. To do so, select the SAVE AS... command from the FILE pull-down menu.

Select the location and file type, enter a file name for the resulting file, then click on $\mathsf{SAVE}.$

Chapter 6

🕤 Nikon Control 🔻]
Aikon Control D Nikon Scanner 4.0	C Applications Eject Desktop
Save the file as: Untitled-1	Save Cancel
File Format: <mark>✓PICT File</mark> TIFF 5.0	

Figure 6.13a Saving an image using the SAVE AS... dialog – Macintosh.

File <u>N</u> ame: •.bmp	Directories: c:\apps\assorted C:\ C:\ C:\ C: apps C:\ C: apps C:\ C: assorted	OK Cancel
Save File as <u>Type:</u>	Dri <u>v</u> es:	

Figure 6.13b Saving an image using the SAVE AS... dialog – Windows.

Step 10. Eject/Remove the slide

Macintosh: For Coolscan scanners, the slide can be ejected by either clicking on the EJECT button, or by selecting the EJECT menu item in the FILE pull-down menu. After a few moments, the slide can be easily removed from Coolscan's film slot. You may also run the Eject Coolscan Film application. If you are using System 7, place the Eject Coolscan Film application in the Apple Menu Items folder, located within your System Folder.

	Eject
--	-------

Figure 6.14a The EJECT button – Macintosh.

For LS-3510AF scanners, simply open the dustcover and remove the slide holder from the scanner.

Windows: The slide can be ejected by clicking on the EJECT SLIDE button. After a few moments, the slide can be easily removed from Coolscan's film slot. You may also run the Eject Coolscan Film application to accomplish this.

Eject Slide

Figure 6.14b The EJECT SLIDE button – Windows.

For LS-3510AF scanners, simply open the dustcover and remove the slide holder from the scanner.

Introduction to the Nikon Scanner Plug-in

Introduction

The Nikon Scanner plug-in software provides the novice or expert user with a simple to use, fast and effective scanning tool for use with Nikon scanners. The Nikon Scanner plug-in is the core software module of the scanning system, providing a standardized user-interface to control Nikon scanners from within various imaging applications.

As you have seen in the previous chapters of this manual, use of the Nikon Scanner plug-in requires that a compatible imaging application program be installed on your system.

For *Macintosh* computers, the plug-in can be used with any application that can access a Photoshop plug-in. Nikon cannot guarantee proper operation with applications not providing *full* support for Adobe Photoshop plug-ins. Please contact your application vendor to determine the level of Photoshop plug-in compatibility. If, however, you wish to use an application that does not provide full support for Adobe Photoshop plug-ins, select the Version 1 plug-in from the Tools dialog box, shown starting on pg. 67 of this reference. Note that the disk space feature will not provide accurate readings when using the Version 1 plug-in.

You have seen a simple imaging software application is provided for use with Nikon scanners called Nikon Control. This application was developed specifically to use the Nikon Scanner plug-in.

For *IBM PC or compatible* computers running Windows, the plug-in can be used with Photoshop/PC, Picture Publisher, Nikon Image*Access*, or PhotoStyler. You have seen a simple imaging software application is provided with Nikon scanners called Nikon Control. This application was developed specifically to use the Nikon Scanner plug-in.

This chapter provides a thorough description of the Nikon Scanner plug-in, including how to access the plug-in from your application, and a description of how to interact with the various types of dialogs and controls. Some of the material covered here has been introduced in previous chapters, so you will already be familiar with certain parts.

Launching the Nikon Scanner

Macintosh: For Macintosh users, to access your Nikon Scanner plug-in you must first launch your imaging application, such as Photoshop, shown in Figure 7.1.



Figure 7.1 Launching the imaging application – Macintosh.

A menu bar associated with the Photoshop application will appear at the top of the screen. It will look similar to the one shown in Figure 7.2.





Click on the FILE portion of the Main menu. Notice the file pull-down menu looks similar to the following illustration. Without releasing the mouse button, pull down until the ACQUIRE item is highlighted, as shown in Figure 7.3, and drag the cursor to the right, following the arrow to the right of the ACQUIRE item, and highlighting NIKON SCANNER. Release the mouse button. This will initialize the plug-in's Main Scan dialog box.



Figure 7.3 Selecting NIKON SCANNER from the Photoshop FILE pull-down menu – Macintosh.

Windows: To access the Nikon Scanner plug-in you must first launch your imaging application, such as Photoshop, shown in Figure 7.4.



Figure 7.4 Launching the imaging application – Windows.

Click on the FILE portion of the Main menu. Notice the file pull-down menu looks similar to the following illustration. Without releasing the mouse button, pull down until the ACQUIRE item is highlighted, as shown in Figure 7.5, and drag the cursor to the right, following the arrow to the right of the ACQUIRE item, and highlighting NIKON SCANNER. Release the mouse button. This will initialize the plug-in's Main Scan dialog box.

Edit Mode In	106.1	Filter	Select	Window	Hel
New 0 Open 0 Open As	Cteff+N Cteff+O				
Acquire Expant		EPS Nilo Sele TW2	JPEG A	quire st V Source	
Preferences	,				
1 C110TP160.6IF 2 C11SUTT04.6IF 3 C11SUTT04.6IF 4 C11NUN02.GIF					

Figure 7.5 Selecting NIKON SCANNER from the Photoshop FILE pull-down menu – Windows.

Plug-in Initialization

Macintosh: The plug-in will first set up the software environment and display the following message.

Introduction to the Nikon Scanner Plug-in

Chapter 7

📱 🛛 Preparing the Nikon Scanner Plugin

The plug-in will next search the SCSI or GPIB bus, depending on the type of scanner, to ensure that your scanner is installed and functional. For SCSI-type scanners, while it is searching, the following message will appear:



Or for GPIB model scanners, the following message will appear:

S	Opening the GPIB Scanner
---	--------------------------

Once the plug-in opens the functional SCSI or GPIB scanner, you will be able to commence scanning. In the unlikely event that an error message appears, consult the "Troubleshooting – Macintosh" chapter in this manual.

Windows: The plug-in will first set up the software environment and display the following message:

Initializing the Dialog
Cancel

The plug-in will next search the SCSI or GPIB bus, depending on the type of scanner, to ensure that your scanner is installed and functional.

Once the plug-in opens the functional SCSI or GPIB scanner, you will be able to commence scanning. In the unlikely event that an error message appears, consult the "Troubleshooting – Windows" chapter in this manual.

The Scan Dialogs

Macintosh: The Nikon Scanner plug-in's main scanning dialog box is called the Main Scan dialog. There are three sizes of this scan dialog, designed to best accommodate the wide variety of available monitor sizes. Macintosh PowerBooks are supported with appropriate artwork, depending on the available display. These three different sized dialog boxes offer similar functionality, with the dialog box for large screens offering a substantially larger preview, making such operations as color correction and cropping easier and more precise.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 54



The scan dialog shown in Figure 7.6 is the dialog used for monitors that have resolutions of 832 x 624 pixels or larger, including 16" through 21" screens.

Figure 7.6 The Nikon Scanner plug-in's Main Scan dialog for monitors that display more than 832 x 624 pixels – Macintosh (Coolscan connected).

The scan dialog shown in Figure 7.7 is the default dialog size for monitors with resolutions that are *less* than 832 x 624 pixels, that include 9" through 14" screens.



Note that using the larger dialog results in longer preview times. The dialog size can be changed in the Tools dialog, explained later in this chapter.



Figure 7.7 The Nikon Scanner plug-in's Scan dialog for monitors that display less than 832 x 624 pixels – Macintosh (Coolscan connected).

Introduction to the Nikon Scanner Plug-in

Most scanning operations can be performed from this dialog box, including selecting the film type, previewing the image, fine focusing, cropping the image, and performing basic brightness, contrast and color balance tasks.

Windows: The Nikon Scanner plug-in's main scanning dialog box is called the Main Scan dialog. There are two versions of this Scan dialog, designed to best accommodate the wide variety of available monitor sizes. These two different sized dialog boxes offer similar functionality, with the dialog box for large screens offering a substantially larger preview, making such operations as color correction and cropping easier and more precise. There are only some minor differences involving the position of the controls within the Scan dialog.

The scan dialog shown in Figure 7.8 is the dialog used for monitors that have resolutions of 800 x 600 pixels or larger with small fonts, and 1024 x 768 pixels or larger with large fonts.



Figure 7.8 The Nikon Scanner plug-in's Main Scan dialog for monitors that have resolutions of 800 x 600 pixels or greater using small fonts, or 1024 x 768 pixels or greater using large fonts – Windows (Coolscan connected).

The Scan dialog shown in Figure 7.9 is the default dialog size for monitors that have resolutions of 640 x 480 pixels with small fonts, and 800 x 600 pixels with large fonts.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 56

Chapter 7

Â

Using the larger dialog results in longer preview times. Appropriate font and monitor settings for your particular monitor are available in the Windows Setup Application.



Figure 7.9 The Nikon Scanner plug-in's Main Scan dialog for monitors that have resolutions of 640 x 480 pixels, using small fonts, or 800 x 600 pixels using large fonts – Windows (Coolscan connected).

Most scanning operations can be performed from this dialog box, including selecting the film type, previewing the image, fine focusing, cropping the image, and performing basic brightness, contrast and color balance tasks.

Using the Nikon Scanner Plug-in

You should already be familiar with most of the controls in the Nikon Scanner plug-in from the previous chapters of this manual.

Following is a brief summary of the dialogs and controls used in the plug-in, with a description of how to interact with them.

Message Boxes

A *message box* contains program information. This includes the application name and version number, the amount of available disk space, and help messages. You cannot modify the text of these messages.

Chapter 7

Introduction to the Nikon Scanner Plug-in



Figure 7.10a The message box (Macintosh) showing software version number, ROM version, SCSI ID number, and available disk space. The far-right button is used for GPIB interfaced scanners, such as the Nikon LS-3510AF and LS-3500.

Nikon Scanner Control Vers	sion 4.0	
Nikon COOLSCAN Ver.1.02 SCSI #5	0	SCSI GPIB
Disk Free:5.06 MB	Slower	scanning.

Figure 7.10b The message box (Windows) showing software version number, ROM version, SCSI ID number, and available disk space. The GPIB button is used for GPIB interfaced scanners, such as the Nikon LS-3510AF and LS-3500.

Buttons

Buttons, such as the ones below are activated by clicking them once with the mouse. These three-dimensional buttons are in their active state when they are displayed with contrast, as seen in Figure 7.11.



Figure 7.11 Button in active state.

In their inactive state these buttons appear dimmed, as seen in Figure 7.12.



Figure 7.12 Button in inactive state.

Value Edit Boxes

There are various small boxes within the scanning dialog box called *value edit boxes.* The boxes adjacent to the HEIGHT and WIDTH parameters are two examples of value edit boxes. The contents of these value edit boxes can be changed by using a number of editing methods.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 58
The first method is to double-click the mouse inside the text box. The text box changes to the current highlight color (depending upon how your system is set up), and all text inside the box becomes selected. Typing text or a number will replace whatever text or number that was in the box.

The second and third methods are similar. Clicking once inside the box will cause a cursor to be present at whatever point you clicked. Text or numbers then keyed in will be inserted *after* the cursor. The third method is to click once inside the box, again causing a cursor to be present at whatever point you clicked, then holding the mouse button down and dragging in the direction of the portion of text or number you wish to edit. The portion you dragged over will change to your current highlight color (depending upon how your system is set up), at which point you can key in any text or number to replace it. These methods provide selective editing capability, as you can place the cursor at any point within a text or number string. The fourth method is to Tab from one box to the next. Shift – Tab will move in reverse order. The Tab key will highlight the entire value edit box. Values are not set until you leave the value edit box, using the Tab key or the mouse cursor.



Figure 7.13 Value edit box - Macintosh and Windows.

Pop-up Menus - Macintosh Combo Boxes – Windows

Pop-up menus, as seen in Figure 7.14a, look like value edit boxes with the exception that they include a downward pointing arrow and a shadow line. The Windows equivalent, called *combo boxes*, is seen in Figure 7.14b. When the mouse is clicked with the cursor positioned inside the pop-up menu or combo box, a list of items will appear beneath the top-most item. These are the additional options you have to choose from for this parameter. Only one item can be selected at a time for each of the pop-up menus or combo boxes used in the Nikon Scanner plug-in. The currently selected option will be the one displayed in the selection box.

B&W Positive	\bullet
--------------	-----------

Figure 7.14a Pop-up menu selection box – Macintosh.

Color Positive	ŧ
----------------	---

Figure 7.14b Combo box - Windows.

Chapter 7

In order to change the selected item, hold the mouse button down and move up and down the pop-up menu or combo box. This will display all the menu options, the currently selected option being designated by a check mark next to it. Place the reverse text box (white text in a black box) over the option you wish to select, as shown in Figure 7.15a and Figure 7.15b. Release the button and the selection box will display the new choice.

1000000000000000000000000000000000000	
Color Negative	
B & W Positive	
B & W Negative	

Figure 7.15a Pop-up menu options – Macintosh.



Figure 7.15b Combo box options - Windows.

Graphics Windows

A *graphics window* is an area of the Scan dialog box that displays all or part of an active image. The preview image area in the Scan dialog box and the Gamma Curve Editor are graphics windows. Special rules apply to the use of these windows and each is described in detail in the relevant chapters.



Figure 7.16 Graphics Window showing the crop rectangle.

Using the Mouse to Control the Scan Dialog

The mouse cursor changes shape depending on where the cursor is positioned within the Scan dialog box.

When the cursor is located over the text portion of the scan dialog box the cursor assumes the shape of an arrow, as seen in Figure 7.17. The cursor will be in the shape of an arrow when buttons are clicked, selections are made in a selection box, or when text or numbers are entered into value edit boxes.



Figure 7.17 Arrow cursor.

When the mouse cursor is located over the image area in the Scan dialog box, but not within the crop rectangle, it assumes the shape of a crosshair, as shown in Figure 7.18. The color of the crosshair changes to provide contrast with the image. For example, if the cursor is located over a black or dark area the cursor will change to a light color, and vice versa in white or light areas. The appearance of the crosshair cursor indicates that a new crop rectangle will be drawn if the mouse is clicked and dragged.





Figure 7.18 Crosshair cursor.

Figure 7.19 Four-way arrow cursor.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 61

When the mouse cursor is located over the image area of the Scan dialog box *and* within the crop rectangle, the cursor takes the shape of a four-way arrow, as seen in Figure 7.19.

The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog Box

More sophisticated color control operations can be implemented through use of the Gamma Curve Editor dialog box. Like the Scan dialog, the controls in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog are positioned differently, depending on the size of your display. The Gamma Curve Editor dialogs shown in Figure 7.20a and Figure 7.20b are the large dialogs for Macintosh and Windows, respectively.



Figure 7.20a The large Gamma Curve Editor dialog box - Macintosh.



Figure 7.20b The large Gamma Curve Editor dialog box - Windows.



Chapter 7

Using the larger dialog results in longer preview times. This can be changed in the Tools dialog, explained later in this chapter.

The Gamma Curve Editor dialogs, shown in Figure 7.21a and Figure 7.21b, are the small dialogs for Macintosh and Windows, respectively. Refer to Table 11.1 in Chapter Eleven for specific information on monitor size, resolution, and preview size.



Figure 7.21a The small Gamma Curve Editor dialog box – Macintosh.

Chapter 7



Figure 7.21b The small Gamma Curve Editor dialog box - Windows.

This Gamma Curve Editor dialog box is invoked from the Scan dialog box by clicking on the Curve button, shown in Figure 7.22.

	1
6	

Figure 7.22 The Gamma Curve Editor button.

The Tools Dialog Box

The Tools dialog box, shown in Figures 7.23a and 7.23b for Coolscan – Macintosh and Windows, and in Figures 7.24a and 7.24b for LS-3510AF – Macintosh and Windows, enables you to perform basic diagnostic functions on your scanner. Do not be put off by the complexity of this dialog. There are three items that you will need to be concerned with. These are the USE LARGE SCREEN check box, the SCANNING FOCUS check box, the CALIBRATE LAMP button (LS-3510AF only) and the SCSI and GPIB selection buttons. The rest of the Tools dialog box can be ignored for now, since its primary function is service related. INTERACTIVE HELP will provide an explanation of all the controls, but be aware that large amounts of data are generated by certain service functions, so it is best to ignore them unless directed to perform an operation by a Nikon service technician.

Niko	SCSI 10	IBLSCON Der.1.0.	2	Nikan Sceneer Centr	d Dersien 4.0 - Service Due Dolg-
1/1 Her		BREIS I	Tesalla -	Present: 0 Cheer Bisplay Other Longe Screen Iscanning Focus Flags: Upristan Fifter you sharpp this, cancel the plagin, and restart the application, L8 @ Photoschop L8 @ Photoschop 2.0	Recent File
	inter	n tire Holp			Base

Figure 7.23a The Tools dialog box for Coolscan – Macintosh.

-	Send Ok	finad
•	Ük	
		Cancel
1	Dear	Scenner
	Proview Tin	eost:
1	5	
•	Scan Timeo 15	ut:
	-	
	•	Preview Tim 5 Scan Timeo • 15

Figure 7.23b The Tools dialog box for Coolscan – Windows.

Chapter 7

Nil	kon	Nikon US-35108F Dvr.1 SCSI 10 #5 Calibrate L	.34 mp	Site Game	il Bersion 4.1 - Service Bae Dolg
I/D	Hos	#5011	Resetts	Result: 0 Clear Bioplay Dear Bioplay Bighest Booling Plagin Bersten Bifer gas change this, cancel the plagia, and restart the application. Photoshop 1.0 # Photoshop 1.0	Recet Recet
		Interactive Relp	-	-	Base

Figure 7.24a The Tools dialog box for LS-3510AF (SCSI) – Macintosh.

Nikon Scanner Utilitie	s
Co <u>m</u> mand:	
	<u>S</u> end <u>R</u> ead
<u>+</u>	Ok Cancel
	<u>C</u> lear Scanner
	Preview Timeout: 5
•	Scan Timeout: 15
Result:	
Warning: The lamp in the LS-3500 or LS-3510AF should ONLY be calibrated when a new bulb is inserted. Always make sure that there is no slide or holder in the scanner before calibrating.	Calibrate Lamp

Figure 7.24b The Tools dialog box for LS-3510AF – Windows.

The Tools dialog box is invoked by clicking on the Tools button in the Scan dialog, shown in Figure 7.25.





Figure 7.25 The Tools button.

Selecting the Scan Dialog Size

Macintosh: The Nikon Scanner plug-in automatically adjusts the size of the dialog box based on the screen size. At times, you might desire to change the screen size. You can force a large screen size by checking the USE LARGE SCREEN check box, as seen in Figure 7.26. Similarly, you can invoke the small screen size by removing the check mark from this box. If you change the state of the check box, you must exit the Tools dialog, exit the plug-in, then relaunch the plug-in in order for the new screen size to take effect. It is not necessary to restart the application software.



Faster previews can be obtained by unchecking the USE LARGE SCREEN **check box** and using the smaller screen size.

Ni	kon sta	100LSCRN 0+r.1.42 18 *5	Nikon Scanner Cantr	service due Only
1/0	BPN .	RSC11 Renult	Ensult: 0 Clear Display Disp Large Screen Scanning Focus	Bead Bead Atort The Script File Beary tunp Beary tunp Common Leg Record File No Bright
-	16	teractive Help		Dane

🗌 Use Large Screen

Figure 7.26 USE LARGE SCREEN check box shown in the Tools dialog box and close-up – Macintosh.

Windows: The Nikon Scanner plug-in allows you to select the small dialog size on a large monitor by holding down the Control key while the plug-in is loading, or by selecting NEW SCAN from the FILE menu.

|

Chapter 7

Faster previews can be obtained by using the smaller screen size.

Selecting the Focus Method – Coolscan only

Macintosh: The Nikon Scanner plug-in provides two types of focus operations. These are called *Visual Focus* and *Metered Focus*. Both are described in Chapter Fourteen. The plug-in automatically defaults to the Metered Focus technique. This can be changed by checking the SCANNING FOCUS check box, seen in Figure 7.26. If checked, the Visual Focus technique will be employed. If you change the state of the box, you must exit the Tools dialog. It is not necessary to restart the application software.

Windows: The Nikon Scanner plug-in provides two types of focus operations. These are called *Visual Focus* and *Metered Focus*. Both are described in Chapter Fourteen. The plug-in automatically defaults to the Metered Focus technique. This can be changed by holding down the Control key while clicking on the Focus button shown in Figure 7.27.

Focus	ctri
	vui

Figure 7.27 The SCANNING FOCUS keystroke.

Interface Buttons

This toggling pair of buttons, which specifies SCSI or GPIB interface, is available in the Main Scan dialog and in the Tools dialog. While opening the plug-in, the software will search the GPIB and then the SCSI bus for any scanners. When found, the device will have its ID displayed in the upper right-hand corner. If no device is found, and one is known to be connected, then the toolkit buttons provide a means to search the bus again for a particular address. If you have more than one Nikon scanner connected to your SCSI or GPIB chain, you will have to manually set the SCSI or GPIB address you wish to use. Do so by clicking the appropriate button, SCSI or GPIB, in the Tools dialog and set the appropriate address using the relevant pop-up menu, as seen in Figures 7.29a and 7.30a for Macintosh, and Figures 7.29b and 7.30b for Windows.



Figure 7.28 The SCSI and GPIB addressing button - Macintosh and Windows.

	Always Find Device	
Address:	2: SONY CD-ROM COU-800 4 \$5: Nikon COOLSCAN 1.02	381.8f
Find De	vice	ОК

Figure 7.29a The SCSI addressing selection dialog – Macintosh.

<u>B</u> oard:	Driver: 4.01	Ok
T130B.1.0		
Address:	DUS:5.00	Cancel
6 +		Test

Figure 7.29b The SCSI addressing selection dialog – Windows.

Nikon LS-3510AF Ver. 4.10 GPIB Board # 0, Address 15	
Address: 15	
Find Device	ОК

Figure 7.30a The GPIB addressing selection dialog – Macintosh.

= Inte	erface Setup	
Board:	Driver: 4.01	Ok
GPIBO	DOS: 5.00	Cancel
	-	<u>I</u> est

Figure 7.30b The GPIB addressing selection dialog – Windows.

Calibrating the Lamp (LS-3510AF only)

Calibrate Lamp

Figure 7.31 Calibrate Lamp button – Macintosh and Windows.

The lamp should be calibrated when the scanner is first unpacked from the shipping carton.

Thereafter, you can recalibrate whenever you change a lamp, or if you install a 12bit board. If you move the scanner to a new location you may want to recalibrate since the bulb may change position in transit and the illumination pattern must be recompensated. This calibration is *not* intended for daily use. It writes color balance and light distribution shading information to the non-volatile memory in the scanner.



A

The CALIBRATE LAMP button should be used with caution!

Before calibrating the unit, you must remove any film and film holders from inside. Otherwise it will misinterpret the light balance and attempt to calibrate to a setting that is outside normal limits. This may leave the scanner in a confused state and possibly require a call to Nikon Technical Support to remedy.

To execute a calibration, close the dust cover, click the button within the Tools dialog and wait a couple of minutes while the unit compensates and saves the data. When the busy light finally goes out you will be returned to the Tools dialog.



Do not disturb the scanner while this is taking place or the routines will not complete and the scanner may not calibrate correctly on the next attempt.

You can exit after completion by clicking the DONE button.

Chapter 7

The Scanner State

Macintosh: When you launch the plug-in its settings automatically initialize to the state that they were in when it was last closed. Also, the last preview image that was on screen will still be displayed in the preview window.

The plug-in allows you to save and restore settings of the plug-in state through its preferences file. This will be explained in the next chapter.

Windows: When you launch the plug-in its settings automatically initialize to the state that they were in when it was last closed.

With Coolscan, the plug-in allows you to save and restore settings of the plug-in state through its NKNCTRL.INI file. This will be explained in Chapters 8 and 9.

Getting Help

Macintosh: Help can be accessed while in the Scan dialog box or in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog box by clicking on the INTERACTIVE HELP button. When inactive, the INTERACTIVE HELP button is displayed, as shown in Figure 7.32(a).

When active, the INTERACTIVE HELP button is replaced by a message box, as shown in Figure 7.32(b). When the mouse cursor is placed over a control, the appropriate help message for that control appears in this message box. For example, in the Scan dialog box, suppose that the cursor was placed over the FILM TYPE selection box after selecting INTERACTIVE HELP. The message box would relay the information shown in Figure 7.32(b). This function operates identically in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog box.



Figure 7.32 The INTERACTIVE HELP button is replaced by a help message for FILM TYPE pop-up menu.

Chapter 7

Help is disabled by clicking within the message box. Once disabled, the $\ensuremath{\mathsf{INTERACTIVE}}$ Help button reappears.

Windows: When the mouse cursor is placed over a control, the appropriate help message for that control automatically appears in the top left-hand corner of the Scan dialog.

Chapter 8

Setting and Restoring the Nikon Plug-in State – Macintosh

As you have seen, there are many user-controlled settings associated with the Nikon Scanner plug-in. These user-controlled settings are referred to as the plug-in *state*. It is understood that you will not want to fix each setting every time you want to scan. To avoid this, the Nikon Scanner plug-in includes a simple method of managing the setting and restoring of the plug-in state.

There are three ways to set and restore the Nikon Scanner plug-in's initial state as shown in Figure 8.1. These include the standard startup conditions shown in Figure 8.1a, the default conditions shown in Figure 8.1b, and the user named settings files shown in Figure 8.1c.



Figure 8.1 Setting the Nikon Scanner plug-in state. (a) This method is used automatically upon starting and exiting the application. (b) The set default method allows you to save and restore the state through an un-named file. (c) The user-named method allows you to save and restore the state through named files.

The *automatic method* of setting and saving the plug-in state involves saving the state each time the application exits, and then restoring this state the next time the application is run. In Figure 8.1a, it is seen that clicking on either the CANCEL or SCAN buttons causes the last state of the plug-in to be stored in the plug-in preferences file. When the plug-in is run, these saved settings are used as the new startup conditions. This includes the image present in the preview image window.

The *set default method* allows you to set aside the current plug-in state for ready access at a later time by clicking on the SET DEFAULTS button. This is shown in Figure 8.1b. The RESET button can be clicked at any time to restore the plug-in to the default state in the preferences file.

Setting and Restoring the Nikon Plug-in State – Macintosh

Chapter 8

The *user-named method* is similar to the set default method, but is meant for longterm storage of settings. This is shown in Figure 8.1c. Several different states can be stored by giving each a unique name. The plug-in saves the current settings to a named file when the SAVE SETTINGS button is clicked. Similarly, it resets the current settings to those settings in a named file when the LOAD SETTINGS button is clicked.

The Settings Controls

There are four buttons associated with the saving and restoring of the plug-in state. These include the RESET, SET DEFAULT, LOAD SETTINGS and SAVE SETTINGS buttons. All of these are found in the Scan dialog.

Reset

The RESET button, shown in Figure 8.2, provides a means to set the plug-in state to the default values in the plug-in preferences file. These default values can be changed by clicking the SET DEFAULTS button.

Reset

Figure 8.2 The RESET button.

Set Defaults

The SET DEFAULTS button, seen in Figure 8.3, provides a means to store the current plug-in settings as the default state in the preferences file. After these new default settings are stored, they can then be recalled by clicking the RESET button.

Set Defaults

Figure 8.3 The SET DEFAULTS button.

Load Settings

The LOAD SETTINGS button, shown in Figure 8.4, provides a means to set the plug-in state to the values in a user-named settings file. These values can be set by clicking the SAVE SETTINGS button.

Load Settings

Figure 8.4 The LOAD SETTINGS button.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 74

Chapter 8

Save Settings

The SAVE SETTINGS button, shown in Figure 8.5, provides a means to store the current plug-in state to a user-named file. These settings can then be recalled through the LOAD SETTINGS button.

Save Settings

Figure 8.5 The SAVE SETTINGS button.

The Automatic Method

Suppose that you have performed a scan of a particular image. The resulting scan file is imported into a desktop publishing application. Now suppose you want to change the crop of the image. The Nikon Scanner plug-in is then run again. The same settings that existed when you exited the plug-in are automatically in place. The preview image of the film is still present, as well. This saves you a great deal of time, as the only operation required is to change the crop. All other settings are identical. Only under any of the following conditions would there be the need for a new preview scan to be performed:

- The film was moved inside the scanner since the last preview scan.
- The film was removed from the scanner manually, or electronically ejected.
- The scanner's power was turned off.

Summary

To automatically save the state:

• Exit the Nikon Scanner plug-in through the CANCEL or SCAN buttons.

To automatically restore the state:

• Run the application again.

The Set Default Method

One can think of the set default state as a temporary storage location that can be rapidly accessed. The temporary storage place is in the plug-in preferences file. When the plug-in is first run, there is no state stored in the preferences file. Rather, the plug-in uses its factory default state. These factory default settings are resident in the plug-in itself.

By saving the current state using the SET DEFAULTS button, the next time the

Setting and Restoring the Nikon Plug-in State - Macintosh

Chapter 8

RESET button is clicked, the plug-in state will be set to these settings, not the factory defaults.

 \land

The factory default settings can be recalled at any time by deleting the preferences file, then restarting the application. If there is no preferences file available, the plug-in will automatically use the factory defaults settings.

Summary

To save the current state as the default state:

• Click on the SET DEFAULTS button.

To invoke the default state as the current state:

• Click on the RESET button.

To restore the factory defaults as the default state:

• Remove the preferences file from the system folder and restart the application.

The User-Named Method

You may desire to have several different scanner settings readily available. To accomplish this, you can load and save these settings into user-named settings files. These files are named by following the standard Macintosh file system conventions.

Clicking on the SAVE SETTINGS button brings up the operating system's SAVE SETTINGS dialog, as shown in Figure 8.6. Once the settings file is named, the current state will be saved. It can be restored at any time through the LOAD SETTINGS button.

Save Setti	ngs
🔁 Nikon Control 🔻	
 ☆ Nikon Control □ Nikon Scanner 4.0 □ Scan #1 	Applications Eject Desktop
Save Settings as:	Save

Figure 8.6 The SAVE SETTINGS dialog.

Chapter 8

Setting and Restoring the Nikon Plug-in State - Macintosh

Clicking on the LOAD SETTINGS button prompts the appearance of the SELECT THE SETTINGS FILE dialog, as shown in Figure 8.7. Once the settings file is selected and opened, the state stored in the named file will be loaded in as the current state of the plug-in. Any changes made to this file can be saved through the SAVE SETTINGS button. Make sure, however to give this state a different name if you also wish to retain the original settings file.



Figure 8.7 The SELECT THE SETTINGS FILE dialog.

Summary

To save the current state to a named file:

- Click on the SAVE SETTINGS button.
- To change the current state to the state in a named file:
- Click on the LOAD SETTINGS button.

Setting and Restoring the Nikon Plug-in State – Macintosh

Chapter 8

Setting and Restoring the Nikon Plug-in State – Windows

As you have seen, there are many user-controlled settings associated with the Nikon Scanner plug-in. These user-controlled settings are referred to as the plug-in *state*. It is understood that you will not want to fix each setting every time you want to scan. To avoid this, the Nikon Scanner plug-in includes a simple method of managing the setting and restoring of the plug-in state.

There are three ways to set and restore the Nikon Scanner plug-in's initial state, as shown in Figure 9.1. These include the standard startup conditions shown in Figure 9.1a, the default conditions shown in Figure 9.1b, and the user named settings files shown in Figure 9.1c.



Figure 9.1 Setting the Nikon Scanner plug-in state. (a) This method is used automatically upon starting and exiting the application. (b) The set default method allows you to save and restore the state through an un-named file. (c) The user-named method allows you to save and restore the state through named files.

The *automatic method* of saving the plug-in state involves saving the state when you click the SCAN button, as seen in Figure 9.1a. When the plug-in is run, these saved settings are used as the new startup conditions. The default settings are used after the application is terminated. This includes the image present in the preview image window.

The *set default method* allows you to set aside the current plug-in state for ready access at a later time by clicking on the SET DEFAULTS button. This is shown in Figure 9.1b. The USE DEFAULTS button can be clicked at any time to restore the plug-in to the default state in the NKNCTRL.INI file.

The user-named method is similar to the set default method, but is meant for long-term

Setting and Restoring the Nikon Plug-in State – Windows

Chapter 9

storage of settings. This is shown in Figure 9.1c. Several different states can be stored by giving each a unique name. The plug-in saves the current settings to a named file when the SAVE SETTINGS button is clicked. Similarly, it resets the current settings to those settings in a named file when the LOAD SETTINGS button is clicked.

The Settings Controls

There are four buttons associated with the saving and restoring of the plug-in state. These include the USE DEFAULTS, SET DEFAULTS, LOAD SETTINGS and SAVE SETTINGS buttons. All of these are found in the Scan dialog.

Use Defaults

The USE DEFAULTS button, shown in Figure 9.2, provides a means to set the plug-in state to the default values in the plug-in's NKNCTRL.INI file. These default values can be changed by clicking the SET DEFAULTS button.

<u>U</u>se Defaults

Figure 9.2 The USE DEFAULTS button.

Set Defaults

The SET DEFAULTS button, seen in Figure 9.3, provides a means to store the current plug-in settings as the default state in the NKNCTRL.INI file. After these new default settings are stored, they can then be recalled by clicking the USE DEFAULTS button.

Set <u>D</u>efaults

Figure 9.3 The SET DEFAULTS button.

Load Settings

The LOAD SETTINGS button, shown in Figure 9.4, provides a means to set the plug-in state to the values in a user-named settings file. These values can be set by clicking the SAVE SETTINGS button.

Chapter 9

Load Settings

Figure 9.4 The LOAD SETTINGS button.

Save Settings

The SAVE SETTINGS button, shown in Figure 9.5, provides a means to store the current plug-in state to a user-named file. These settings can then be recalled through the LOAD SETTINGS button.

Sav<u>e</u> Settings

Figure 9.5 The SAVE SETTINGS button.

The Automatic Method

Suppose that you have performed a scan of a particular image. The resulting scan file is imported into a desktop publishing application. Now suppose you want to change the crop of the image. The Nikon Scanner plug-in is then run again. The same settings that existed when you exited the plug-in are automatically in place. The preview image of the film is still present, as well. This saves you a great deal of time, as the only operation required is to change the crop. All other settings are identical. Only under any of the following conditions would there be the need for a new preview scan to be performed:

- The film was moved inside the scanner since the last preview scan.
- The film was removed from the scanner manually, or electronically ejected.
- The scanner's power was turned off.

Summary

To automatically save the state:

• Exit the Nikon Scanner plug-in through the SCAN button.

To automatically restore the state:

• Run the plug-in again.

The Set Default Method

One can think of the set default state as a temporary storage location that can be rapidly accessed. The temporary storage place is in the plug-in's NKNCTRL.INI file. When the plug-in is first run, there is no state stored in the NKNCTRL.INI file. Rather, the plug-in uses its factory default state. These factory default settings are resident in the plug-in itself.

By saving the current state using the SET DEFAULTS button, the next time the USE DEFAULTS button is clicked, the plug-in state will be set to these settings, not the factory defaults.

The factory default settings can be recalled at any time by deleting the NKNCTRL.INI file, then restarting the application. If there is no NKNCTRL.INI file available, the plug-in will automatically use the factory default settings.

Summary

To save the current state as the default state:

• Click on the SET DEFAULTS button.

To invoke the default state as the current state:

• Click on the USE DEFAULTS button.

To restore the factory defaults as the default state:

 Remove the NKNCTRL.INI file from the Nikon Control directory and restart the application.

The User-Named Method

You may desire to have several different scanner settings readily available. To accomplish this, you can load and save these settings into user-named settings files. These files are named by following the standard DOS file system conventions.

Clicking on the SAVE SETTINGS button brings up the operating system's SAVE SETTINGS dialog, as shown in Figure 9.6. Once the settings file is named, the current state will be saved. It can be restored at any time through the LOAD SETTINGS button.

Setting and Restoring the Nikon Plug-in State – Windows

File <u>N</u> ame: * psc	<u>D</u> irectories:	OK
	 	
Save File as <u>T</u> ype: Control Settings	Drives:	₽ ₽



Chapter 9

Clicking on the LOAD SETTINGS button prompts the appearance of the LOAD SETTINGS dialog, as shown in Figure 9.7. Once the settings file is selected and opened, the state stored in the named file will be loaded in as the current state of the plug-in. Any changes made to this file can be saved through the SAVE SETTINGS button. Make sure, however to give this state a different name if you also wish to retain the original settings file.

File <u>N</u> ame: F.nsc	Directories: c:\apps\assorted	Cancel
List Files of <u>T</u> ype:	Dri <u>v</u> es:	

Figure 9.7 The LOAD SETTINGS dialog.

Summary

- To save the current state to a named file:
- Click on the SAVE SETTINGS button.
- To change the current state to the state in a named file:
- Click on the LOAD SETTINGS button.

Performing a Preview or Final Scan

There are two types of scans, the preview scan and the final scan. Note that only the final scan creates a disk file you can use in other applications.

This chapter will cover the controls for performing a basic preview or final scan. The chapters following will cover in detail the specific scanner controls affecting the preview and final scans.

The Scan Controls

There are three controls directly related to performing a scan. First, the PREVIEW button, used to initiate a preview scan. Second, the SCAN button, used to initiate a final scan. And third, the CANCEL command, which is used to halt a scan that is in progress.

The Preview Button

Clicking the mouse on the PREVIEW button, shown in Figure 10.1, causes the scanner to perform a preview scan. The preview scan enables you to see the film image on the screen and carry out any adjustments before the final scan is performed. The preview scan contains the entire film area.

Preview

Pre<u>v</u>iew

Figure 10.1 The PREVIEW scan button – Macintosh and Windows.

The Scan Button

Clicking the mouse on the SCAN button, shown in Figure 10.2, causes Coolscan to perform a final scan.



Scan

Figure 10.2 The SCAN button – Macintosh and Windows.

The Abort Keystroke

Macintosh: You can abort a preview or final scan at any time by holding down the "**'**" key and striking the period "." key, as seen in Figure 10.3.

Chapter 10

Performing a Preview or Final Scan



Figure 10.3 The Abort Keystroke: While holding down the "**¢**" key, strike the period "." key.

Windows: You can abort a preview or final scan at any time by pressing and holding down the ESC key for a few moments.

Autoexposure Cycle

Before a preview or final scan is started, the scanner may analyze the entire film surface in order to set the optimum contrast and brightness for the given image. This is referred to as setting exposure in an *autoexposure cycle*. To achieve optimal scanning results it is recommended that an autoexposure cycle be performed whenever you insert a new slide. Whether or not an autoexposure cycle is executed depends on the state of the AUTO check box, as seen in the Scan dialog. There are three possible states:

1) Don't want autoexposure cycle for this image • If the AUTO check box is inactive (blank), as shown in Figure 10.4, no autoexposure cycle will be performed.





Figure 10.4 Autoexposure cycle check box in inactive state – Macintosh and Windows.

2) Want autoexposure cycle for this image • If the AUTO check box is active (contains an "X"), and there is no check mark next to it, an autoexposure cycle will be initiated upon the next scan. This state, shown in Figure 10.5, indicates that you desire an autoexposure cycle because the scanner currently has no available autoexposure data for this image.



X Auto

Figure 10.5 Autoexposure cycle check box in active state – Macintosh and Windows.

This is the Nikon Scanner plug-in's default state for the autoexposure cycle. It assumes that you will want autoexposure data.

3) Have autoexposure cycle for this image • The third state, seen below in Figure 10.6, occurs when the AUTO check box is active and there is a check mark adjacent to it. In this case, no autoexposure cycle will be performed upon the next scan.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 86

This state indicates that you want an autoexposure setting and the scanner believes that it has autoexposure data available for this image. Consequently, it will use the data it already has.



Figure 10.6 Autoexposure cycle check box indicating that autoexposure data already exists for an image – Macintosh and Windows.

This is the common state after a preview scan and before a final scan.

Forcing an Autoexposure Cycle

It is sometimes desirable to force a new autoexposure cycle, even when the scanner has what it believes is correct autoexposure data for the image. This is because image characteristics, such as exposure, can vary widely, even within the same film type. To accomplish this, it is necessary to remove the check mark next to the AUTO cycle check box.

This can be achieved by double clicking on the Auto cycle check box, shown in Figure 10.7.





Figure 10.7 Forcing an autoexposure cycle – Macintosh and Windows.

The first click removes the check mark and the "X" in the autoexposure cycle check box. The second click reinstates the "X" in the AUTO check box, but not the adjacent check mark. This is shown in Figure 10.8.

🖂 Auto

🗙 <u>A</u>uto

Figure 10.8 Result of forcing an autoexposure cycle – Macintosh and Windows.



Autoexposure data is stored in the scanner, *not* in the plug-in. If the scanner is powered off, the autoexposure information is lost.

Autofocus - LS-3510AF only

One of the key features of the LS-3510AF is its focusing and autofocusing features. This eliminates the need for different thickness slide holders, as used by the LS-3500. In almost all cases, the standard autofocus will assure you of the sharpest image possible.

The Autofocus button, shown in Figure 10.9, is only enabled when an LS-3510AF is connected. When this button is clicked, the scanner will attempt to autofocus on the film. If successful, the focus position is placed in the FOCUS value edit box. The scanner may not be able to focus on a slide if it has low contrast or few sharp details. This should be done for every slide. When the AUTO checkbox is checked, the plug-in will automatically perform an autofocus the first time a preview is performed or before the final scan. If the AUTO checkbox is unchecked and checked again, this is reset and another autofocus will be performed before the next preview or final scan.



	[↔⊳
--	-----

Figure 10.9 The Autofocus button - Macintosh and Windows.

Manual Focus – LS-3510AF only

In some cases, such as with blurry images or warped film, you may wish to manually focus on an area of the slide. This is easily accomplished by clicking the manual FOCUS button.

The manual FOCUS control is only enabled when an LS-3510AF is connected. Click the FOCUS button, shown in Figure 10.10, to enter manual focus mode.



Figure 10.10 The manual FOCUS button – Macintosh and Windows.

While in this mode, the FOCUS button will change to a STOP button, as shown in Figure 10.11.

Chapter 10

Performing a Preview or Final Scan



Figure 10.11 The manual focus STOP button – Macintosh and Windows.

If you move the mouse over the preview area, you will see that it becomes a magnifying glass with crosshairs in the center. Place this cursor over the area you wish to focus on, then click the mouse button.

The scanner will take a small high-resolution grayscale scan and display it in the preview area. You may then adjust the focus by using the slider, which has now become active, or the FOCUS value edit box, which can contain a value between 0 and 48. Most focus settings are in the area of 24 for slides mounted in plastic.

Performing a Preview Scan

There are several scanning parameters which you can change that affect the outcome of the preview scan. Each of these is controlled through the Scan dialog and the Gamma Curve Editor dialog boxes, as indicated in Table 10.1.

<u>Parameter</u>	<u>Dialog Box</u>	Described In
Film Type	Scan	Chapter 12
Image Orientation	Scan	Chapter 12
Auto Exposure	Scan	Chapter 13
Brightness	Scan	Chapter 13
Contrast	Scan	Chapter 13
Color Balance	Scan	Chapter 13
Gamma Curves	Gamma Editor	Chapter 16

Table 10.1 Parameters affecting the preview scan.

Conversely, the preview scan is also controlled by preset parameters that you cannot change. These include position, width, height and resolution. These are all discussed in Chapter Eleven of this manual.

Once the preview scan is finished, you can view the image, adjust the scanning settings, and crop the image in preparation for the final scan.

Performing a Final Scan

Once you are satisfied with the scanning settings, a final scan can be invoked by clicking on the SCAN button. Upon completion of the scan, an image will appear in a window titled "UNTITLED-1."

Saving the Scan

Macintosh: You can then save the resulting scan to disk by pulling down the FILE menu to activate the SAVE AS... dialog, as seen in Figure 10.12. A dialog box will appear prompting you to enter the new file name to be used for the scan. This scan file can be saved in two 24-bit true color file formats, either PICT or TIFF 5.0 file.

🔁 Nikon Control 🔻	
 ♠ Nikon Control □ Nikon Scanner 4.0 	Applications Eject Desktop
Save the file as: Untitled-1	Save Cancel
le Format: ✓PICT File TIFF 5.0	

Figure 10.12 The scanned image is saved to a disk file through the SAVE AS... file dialog box – Macintosh.

Windows: You can then save the resulting scan to disk by pulling down the FILE menu to activate the SAVE AS... dialog, as seen in Figure 10.13. A dialog box will appear prompting you to enter the new file name to be used for the scan. This scan file can be stored in two 24-bit true color file formats, either TGA (Targa) or BMP (Windows Bitmap Files).

File <u>N</u> ame:	<u>D</u> irectories:	OK
		Cancel
Save File as <u>T</u> ype: Windows Ritman Files	Drives:	→

Figure 10.13 The scanned image is saved to a disk file through the SAVE AS... dialog – Windows.

Ejecting the Film (Coolscan only)

Macintosh: The film can be ejected from the scanner by re-running the plug-in and clicking on the EJECT button, or it will automatically eject upon the next scanner power up. It can also be ejected using the *Eject Coolscan Film* application provided with the plug-in software. If you are using System 7.0 or later, you can place this application in the Apple Menu Items folder in your System Folder.

Never use tweezers or other tools to remove a slide.



Eject Coolscan[™] Film

Figure 10.14 The Eject Coolscan Film application icon – Macintosh.

Windows: The film can be ejected from the scanner by re-running the plug-in and clicking on the EJECT button, or it will automatically eject upon the next scanner power up. It can also be ejected using the *Eject Coolscan Film* application provided with the plug-in software, or from the DOS command line by typing "Eject."

Never use tweezers or other tools to remove a slide.

Performing a Preview or Final Scan

Chapter 10

Nikon ≝⊡∰]

Eject Coolscan™ Film

Figure 10.15 The Eject Coolscan Film application icon – Windows.

Quitting the Application

Macintosh: The application is terminated through the Q∪IT command in the FILE pull-down menu, or by simply pressing "♠" and "Q".

Windows: The application is terminated through the EXIT command in the FILE pull-down menu, or by simultaneously striking the ALT key and the F4 key.

Cropping and Sizing Images

In many cases you will want to scan only a certain portion of an image. Through an operation called *cropping*, the Nikon Scanner plug-in allows you to select any area of the image for scanning – from the image border to any portion within the border. Cropping is accomplished by using the mouse in combination with the sizing controls found in the Scan dialog, as shown in Figure 11.1a for Macintosh and Figure 11.1b under Windows.

Directly related to the cropping function is the *resolution* of the scan. The resolution setting determines how many pixels will be produced by the scan. The higher the resolution, the greater the scan quality, and the larger the resulting scan file size. You will want to select an appropriate scanning resolution for each image. The objective is to scan an image at the appropriate resolution for your intended use, thus minimizing unnecessarily large file sizes, yet guaranteeing sufficient data for demanding output requirements.

Width:	4	Inches 🔻 🧧
Height:	6	Inches 🔻 🛛 🗕 🖨
Final Res: 72	Pixels/Inch 🔻 🗖	
Pitch:	2	Scan Res: 1351DPI
Lock: 🖂	Aspec	t 🖂 File Size: 373 KB

Figure 11.1a Sizing controls in Scan dialog – Macintosh.



Figure 11.1b Sizing controls in Scan dialog – Windows.

The Sizing Controls

The sizing controls consist of the WIDTH, HEIGHT, FINAL RESOLUTION, and PITCH. For convenience, you can choose to lock the ASPECT (the proportions of the image) or the FILE SIZE. Locking the ASPECT ensures that the resulting scan will retain

the proportions that you have set, regardless of the changes you make in crop *size*. You might also wish to constrain the *file size* of scans. The scan resolution (measured in dots per inch, or dpi) is controlled by the PITCH setting. The lower the PITCH setting, the higher the resolution of the scan, and the larger the resulting scan file size. The effects of the WIDTH and HEIGHT settings are reflected in the preview image window by the white crop rectangle. The crop rectangle encloses the area to be scanned. The size of the crop rectangle will change in accordance with changes to the WIDTH and HEIGHT values. Likewise, these values will change in accordance with changes to the size of the crop rectangle, via the cursor.

The Preview Window

As you have seen, the preview scan is displayed in the image portion of the preview window. The cursor provides graphical control of the crop rectangle when it is moved within this window. Graphical control of the crop rectangle is explained in this chapter, in the section "Crop Rectangle."

The orientation of the preview window, portrait or landscape, depends on the status of the orientation button, as shown in Figure 11.2.



Figure 11.2 Portrait and Landscape orientation of the preview window.

Width

The WIDTH setting, as seen in Figure 11.3a for Macintosh and Figure 11.3b under Windows, determines the horizontal dimension of the final scan. This assumes that the film orientation is correctly selected for the image to be scanned.

Figure 11.3a The WIDTH setting – Macintosh.
Chapter 11

Cropping and Sizing Images

Width: 4 Inches ±

Figure 11.3b The WIDTH setting – Windows.

Height

The HEIGHT setting, as shown in Figure 11.4 for Macintosh and Figure 11.4b under Windows, determines the horizontal dimension of the final scan. Again, this assumes that the film orientation is correctly selected for the image to be scanned.

Height: 6 Inches 🔻

Figure 11.4a The HEIGHT setting – Macintosh.

Height: 6	Inches	ŧ	
-----------	--------	---	--

Figure 11.4b The HEIGHT setting – Windows.

Width and Height Units

The units of measure for width and height are selectable. They can be defined as pixels, inches, cm, mm, picas or points. This is shown in Figure 11.5.

Pixel	s
√Inche	25
ст	
mm	
Picas	
Point	s

Inches	ŧ
Inches	
cm	
mm	
Picas	
Points	
Pixels	

Figure 11.5 Selecting the units of measure for WIDTH or HEIGHT – Macintosh and Windows.

Final Resolution

The FINAL RESOLUTION determines the number of pixels per unit area in the final scan, or the *output resolution*. The value of this setting will determine the scan PITCH. For example, if you decide that you want a FINAL RESOLUTION of 300 pixels per inch, or ppi, the PITCH setting will automatically be set to scan at the appropriate setting, or *input resolution*.

The important point to understand for now is that the FINAL RESOLUTION is directly related to the scan PITCH and the WIDTH and HEIGHT measurements.

Final Resolution Units

Macintosh: The units of measure for the FINAL RESOLUTION can be in pixels per inch, pixels per cm, or pixels per mm. Typically, the inch, cm or mm units of measure selected will correspond to the WIDTH and HEIGHT units. Selection of the units of measure for this setting is shown in Figure 11.6a.

✓Pixels/Inch
Pixels/cm
Pixels/mm

Figure 11.6a Selecting the units of measure for FINAL RESOLUTION – Macintosh.

Windows: The units of measure for the FINAL RESOLUTION can be in dots per inch, dots per cm, or dots per mm. Typically, the inch, cm or mm units of measure selected will correspond to the WIDTH and HEIGHT units. Selection of the units of measure for this setting is shown in Figure 11.6b.

dpi	ŧ
dpi dnem	
dpmm	

Figure 11.6b Selecting the units of measure for FINAL RESOLUTION – Windows.

Scan Pitch

The scan PITCH is a number that determines the input resolution of a scan. The lower the PITCH number, the higher the quality of the resulting scan. The PITCH setting essentially instructs the scanner on how to set the film scanning stage mechanism inside the scanner. It refers to the pitch of the lead screw mechanism that drives the film stage. The higher the pitch number, the more the stage moves for every scan line and the lower the resulting resolution.

Pitch:	6	
--------	---	--





Scan Resolution Status

The SCAN RESOLUTION status, shown in Figure 11.8, is based on the scan PITCH. Think of it as the dots per inch equivalent of the PITCH setting. The value of this item will change as the scan PITCH changes.

Scan Res: 450 DP1

Figure 11.8 The SCAN RESOLUTION status.

Locking the Aspect

Macintosh: As noted in the beginning of this chapter, it is possible to lock the aspect ratio, or proportions of a crop rectangle. If the LOCK ASPECT check box is checked, as shown in Figure 11.9a, the WIDTH and HEIGHT values can change, but the ratio cannot.

Lock: 🛛 Aspect

Figure 11.9a The LOCK ASPECT box in active state – Macintosh.

Windows: As noted in the beginning of this chapter, it is possible to lock the aspect ratio, or proportions of a crop rectangle. If the LOCK ASPECT check box is checked, as shown in Figure 11.9b, the WIDTH and HEIGHT values can change, but the ratio cannot.

Lock: X Aspect

Figure 11.9b The LOCK ASPECT box in active state – Windows.

Locking the File Size

Macintosh: We also noted earlier that you may wish to constrain the file size of scans. If the LOCK FILE SIZE box is checked, the WIDTH, HEIGHT, and FINAL RESOLUTION values can change, but the ratio cannot.

🛛 File Size: 279 KB

Figure 11.10a The LOCK FILE SIZE box in active state – Macintosh.

Windows: We also noted earlier that you may wish to constrain the file size of scans. If the LOCK FILE SIZE box is checked, the WIDTH, HEIGHT, and FINAL

Chapter 11

RESOLUTION values can change, but the ratio cannot.

× File Size: 279 KB

Figure 11.10b The LOCK FILE SIZE box in active state – Windows.

File Size Status

The FILE SIZE status, shown in Figure 11.11, indicates how large the resulting final scan will be if executed using the current WIDTH, HEIGHT and FINAL RESOLUTION settings. The value of this item will change as these settings are changed.

File Size: 279 KB

File Size: 279 KB

Figure 11.11 The FILE SIZE status – Macintosh and Windows.

The Preview Window

The preview window consists of the preview image, pixel coordinates of the crop rectangle, and the crop rectangle itself. These components, in the landscape mode, are shown in Figure 11.12.



Figure 11.12 The components of the preview window in landscape mode.

The preview window is also present in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog box. However, no crop rectangle is present, although the rectangle of the preview window is used to contain data for the autocontrast button.

When manipulating the exposure controls in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog box, approximations of the results can be viewed in the preview window. This provides you with direct feedback regarding the manipulation of the color controls.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 98

Chapter 11

The size of the preview image depends on the screen resolution of your monitor:

Macintosh:			
Resolution	Monitor Size	Preview Width	Preview Height
512 x 384	9 - 12 inch	127 pixels	190 pixels
640 x 480	13 - 14 inch	200 pixels	300 pixels
832 x 624	16 - 21 inch	470 pixels	705 pixels

Table 11.1a Monitor resolution and preview sizes – Macintosh.

If no preview image is available when the Scan dialog is invoked, a black preview area is displayed. Preview images are saved in the Nikon Scanner plug-in preferences file, located in your preferences folder. If a preview was present when the plug-in was last closed, it will appear the next time you open the plug-in. You can dispose of the previous preview by clicking the RESET button or performing a new preview.

Windows:

Resolution	Font Size	Preview Size	Dialog Size
640 x 480	Small	300 x 200	Small
800 x 600	Small	486 x 324	Large
800 x 600	Large	389 x 260	Small
1024 x 768	Large	556 x 371	Large

Table 11.1b Monitor resolution and preview sizes – Windows.

If no preview image is available when the Scan dialog is invoked, a black preview area is displayed.

Crop Rectangle

As seen in Figure 11.13, the preview window may also contain a crop rectangle. The crop rectangle provides a graphical means of selecting the area desired for the final scan. By adjusting the size and location of the crop rectangle you can see and select exactly what image data will be included in the final scan. This selected scanning area is contained within the crop rectangle.

A

Macintosh only: The entire preview area can be selected by holding down the "¢"

key and striking the "A" key.



Windows only: The entire preview area can be selected by double-clicking in the preview area.

The crop rectangle reflects the combined settings of WIDTH, HEIGHT and FINAL RESOLUTION. You can change the width and height of the crop rectangle by altering their respective settings in the sizing dialog. Alternatively, you can modify the width and height, or reposition the crop rectangle graphically using the mouse.

A typical crop rectangle in a landscape mode preview window is shown in Figure 11.13.





The crop rectangle is seen to consist of a white rectangle with eight *hot spots* surrounding it. The hot spots located at the four corners of the rectangle are called *corner hot spots*. The other four hot spots, located at the centers of the rectangle's sides are called the *center hot spots*.

The shape of the cursor varies depending on where it is located within the preview window. If the cursor is located over the image area *and* within the crop rectangle, it is displayed as a four-arrow cursor, as shown in Figures 11.13 and 11.14. The coordinates of the cursor are shown just above the center of the preview window. Notice that as you move the cursor within the crop rectangle the value of the coordinates changes accordingly. You can reposition the crop rectangle without resizing it by clicking and dragging the mouse when the four-arrow cursor is displayed.

When the cursor is located over the image area, but *not* within the crop rectangle, or if no crop rectangle exists, the cursor is displayed as a crosshair, as seen in Figure 11.15. The appearance of the crosshair cursor indicates that a new crop rectangle will be drawn if the mouse is clicked and dragged. Any existing crop rectangle will be deleted whenever a new crop rectangle is created. The color of the crosshair changes to provide contrast with the image. For example, if the cursor is located over a black or dark

area, the cursor will change to a light color, and vice versa in white or light areas.



Figure 11.14 Four-arrow cursor.

Figure 11.15 Crosshair cursor.

If the cursor is located such that it is positioned on one of the corner or center hot spots, the cursor is displayed as an arrow, shown in Figure 11.16.



Figure 11.16 Arrow cursor.

You can modify the size of the crop rectangle by clicking and dragging one of the hot spots in any direction. Clicking and dragging a center hot spot moves the side of the crop rectangle corresponding to that hot spot. Likewise, an edge hot spot moves both sides corresponding to that hot spot.

Changes to the width and height of the crop rectangle are reflected in the WIDTH and HEIGHT value boxes. If, however, the ASPECT or FILE SIZE lock boxes are active, the PITCH will change to maintain them.

Coordinate Display

The location coordinates of the four corners of the preview image are seen at the four corners of the crop rectangle, as seen in Figure 11.13. The scanner's coordinate array system reflects the corner values, in pixels, of the image area.

The Sizing Controls

The sizing controls, used in conjunction with the crop rectangle in the preview image specify the spatial parameters (height, width, and image area) of the scan. This relationship is illustrated, for example, in Figure 11.17a for Macintosh, and in Figure 11.17b for Windows.

In this example, a final resolution of 72 pixels per inch is desired in an image that is 4 inches wide by 6 inches high. These are the output dimensions and resolution. It is typically easier to specify the dimensions with respect to the resulting scan. For example, one would know that the result needs to fit in a 4" x 6" frame on a page. Similarly, the final (or output) resolution will be dictated by the printer. These output dimensions

translate directly to the PITCH and SCAN RESOLUTION input settings. The input and output settings are directly related. Changing one necessarily changes the other.

Cropping and Sizing Images

(a) Sizing text entry dialog





Figure 11.17a The controls associated with sizing - Macintosh. (a) The sizing text dialog items. (b) The preview image window.





Dimensional Units

As you learned in a previous section, the width and height units of measure can be specified as pixels, inches, cm, mm, picas, or points, depending on your preference. For **Macintosh**, the final resolution units can be specified as pixels per inch, pixels per cm, or pixels per mm. For **Windows**, the resolution units can be specified as dots per inch, dots per cm, or dots per mm. Note that dots and pixels are functionally the same. Typically, the width and height are specified in the same units of measure. The final resolution uses either inches, cm or mm, based on the selection of units of measure for the width and height.

Resolution and Scan Pitch

Resolution is a measure of the amount of data per unit area. The units are *pixels*. The unit measure is either inches, cm's or mm's. This is called *Final Res*, short for final resolution.

Most users prefer to define output resolution. Before the scan is made, the

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 103

dimensions of the final image are typically known. For example, when a page layout reserves a 4" x 6" space, a 4" x 6" scanned image is produced to fit.

The resolution of the scan, either input or output, will determine the amount of data that is present in the scan, e.g. the amount of data in the 4" x 6" area. If the output resolution was set at 100 pixels or dots per inch, the resulting scan file would be (4 x 100) x (6 x 100) = 240,000 pixels or dots. If the output resolution was set at 200 pixels or dots per inch, the resulting file would be (4 x 200) x (6 x 200) = 960,000 pixels or dots. Both images would still, however, occupy the same 4" x 6" space when used at their respective resolution settings.

So what is the basis for selecting resolution? The higher the resolution, the better the scan detail, the longer it takes to produce the scan, and the larger the resulting file size. Typically, the resolution of the scan is selected to best suit its intended use, in particular the device it will be output on. To match any output device that has 300 dots per inch, the final resolution might be selected to be 300 pixels per inch.

This simple rule does not necessarily apply for all applications. For example, when your intended output is for offset or printed reproduction, the scan resolution should be between one and two times the required printing *screen* resolution.

Final Resolution

Macintosh: Final resolution is measured in either pixels/inch (ppi), pixels/mm or pixels/cm. As you learned in the previous chapter, the number of pixels in the final scan will equal the value of this parameter multiplied by the width and the height values.

The resulting SCAN RESOLUTION and PITCH setting of using 72, 144 and 288 ppi FINAL RESOLUTION settings are shown in Figure 11.18a. The WIDTH and HEIGHT remain constant. Note, however, that the scan PITCH, the SCAN RESOLUTION and the FILE SIZE vary accordingly.

Cropping and Sizing Images

	Width: 4	Inches 🔻
	Height: 6	Inches 🔻
(a) 72 ppi final resolution	Final Res: 72	Pixels/Inch
	Pitch: 4	Scan Res: 675 DPI
	Lock: 🗌 Aspect	☐ File Size: 364.5 KB
	Width: 4	Inches 🔻
(b) 144 mmi final machinian	Height: 6	Inches 🔻
(b) 144 ppi final resolution	Final Res: 144	Pixels/Inch
	Pitch: 2	Scan Res: 1351 DPI
	Lock: 🗌 Aspect	File Size: 1.4 MB
	Width: 4	Inches 🔻
(c) 288 ppi final resolution	Height: 6	Inches 🔻
	Final Res: 288	Pixels/Inch
	Pitch: 1	Scan Res: 2702 DPI
	Lock: 🗌 Aspect	File Size: 5.7 MB

Figure 11.18a (Macintosh) Changing the FINAL RESOLUTION affects scan PITCH, SCAN RESOLUTION and FILE SIZE. (a) 72 ppi FINAL RESOLUTION. (b) 144 ppi FINAL RESOLUTION. (c) 288 ppi FINAL RESOLUTION.

Windows: Final resolution is measured in either pixels/inch (ppi), pixels/mm or pixels/cm. As you learned in the previous chapter, the number of pixels in the final scan will equal the value of this parameter multiplied by the width and the height values.

The resulting SCAN RESOLUTION and PITCH setting of using 72, 144 and 288 dpi FINAL RESOLUTION settings are shown in Figure 11.18b. The WIDTH and HEIGHT remain constant. Note, however, that the scan PITCH, the SCAN RESOLUTION and the FILE SIZE vary accordingly.

Cropping and Sizing Images

Chapter 11

(a) 72 dpi final resolution	Width: 4 Height: 6 Final <u>R</u> es: 72 <u>P</u> itch: 4 Lock: As	Inches ± Inches ± dpi ± Scan Res: 676 DPI pect File Size: 124 KB
	Width: 4	Inches 生
	Height: 6	Inches 生
(b) 144 dpi final resolution	Final <u>R</u> es: 144	dpi 生
	Pitch: 2	Scan Res:1351 DPI
	Lock:	pect 🗌 <u>F</u> ile Size: 497 KB
	Width: 4	Inches 🛨
	Height: 6	Inches 🛨
(c) 288 dpi final resolution	Final <u>R</u> es: 288	dpi 生
	Pitch: 1	Scan Res: 2702 DPI
	Lock: As	pect 🗌 <u>F</u> ile Size: 5.97 MB

Figure 11.18b (Windows) Changing the FINAL RESOLUTION affects scan PITCH, SCAN RESOLUTION and FILE SIZE. (a) 72 dpi FINAL RESOLUTION. (b) 144 dpi FINAL RESOLUTION. (c) 288 dpi FINAL RESOLUTION.

Scan Pitch

There are two types of scan PITCH, *integer* or *non-integer*. The scan PITCH can be any integer or non-integer between 1 and 25.

Integer Pitch, e.g. PITCH = 1, 2, 3, 4, or 5 produces data that is cleaner and scans that are *faster*; but may not be sized to your exact desired dimensions.

Non-integer Pitch, e.g. PITCH = 1.5, 2.233, or 6.1, produces scans that require *interpolation* to reach an exact size. Interpolation is the process by which the Nikon Scanner plug-in reduces the number of pixels to fit the precise resolution requested.

Whenever possible, it is recommended to use Integer Pitch settings. For example, suppose that a desired WIDTH, HEIGHT and FINAL RESOLUTION produces a PITCH of 2.05. In this case, forcing the PITCH to 2.0 while accepting the slight modification to FINAL RESOLUTION results in cleaner and faster scanning, and the final resolution can be adjusted by interpolation in post-processing.

Locking Proportions and File Size

As a convenience, you can lock a scan's proportions and file size. Once you have set the dimensions and resolution, you may want to lock these values so that they cannot be changed inadvertently when cropping the image graphically.

If you select LOCK ASPECT and/or FILE SIZE, a small lock icon will appear to the right of the value edit items. It will have a bar showing how the items are locked together, as shown in Figure 11.19.



Figure 11.19 Icon resulting from locking the ASPECT and FILE SIZE.

There is a strict relationship between the items within the sizing dialog and the crop rectangle displayed in the preview dialog. Changing items in this dialog affects the crop and vice versa. You can lock the ASPECT, keeping the ratio between the crop rectangle's width and height constant, regardless of changes to the output parameters and crop rectangle size. You can also lock the FILE SIZE, keeping the pixel count in the scan, as well as the aspect ratio, constant. This makes it easy to set final dimensions and resolution, while freeing you up to adjust the crop rectangle's position and size without changing the pixel count on the output.

For example, LOCK FILE SIZE will automatically cause the LOCK ASPECT check box to become selected. Deselecting the LOCK ASPECT check box will automatically deselect the LOCK FILE SIZE check box. The results of locking sizing parameters is shown in Figure 11.20a for Macintosh, and in Figure 11.20b for Windows.

Cropping and Sizing Images

Chapter 11



Figure 11.20a Locking sizing parameters - Macintosh. (a) Locking the ASPECT locks the WIDTH and HEIGHT. (b) Locking the FILE SIZE locks the ASPECT and the FINAL RESOLUTION.



Figure 11.20b Locking sizing parameters - Windows. (a) Locking the ASPECT locks the WIDTH and HEIGHT. (b) Locking the FILE SIZE locks the ASPECT and the FINAL RESOLUTION.

Moving the Crop Rectangle

It is simple to move the crop rectangle to the desired area once the size and resolution are determined. Although not necessary, it is easiest to first lock the FILE SIZE, which automatically locks the ASPECT.

Move the cursor over the preview window and inside the current crop rectangle.

Click and drag the mouse to place the crop rectangle in the desired position. Since the locks are in effect, no dimensional changes are possible.

If the locks are not in effect, the same technique can be used, although a slip of the mouse could cause resizing of the crop rectangle.





ing and Sizing Images		Chapter 11
(a) Crop rectangle	(1248,432)	(2688,432)
(b) Moving the crop rectangle	(1248,1236) (592,1088)	(2688,1236) (2032,1088)
Beight 3 Inches ★ Final Bac 200 4oi ★ Back 1 Scan Rec 2762 DPI Lock 7 Appent 7 Bit Stor: 155 HB	(592,1952)	(2032,1952)

Figure 11.21b Moving the crop rectangle - Windows.

Disk Space Status

Cropp

Macintosh: A status message indicating the amount of disk space available on the selected disk drive is provided, as shown in Figure 11.22a. This will enable you to confirm whether or not there is enough available disk space to save the scan you are currently working on. So, if the FILE SIZE is greater than the available DISK SPACE, you will need to increase the amount of free disk space before you continue. In any event, you need at least 3 megabytes free on your startup disk (this is the disk that appears in the upper right hand corner of your screen upon system startup) in order for the Nikon Scanner plug-in to save the preview image. The larger main dialogs create larger preview images and a larger Nikon Scanner preferences file.

Nikon Scanner Control Version 4.0 Nikon COOLSCAN Ver.1.02 SCSI ID # 5	
Disk Space : 297 MB	Scan will be fastest

Figure 11.22a Available DISK SPACE status message – Macintosh.

Windows: A status message indicating the amount of disk space available on the selected disk drive is provided, as shown in Figure 11.22b. This will enable you to confirm whether or not there is enough available disk space to save the scan you are currently working on. So, if the FILE SIZE is greater than the available DISK FREE, you will

Page 110

need to increase the amount of free disk space before you continue. In any event, you need at least 3 megabytes free on your hard disk in order for the Nikon Scanner plug-in to save the preview image. The larger main dialogs create larger preview images and a larger NKNCTRL.INI file.

Nikon COOLSCAN Ver.1.02 SCSI #5	A SOST GPIB
Disk Free: 5.06 MB	Slower scanning.
This is the help text dis	splav.



Cropping and Sizing Images

Chapter 11

Page 112

Film Type and Orientation

The Image Orientation Controls

There are two types of picture orientation, commonly called portrait and landscape. In order for the image files created by the Nikon Scanner plug-in to be oriented and displayed correctly, the plug-in has to be told the orientation of the image on the film and the film type. Otherwise, it may be necessary to flip the image either horizontally or vertically after the preview scan is executed.

Portrait/Landscape Button in Portrait Mode

The Portrait/Landscape button toggles the image orientation between landscape and portrait modes. When the button is in the portrait mode, it is displayed as seen in Figure 12.1.

÷	മ
	ו שני ו

Figure 12.1 Portrait/Landscape button in portrait mode.

Portrait/Landscape Button in Landscape Mode

Clicking the mouse on this button when it is in the portrait mode causes the image orientation to rotate 90 degrees into the landscape mode, as shown in Figure 12.2. Clicking the mouse on this button when it is in the landscape mode causes the image orientation to rotate 90 degrees into the portrait mode, and the button's face changes accordingly.

With Coolscan, since the film is always inserted into the scanner slot assuming a portrait mode (narrow side first), a rotation is necessary if the final scan is to be in land-scape mode. When a final scan is performed in this landscape orientation, the image data will be rotated during the scan and written to disk correctly as a landscape image.



Figure 12.2 Portrait/Landscape button in landscape mode.

Flip Vertical Button

At times, the film might be inadvertently inserted into the scanner upside-down. This is easily corrected by flipping the image vertically. Clicking the Flip Vertical button, shown in Figure 12.3, flips the image up-side-down vertically. The preview image will reflect this flip, and the subsequent final scan will be in the proper orientation before being saved to disk. No interpolation occurs during this operation, and it is typically very fast.



Figure 12.3 Flip Vertical button.

Flip Horizontal Button

At times, the film might be inadvertently inserted reversed or backwards. This is easily corrected by flipping the image horizontally. Clicking the Flip Horizontal button, shown in Figure 12.4, flips the image left-to-right horizontally. The preview image will reflect this flip, and the subsequent final scan will be in the proper orientation before being saved to disk. Again, no interpolation occurs during this operation, and it is typically very fast.

1

Figure 12.4 Flip Horizontal button.

Portrait or Landscape

In order for the plug-in to properly display an image, you must insert it into the scanner slot narrow-side first (Coolscan) and select the correct orientation. Incorrectly setting the orientation causes the image to be viewed sideways, i.e. rotated by 90 degrees. This rotation would also be present in the final scan. In the case of Coolscan, 1/6 of the image on either side will be clipped.

As you learned in an earlier chapter, the face of the Portrait/Landscape button indicates the state of the image orientation. The image portion of the preview window indicates this as well, the portrait mode appearing taller and narrower, and the landscape mode appearing wider and shorter.

As long as the image is in the correct orientation prior to scanning, it will be displayed correctly when opened in any other application software. It also bears noting that the image data itself is never affected by changing the orientation. It is merely

Page 114

transposed within the file and no interpolation occurs in the rotation.

It is possible to leave the orientation incorrect and rotate it later. However, because rotations of large files in an imaging application can be very time consuming, especially for large files, it is recommended that you perform the rotation prior to final scanning.

Film Type

There are four basic film types compatible with all Nikon scanners:

- Color Positive
- Color Negative
- Black and White Positive
- Black and White Negative

Color Positive Film

Color positive film is sometimes called *reversal* film, transparencies, or slides, and is typically mounted in a slide mount. Shining a light through a color positive film produces a 'true' image. In other words, blues in the image appear blue on the film. Blacks in the image appear opaque on the film.

Color Negative Film

Color negative film, sometimes called *print film*, is typically unmounted in strips of five or six frames. Shining a light through color negative film produces a 'negative' image. In other words, blues in the image appear orange on the film. Blacks in the image appear transparent on the film.

Color negative film has an orange base tint. This base tint is neutralized during the scanning process.

One should *always* scan negative film using the negative film type setting.

Black and White Positive Film

Black and white positive film is sometimes used. Shining a light through a black and white positive film produces a 'true' image. In other words, blacks in the image appear opaque on the film.

Black and White Negative Film

Black and white negative film is used to make black and white prints. Shining a light through a black and white negative film produces a 'negative' image. In other words, blacks in the image appear transparent on the film.

Changing the Film Type

Macintosh: The FILM TYPE pop-up menu lets you select the film type corresponding to the film being scanned. The FILM TYPE pop-up menu, as it appears in the Scan dialog is seen in Figure 12.5a, displaying the currently selected film type.

Film Type:	Color Positive	•
------------	----------------	---

Figure 12.5a FILM TYPE pop-up menu, not selected – Macintosh.

You can easily access the different film types by clicking on the selection box portion of the FILM TYPE pop-up menu and holding the mouse button down, as shown in Figure 12.5b.

√ Color Positive	
Color Negative	
B & W Positive	
B & W Negative	

Figure 12.5b FILM TYPE pop-up menu, selected – Macintosh.

The adjacent check mark indicates the currently selected film type. By moving the mouse up and down the menu, without releasing the mouse button, you can select one of the four film types. Indicate the selected type by placing the reverse box over it, then releasing the mouse button. The FILM TYPE button will return to the single line display.

Windows: The FILM TYPE combo box lets you select the film type corresponding to the film being scanned. The FILM TYPE combo box, as it appears in the Scan dialog is seen in Figure 12.6a, displaying the currently selected film type.

Film <u>T</u> ype:	
Color Positive	ŧ

Figure 12.6a FILM TYPE combo box, not selected – Windows.

You can easily access the different film types by clicking on the selection box por-

Page 116

Chapter 12

tion of the FILM TYPE combo box and holding the mouse button down, as shown in Figure 12.6b.



Figure 12.6b FILM TYPE combo box, selected – Windows.

The adjacent check mark indicates the currently selected film type. By moving the mouse up and down the menu, without releasing the mouse button, you can select one of the four film types. Indicate the selected type by placing the reverse box over it, then releasing the mouse button. The FILM TYPE button will return to the single line display.

Film Type and Orientation

Chapter 12

Page 118

Contrast, Brightness and Color Balance

The Exposure Controls

The Nikon Scanner plug-in provides a great deal of automatic and manual control over a scan's contrast, brightness, and color balance. Even more accurate control can be achieved using the Gamma Curve Editor, discussed in Chapters Fifteen and Sixteen.

The typical scanning operation involves performing an autoexposure before the preview scan, then implementing minor modifications through the manual controls.

The results of the autoexposure settings are seen in the original preview scan. Changes to the manual contrast, brightness, and color balance controls will be reflected in the preview window image after a short pause. These changes are approximations only. These manual controls have a range of 25 to 100 for Coolscan, and 0 to 255 for LS-3510AF. Keep in mind that there is a limited range in which changes to these controls will be reflected accurately in the preview image.

The best application of these controls is to greatly alter the densities and color balance of a scan. For example, if an image is too green, the Green exposure for a color positive can be decreased. Another way to counteract the overall green cast is to increase the Blue and Red exposures by equal amounts. Equal amounts of Blue and Red are equivalent to the same amount of Magenta, which is the complimentary or opposite color to Green, and will neutralize it.



Adding to any value when scanning positives will shift the color in that direction. When scanning negatives, adding to the value removes that color.

Automatic Exposure

The *autoexposure* operation is a powerful tool. All it requires of you is to make sure that the film is in place. After the scanner analyzes the entire area of the film, the resulting values will be used to center the contrast, brightness, and red, green and blue exposures. These values are never seen by the user since they are not reported to the user interface. The ranges provided for these parameters are based upon the results of the autoexposure operation.

It is strongly recommended that you allow the scanner to perform an autoexposure each time it previews a *new* slide since the autoexposure values stored for a badlyexposed slide will prevent a normally-exposed slide from being scanned properly. The *scanner* will store the results of this autoexposure calculation. As long as this film remains in the scanner, these autoexposure settings will remain relevant. As long as the scanner has power supplied, these temporary settings will remain active until the next autoexposure cycle.

An autoexposure operation can be performed at any time by clicking on the autoexposure button.

Autoexposure Button

After you insert a new slide into the scanner, the Autoexposure button, shown in Figure 13.1, provides a means of forcing an autoexposure operation to occur. Clicking on this button causes the scanner to read the entire film area and automatically make adjustments to the contrast, brightness, and color balance controls.



Figure 13.1 Autoexposure button.

Autoexposure Check Box

The status of the AUTO check box indicates whether or not the Nikon Scanner plug-in will perform an autoexposure before the next scan. If the Autoexposure button is not selected, no autoexposure operation will occur before the next scan.





Figure 13.2 AUTO check box in inactive state – Macintosh and Windows.

If the Autoexposure button is selected, an autoexposure operation will occur during the next scan, depending on the status of the Autoexposure check mark.

Autoexposure Check Mark

The presence of the Autoexposure check mark next to the AUTO check box, as seen in Figure 13.3, indicates that the plug-in believes that an autoexposure operation has already been performed on the film in the scanner and that it has all of the necessary data to execute the scan. *No* autoexposure operation will occur before the next scan.

🗸 🖂 Auto



Figure 13.3 Autoexposure check mark indicates no autoexposure operation will occur before the next scan – Macintosh and Windows.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 120

If the Autoexposure check mark is *not* present, as seen in Figure 13.4, this indicates that the plug-in does not have autoexposure information on the film presently in the scanner. If the check mark is not present and the Autoexposure check box is checked, an autoexposure operation *will* occur the before the next scan.

🛛 Auto 🗵 🖾 🖾

Figure 13.4 AUTO check box with no Autoexposure check mark indicates an autoexposure will occur before the next scan – Macintosh and Windows.

Brightness

The plug-in's Brightness controls allow you to adjust the overall brightness of the scan.

The correct brightness setting is critical to attaining high-quality scans. This is because the dynamic range of the film is greater than the dynamic range of the imaging system, requiring tonal compression in the software.

It should be noted that the brightness control also has a global effect across the entire scan. As with contrast, accurate local control can be attained by modifying the gamma curves, which will be discussed in the following chapters.

For example, increasing brightness is a good way of increasing the overall readability of an underexposed image. Essentially, it allows more light through the film. However, care must be exercised when increasing the brightness, especially if there are large bright areas (highlights) in the film. If strong highlights are present and the brightness control is boosted, these areas might *saturate* (overexpose, or 'wash out') reducing or eliminating detail in these areas.

Similarly, problems can occur if the brightness is reduced to provide increased definition in the highlights. This can cause information in the shadows to be further underexposed, causing a loss of detail in these regions.

The approximate results of changing the brightness can be seen while the preview image is on the screen. However, as you have learned here, care should be taken when performing these adjustments.

Adjusting Brightness

Macintosh: The Brightness button in the Scan dialog, the white circle with the small lines radiating from it, enables you to set the brightness value either through the associated Brightness value edit box or Brightness slider. The Brightness value edit box can be changed by clicking in the box and entering the new value. The Brightness value can range from 25 to 100 for Coolscan, and 0 to 255 for LS-3510AF. Clicking on the

Chapter 13

Contrast, Brightness and Color Balance

Brightness button without releasing it invokes the Brightness slider, as shown in Figure 13.5a, which allows you to drag a white slider control to select the brightness value.



Figure 13.5a The Brightness slider control in the Scan dialog – Macintosh.

Windows: The Brightness button in the Scan dialog, the circle with the small lines radiating from it, enables you to set the brightness value through the associated Brightness value edit box. The Brightness value edit box can be changed by clicking in the box and entering the new value. The Brightness value can range from 25 to 100 for Coolscan, and 0 to 255 for LS-3510AF.

O 58

Figure 13.5b The Brightness value edit box in the Scan dialog – Windows.

Contrast

The Nikon Scanner plug-in's contrast controls allow you to adjust the overall contrast of a scan. *Decreasing* the contrast is equivalent to darkening the highlights (lightest areas) at the same time as the shadows (darkest areas) are lightened. *Increasing* the contrast is equivalent to lightening the highlights while darkening the shadows.

Using the correct contrast setting when scanning is critical to achieving good results. This is because the *dynamic range* of film is greater than the dynamic range of the scanner. That is, the film contains a wider range of densities than is reproducable by the imaging system. This is the case for *any* digital imaging system.

It should be noted that the contrast control is a *global* tone control, meaning it will effect the entire scan, not just certain densities. Accurate *local* tone control, affecting only highlights, midtones, or shadows, can be achieved by modifying the *gamma curves*. Modifying the gamma curves is discussed in Chapters Twelve and Thirteen.

For example, suppose that the darkest subject in a photo is not very dark. Further, the lightest subject in the photo is not very bright. All of the information in this photo therefore resides in the midtones (the tonal values located approximately halfway between the highlights and shadows). One way to increase the readability of the image is to increase the contrast by darkening the shadows and lightening the highlights.

As an opposite example, suppose that the photograph has very high contrast, i.e. very bright highlights and dark shadows. If the contrast is reduced, it may be easier to reproduce later on paper.

The approximate results of changing the contrast can be seen while the preview image is on the screen. However, as you have learned here, care should be taken when performing these adjustments.

Adjusting Contrast

Macintosh: The plug-in's Contrast button, the half-black, half-white circle in the Scan dialog, allows you to set the contrast value either through the associated Contrast value edit box or Contrast slider control. The Contrast value edit box can be changed by clicking in the box, or Tabbing into it, and entering the new value. The contrast value can range from -15 to +15. Clicking on the Contrast button without releasing it invokes the Contrast slider, shown in Figure 13.6a, which allows you to drag a white slider control to select the contrast value.





The Brightness control, and Red, Green and Blue exposure controls function in the same manner as the Contrast control. You can enter a number directly into the value edit box associated with each control or you can use the associated slider controls. Again, to access the slider controls, click-and-hold the selected button down and move the mouse left and right to change the graphical position of the marker in the slider bar.

Windows: The plug-in's Contrast button, the half-black, half-white circle in the Scan dialog, allows you to set the contrast value through the associated Contrast value edit box. The Contrast value edit box can be changed by clicking in the box, or tabbing into it, and entering the new value. The contrast value can range from -15 to +15.

Figure 13.6b The Contrast value edit box in the Scan dialog – Windows.

The Brightness control, and Red, Green and Blue exposure controls function in the same manner as the Contrast control. Enter a number directly into the value edit box associated with each control.

Color Balance

The *primary colors* used in scanners are red, green and blue. The Nikon Scanner plug-in's Red, Green and Blue Exposure controls enable you to directly affect the exposure time of each of the red, green and blue cycles of a scan. Increasing the red exposure is equivalent to turning up the brightness of the red light without changing the green or blue brightness. In a scanner, however, the light is not actually turned up, but rather the exposure time is increased. The effect though, is similar.

Unlike the brightness or contrast, the color controls affect one primary color at a time. However, changing a color exposure affects the overall color balance. The reason is that when a single primary color is reduced, the two other primary colors appear to be increased. For example, if red is decreased, the image appears to become more cyan. Cyan is the combination of blue and green, and is the inverse color of red. Even though the blue and green exposure values were not changed, the image may appear as if these were changed.

Simulations of the results from modifying the color controls can be seen in the preview image as the controls are modified. There is a practical range of available simulation. Your changes may not be properly reflected in the preview if you are too close to either end of the adjustment range (25-100 for Coolscan, 0 to 255 for LS-3510AF or LS-3500).

Like the brightness control, the color controls affect the entire range of the color. For example, changing the red intensity lightens the red shadows, midtones and highlights by the same amount. More accurate local control can be achieved by modifying the gamma curves, discussed in Chapters Fifteen and Sixteen.

Care must be exercised when modifying colors, as undesirable results can occur. It should also be noted that the monitor calibration and ambient light in the room can affect your results. For example, if your monitor is calibrated such that what should be a neutral gray appears to be red, you might decrease the red exposure of a scan to attain gray on the monitor. Yet, this would be inaccurate if the printer was properly color calibrated. The resulting printout would be red 'starved,' causing the image to have a cyan cast.

Macintosh only: The inverse colors of red, green and blue are cyan, magenta and yellow, respectively. Consequently, the slider controls above each of the Red, Green and Blue Exposure buttons range from the inverse color to the primary color. For example, the red slider ranges from cyan to red. The green slider ranges from magenta to green, and the blue slider ranges from yellow to blue. Use of these controls is explained in the next sections.

Red Exposure

Macintosh: The Red Exposure button, the button labeled R in the Scan dialog, lets you select the amount of red exposure in the image either through the associated

Red value edit box or through the Red/Cyan slider. The Red value edit box can be changed by clicking in the box and entering the next value. The 'redness' values can range from 25 to 100 for Coolscan, and 0 to 255 for LS-3510AF. Clicking on the Red button without releasing it invokes the Red slider, as shown in Figure 13.7a, which allows you to drag a white slider control to select the red/cyan value.

2002 -53		1000
R	50	

Figure 13.7a The Red slider control in the Scan dialog – Macintosh.

Windows: The Red Exposure value edit box, adjacent to the R in the Scan dialog, lets you specify the amount of red exposure in the image. The Red value edit box can be changed by clicking in or tabbing into the box and entering the next value. The 'redness' values can range from 25 to 100 for Coolscan, and 0 to 255 for LS-3510AF. This action is shown in Figure 13.7b.



Figure 13.7b The Red value edit box in the Scan dialog – Windows.

Green Exposure

Macintosh: The Green Exposure button, the button labeled G in the Scan dialog, lets you select the amount of green exposure in the image either through the associated Green value edit box or through the Green/Magenta slider. The Green value edit box can be changed by clicking in the box and entering the next value. The 'greenness' values can range from 25 to 100 for Coolscan, and 0 to 255 for LS-3510AF. Clicking on the Green button without releasing it invokes the Green slider, as shown in Figure 13.8a, which allows you to drag a white slider control to select the green/magenta value.

15.11		100	1.973
	50		
الشار ا	50	-	

Figure 13.8a The Green slider control in the Scan dialog – Macintosh.

Windows: The Green Exposure value edit box, adjacent to the G in the Scan dialog, lets you specify the amount of green exposure in the image. The Green value edit box can be changed by clicking in or tabbing into the box and entering the next value.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 125

Contrast, Brightness and Color Balance

The 'greenness' values can range from 25 to 100 for Coolscan, and 0 to 255 for LS-3510AF. This action is shown in Figure 13.8b.



Figure 13.8b The Green value edit box in the Scan dialog – Windows.

Blue Exposure

Macintosh: The Blue Exposure button, the button labeled B in the Scan dialog, lets you select the amount of blue exposure in the image either through the associated Blue value edit box or through the Blue/Yellow slider. The Blue value edit box can be changed by clicking in the box and entering the next value. The 'blueness' values can range from 25 to 100 for Coolscan, and 0 to 255 for LS-3510AF. Clicking on the Blue button without releasing it invokes the Blue slider, as shown in Figure 13.9a, which allows you to drag a white slider control to select the blue/yellow value.



Figure 13.9a The Blue slider control in the Scan dialog – Macintosh.

Windows: The Blue Exposure value edit box, adjacent to the B in the Scan dialog, lets you specify the amount of blue exposure in the image. The Blue value edit box can be changed by clicking in or tabbing into the box and entering the next value. The 'blueness' values can range from 25 to 100 for Coolscan, and 0 to 255 for LS-3510AF. This action is shown in Figure 13.9b.



Figure 13.9b The Blue value edit box in the Scan dialog – Windows.

Focusing with Coolscan



This chapter applies to Coolscan scanners only. Please proceed to the next chapter if you are using a model LS-3510AF scanner, which features automatic focusing.

Focus Controls

Coolscan has a self-centering mechanism that automatically positions the film into the center of its focal region, also called its 'depth of field.' This applies to film in the film strip holder and film mounted in slide mounts. This assumes, however, that the film is mounted in the center of the mount's thickness. It also assumes that the slide mount thickness can be accommodated by the scanner.

Even with Coolscan's automatic focusing operations, it will sometimes be necessary to fine focus the scanner to achieve optimum results. The focus wheel on the front panel of the scanner allows you to fine focus in two different ways.

The first involves viewing an indicator during a scan. This is called the *Metered Focus* method. As Coolscan examines the film, you can adjust the focus wheel on the front of the scanner. The object is to adjust the focus until the meter shows the maximum possible level. A solid line indicates the highest meter level for that focus session. At this point, the scanner is focused. No image is displayed during this focus operation.

The second focusing technique, called *Visual Focus*, involves positioning the cursor over the preview window, at which point a magnifying glass cursor appears. By positioning this cursor over the region of interest and clicking the mouse button Coolscan will perform a constant high-resolution scan in the area you have selected. As you change the focus control, you can see the results in the preview window. You can easily determine the proper focus by selecting an area that contains high contrast, such as the edge of an object in your slide. Clicking the STOP button ends the focus session.

To realize the maximum optical definition Coolscan is capable of, always insert the film into the scanner with its emulsion side facing upwards.

Selecting the Focus Method (Macintosh only)

The focus method is specified in the Tools dialog. To access the Tools dialog, click on the Tools button (the button with the little wrench, screwdriver, and pliers) in the Main Scan dialog. The state of the SCANNING FOCUS selection box in this dialog determines the currently active focusing method. The default setting is the Metered Focus method, indicated by the lack of a check mark in the SCANNING FOCUS check box. Conversely, the Visual Focus method is indicated by having a check mark in the SCANNING FOCUS check box.

Metered Focus Method

Click on the FOCUS button in the Scan dialog, as seen in Figure 14.1. This initiates the Metered Focus method. This will prompt the appearance of the Focus Level Meter.



Figure 14.1 The FOCUS button – Macintosh and Windows.

Focus Level Meter

The Focus Level Meter dialog, seen in Figure 14.2, should now appear on your screen. You can now adjust the focus wheel on the front of the scanner. As the wheel is moved you can see the resulting changes to the meter on your screen. As Coolscan repetitively scans the selected spot, the Focus Level Meter's movements indicate the results of a focus measure. The meter value, indicated by the black bar, indicates the sharpness of focus. The optimal focus is achieved by positioning the meter indicator as far to the right as possible.

Remember, the best focus that Coolscan can achieve is dependent on the sharpness of the image. Some images may not contain sharp details to focus on. In such cases, focus on the grain of the film using the Visual Focus method.



Figure 14.2 The Focus Level Meter dialog.

A summary of the Metered Focus method is illustrated in Figure 14.3a for Macintosh and Figure 14.3b under Windows.



Figure 14.3a (Macintosh) The Scan dialog in the Metered Focus mode. The user clicks on the Focus button. The cursor is then placed in the preview window and clicked on the area to be focused on. A meter bar is displayed allowing the user to adjust the focus until the maximum level is indicated.



Figure 14.3b (Windows) The Scan dialog in the Metered Focus mode. The user clicks on the Focus button. The cursor is then placed in the preview window and clicked on the area to be focused on. A meter bar is displayed allowing the user to adjust the focus until the maximum level is indicated.

Clicking the DONE button exits the focus operation.

Visual Focus Method

Macintosh: First, invoke the preview scan. Next, click on the FOCUS button in the Scan dialog, as seen in Figure 14.1. If the Focus Level Meter appears, you are in the wrong focus mode for this method. Go back to the Tools dialog and make sure that the SCANNING FOCUS check box is checked.

The Visual Focus method enables you to position a magnifying cursor over a region of interest within the preview window. Position the cursor to indicate the desired area for focusing, then click to set the current position. This will cause a maximum zoom setting to be sent to the scanner and a region of the film surrounding the position of the magnifying cursor will be repetitively scanned. This region will then fill the preview window. During the focus operation, the FOCUS button changes to a STOP button. Clicking on the STOP button ends the Visual Focus operation.

The Scan dialog box is shown in Figure 14.4a, during a Visual Focus operation.



Figure 14.4a The Scan dialog in Visual Focus mode – Macintosh. The user clicks on the Focus button, then positions the magnifying cursor over the region of interest and clicks. The film is repetitively scanned with a highly magnified scan and displayed in the preview window, allowing the user to fine focus.

Windows: First, invoke the preview scan. Next, while holding down the Control key, click on the Focus button in the Scan dialog, as seen in Figure 14.1. During the focus operation, the Focus button changes to a STOP button.

The Visual Focus method enables you to position a magnifying cursor over a region of interest within the preview window. Position the cursor to indicate the desired area for focusing, then click to set the current position. This will cause a maximum zoom setting to be sent to the scanner and a region of the film surrounding the position of the magnifying cursor will be repetitively scanned. This region will then

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 130
fill the preview window. Next, position the focus wheel to achieve the best sharpness. You must click the CANCEL button to stop the Visual Focus scanning. Clicking on the STOP button ends the Visual Focus operation.

The Scan dialog box is shown in Figure 14.4b, during a Visual Focus operation.

-	Nikas S	Scenner Centrol	
H		Non Server Colorul Version 4.8 (9,40 8-31,8-31,8-33	080,83
1	[Law of]	1	SCAN LINE
'n	m Tape: B & W Filler Color	CONTRACTOR OF TAXABLE	
	20-20 Postine Elizaber Elizabe		
Ē	iet Delants	Sec. 1	120
ū	ta Dalada		
5	ang Sattinga	01,2002 0190,740	12007-2001
1	oud Settings 54ap	Preylew Eject Side	ancel Scan

Figure 14.4b The Scan dialog in Visual Focus mode – Windows. While holding down the Control key, the user clicks on the Focus button, then positions the magnifying cursor over the region of interest and clicks. The film is repetitively scanned with a highly magnified scan and displayed in the preview window, allowing the user to fine focus.

 \land

A blurry or 'soft' original image cannot be made sharper using the focus control. In fact, out of focus images are much harder to focus *on*. Use the Visual Focus method to focus on the film grain.

Focusing with Coolscan

Chapter 14

Page 132

Gamma Curve Controls

Gamma Curve Controls

Gamma is the measure of contrast in photographic images. For the most accurate control of the red, green, and blue exposures associated with the scanner, the Nikon Scanner plug-in features adjustable *gamma curves*. Editing the gamma curves is accomplished in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, which is described in Chapter Sixteen.

Gamma Curve Editor Button

The Gamma Curve Editor dialog is accessed by clicking the Gamma Curve Editor button in the Scan dialog, shown in Figure 15.1. Once in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog you can modify the gamma curves. When you exit from the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, you return to the Scan dialog.

1	
1	
7	
_	

Figure 15.1 The Gamma Curve Editor button.

Custom Check Box

For the modified gamma curves to be used, they must first be downloaded to the scanner. The gamma curves will be sent to the scanner before the next scan occurs if the CUSTOM check box in the Scan dialog is checked. When checked, clicking on this box will disable this function and remove the check mark.

🖂 Custom

🛛 Custom

Figure 15.2 The CUSTOM check box in active state – Macintosh and Windows.

Scanner Gamma Curves

General: The scanner uses a set of gamma curves to adjust the color data acquired from the film, before sending the data to the computer. The scanner is initialized with a set of default gamma curves. These gamma curves can be changed by sending new gamma curves to the scanner. These new gamma curves are called *Custom* curves.

Just one set of gamma curves can reside in the scanner at a time. If either a color

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

positive or negative film type is selected, there are four gamma curves, represented by the *Red, Green, Blue* and *Master* curves. If either a black and white positive or negative film type is selected, there is only one gamma curve, represented by the *Monochrome* curve.

If the gamma curves are modified in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, and if the Gamma Curve Editor dialog is quit using the DONE button (as opposed to the CANCEL button), the Nikon Scanner plug-in anticipates that you wish to download these new curves to the scanner before the next scan. The plug-in will indicate to you that it will send these curves to the scanner before the next scan by placing a check in the CUSTOM check box.

Macintosh: The plug-in remembers the state of custom gamma curves. When you exit the plug-in, these curves will be saved in the preferences file. The next time the plug-in is run, these custom curves will be loaded.

Note that you can return to the factory default gamma settings at any time by deleting the plug-in preferences file, which is located in the preferences folder.

Windows: Note that you can return to the factory default gamma settings at any time by deleting the plug-in's NKNCTRL.INI file, which is located in the "Nikon" directory.

Changing Your Mind

If you decide that you don't want to send new gamma curves to the scanner, you can abort the operation by clicking in the CUSTOM check box, removing the check mark.

Similarly, if the plug-in has custom gamma curves available, you can reselect these after deselecting them. This is accomplished by clicking in the CUSTOM check box after the check was removed. For example, suppose that you have changed the gamma curves and quit the Gamma Curve Editor dialog by clicking on DONE. This will cause the CUSTOM check box to be checked. You can un-check this box again by clicking on it. This check box can be toggled as many times as is necessary. The custom curves will not be altered, just switched on or off.

The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog

The Gamma Curve Editor dialogs, seen in Figures 16.1a, 16.1b, 16.2a and 16.2b, provide precise controls for manipulating the gamma curves associated with the scanner.



Figure 16.1a The large Gamma Curve Editor dialog – Macintosh.



Figure 16.1b The large Gamma Curve Editor dialog – Windows.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

The Gamma Curve Editor dialog consists of the preview window, curve window, a set of general control buttons, curve manipulation buttons, and color buttons.



Figure 16.2a The small Gamma Curve Editor dialog - Macintosh.



Figure 16.2b The small Gamma Curve Editor dialog – Windows.

The Interactive Help Button (Macintosh only)

If at any time you require help in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, you can click on the INTERACTIVE HELP button, seen in the top portion of Figure 16.3, to view short help messages relevant to each control. The messages will appear in a help message box in the space normally occupied by the INTERACTIVE HELP button. For example, if the

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

arrow cursor is placed over the DISK SPACE status message in the Scan dialog, the message box would appear as seen in the bottom portion of Figure 16.3.

If enabled, the help messages can be disabled by clicking in the help message box.

э. 	Interactive Help	2
This is have be used to	much dick space is available on the volume that wi neve the file as it is being scanned.	1

Figure 16.3 The INTERACTIVE HELP button, also the help message box.

Gamma Curves

Selecting the proper gamma curve(s) is essential to high-quality scanning. In many cases, the factory default gamma curves will yield excellent results. These default gamma curves are well suited to the widest variety of film possible. However, under certain circumstances, you may want to use other gamma curves.

Gamma curves can be generated inside the Nikon Scanner plug-in or in several other graphics imaging applications. The plug-in can read any Adobe Photoshop gamma curves, saved from the Curves dialog in Photoshop.

Gamma curves in the scanner include the individual color gamma curves, the Monochrome gamma curve, and the Master gamma curve. When a color film type is selected, the Red, Green and Blue (RGB) gamma curves are used in conjunction with the Master gamma curve. When a black and white film type is selected, the Monochrome curve is used in conjunction with the Master gamma curve.

Gamma curves are loaded by the scanner and applied to the scan data before the final data is sent to the computer.

Custom and Default Gamma Curves

Macintosh: There are four different sets of gamma curves available to you in the Nikon Scanner plug-in. These are the *factory default gamma curves*, the *default custom gamma curves*, the default custom gamma curves embedded in the plug-in's default settings files, and the custom gamma curve files found in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog. The factory default gamma curves *cannot* be modified, while the latter three types can.

Windows: There are two different sets of gamma curves available to you in the Nikon Scanner plug-in. These are the *factory default gamma curves* and the *custom*

gamma curves, found in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog. The factory default gamma curves *cannot* be modified, while the custom curves can.

Where Gamma Curves Reside (Macintosh only)

The gamma curves reside in several locations. These include the factory default gamma curves embedded in the plug-in's preferences file, the default custom gamma curves embedded in the plug-in's preferences file, the custom gamma curves embedded in the plug-in's settings files, and the custom gamma curves stored on disk as gamma files.

A data flow diagram is presented in Figure 16.4. The goal is to use the best gamma curves available to the scanner for a particular image. As you can see, there are several ways to load gamma curves into the scanner via the Nikon Scanner plug-in.



Figure 16.4 The gamma curve data flow diagram – Macintosh.

Sending Gamma Tables to the Scanner

The factory default gamma curves reside in the scanner, so it is not necessary to send them to the scanner. Conversely, default custom gamma curves or gamma 'tables' must be sent to the scanner if they are to be utilized.

The important point to understand is that the gamma curves sent to the scanner are the ones currently active in the Scan dialog. These might be the factory default curves which are loaded into the Nikon Scanner plug-in at start-up, the default custom curves, the custom curves embedded in the plug-in's settings files, or curves created in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog.

Custom Check Box

The CUSTOM check box in the Scan dialog can be clicked on or off at any time. If the CUSTOM box is checked, the default custom gamma curves are sent to the scanner before a scan is initiated. The custom curves will only be sent to the scanner if the CUSTOM check box is checked in the Scan dialog.

If you do not want to use the default custom gamma curves, the CUSTOM check box should be un-checked. No custom curves are sent to the scanner if the CUSTOM check box is un-checked. Instead, the scanner will use its factory default gamma curve settings.

Factory Default Gamma Curves

Nikon has included predetermined default gamma curves, which are resident in the Nikon scanner's ROM. Note that the factory default gamma curves are permanent, and there is no way to change their value.

Default Settings (Macintosh only)

The *default settings* are loaded by the plug-in whenever it is launched, or any time the RESET button in the Scan dialog is selected. The default settings, however, should not be confused with the *factory default settings*. The default settings reside in the Nikon Scanner plug-in's preferences file.

If the plug-in does not find a preferences file upon start-up, which contains the default settings, it creates a preferences file and loads it with the factory default settings. So, in this scenario, the default settings would be identical to the factory default settings.

At any time, you can save the custom gamma curves currently in the Scan dialog as the default custom gamma curves in the default settings file. This is accomplished by first clicking the SET DEFAULTS button in the Scan dialog. The custom gamma curves in the Scan dialog will be written into the preferences file, overwriting the current default gamma curves in the default settings file. Note, however, that saving these custom curves to the default settings file will also save the settings of the other parameters in the Scan dialog, such as film type.

Using the default settings can often save time, as they can be applied repeatedly in order to attain consistent results across many different images. To load the default settings, click the RESET button in the Scan dialog. This should not be confused with the RESET button found in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog.

To restore the original factory default settings to the preferences file, delete the preferences file and restart the plug-in.

Load Settings and Save Settings

As you learned in the previous section, the default settings file contains a complete set of default custom gamma curves. The default settings file also contains information on the film type, crop rectangle, and other parameters.

The Nikon Scanner plug-in also features the ability to save and recall additional sets of default settings at any time through the SAVE SETTINGS and LOAD SETTINGS buttons in the Scan dialog. In both cases, a standard file dialog will appear requesting the name and location pertaining to the file. These dialogs are shown in Figures 16.5a, 16.5b, 16.6a and 16.6b for Macintosh and Windows.



Figure 16.5a The LOAD SETTINGS dialog – Macintosh.

File Mane:	Directories:	OK.
	Det Dape Dameted	Cancel
List Files of Type:	Driver:	10.61
Control Settings	1 iiil c nkan	*

Figure 16.5b The LOAD SETTINGS dialog - Windows.

The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog

Save Setti	ngs
🕾 Nikon Control 🔻	
 Nikon Control Nikon Scanner 4.0 Scan #1 	↔ Applications Eject Desktop
Save Settings as: Nikon Scanner Settings	Save

Figure 16.6a The SAVE SETTINGS dialog - Macintosh.

File Name:	Directories:	OK.
	Det Depr Damoried	Cancel
Save File as Lype:	Driver:	30.63
Control Settings	 Sill c: eikan 	*

Figure 16.6b The SAVE SETTINGS dialog - Windows.

Again, the gamma curves embedded in any of these settings files become the new *default custom gamma curves*, until you select another settings file or the factory default settings. Note, however, that clicking the LOAD SETTINGS button does *not* check the CUSTOM check box in the Scan dialog. Therefore, even though a set of default custom gamma curves are read into the plug-in, these will *not* be sent to the scanner unless the CUSTOM check box is checked.

Loading Curves from Gamma Files

Like settings files, gamma curves can be created and saved as gamma curve files in your imaging application, e.g. Photoshop, and loaded back into the Nikon Scanner plug-in through the Gamma Curve Editor dialog.

Entering the Gamma Editor

Clicking the GAMMA EDITOR button in the Scan dialog opens the Gamma Curve Editor dialog.

Loading the Factory Default Gamma Curves

If you have sent custom gamma curves to the scanner during a scanning session, the active gamma curves were overwritten. To reload the default gamma curves back into the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, simply click the SCANNER GAMMA button.

If the Option key *(Macintosh)* or Control key *(Windows)* is held down while the SCANNER GAMMA button is clicked, as shown in Figure 16.7a for Macintosh and Figure 16.7b for Windows, all three (R,G,B) curves will be read from the scanner. Similarly, if the Master curve is active when the SCANNER GAMMA button is clicked, all of the curves will be read from the scanner.

Scanner Gamma	aptian

Figure 16.7a Reading gamma curves from the scanner, key command – Macintosh.

<u>S</u> canner Gamma	ctri
<u>s</u> cannel Gaillilla	ctrl

Figure 16.7b Reading gamma curves from the scanner, key command – Windows.

Loading Custom Gamma Curves (Macintosh only)

Custom gamma curves created in your imaging application can be loaded by clicking on the LOAD button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog. Once clicked, a file dialog will be presented prompting you for the location and name of the desired gamma file, as shown in Figure 16.8.

Chapter 16

The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog





Custom gamma curves can be created in Photoshop only by saving them from the "Curves" dialog, *not* from "Levels" or other dialogs. Only curves stored as coefficients for a B-spline curve generator can be loaded by the plug-in. Photoshop stores curves from the Curves dialog using this method. Other methods, such as bitmap, are not compatible.

If the Option key is held down while the LOAD button is clicked, as shown in Figure 16.9, only the Master curve will be loaded.

aptian

Figure 16.9 The LOAD gamma curve(s) button/keystroke – Macintosh.

Custom gamma curves can also be loaded from a settings file by clicking on the LOAD SETTINGS button in the Scan dialog.

Resetting the Gamma Curves

When working in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, it is possible to reset the gamma curves to their original values by clicking on the RESET button, shown in Figure 16.10. The original values are those in effect at the time that the Gamma Curve Editor dialog is invoked. This should not be confused with the RESET button found in the Scan dialog.

If the Option key *(Macintosh)* or Control key *(Windows)* is held down while the RESET button is clicked, all of the curves will be reset.



Figure 16.10 The RESET gamma curve(s) button – Macintosh and Windows.

Viewing the Gamma Curves

The gamma curves consist of *primary* and *master* curves. If a color film type is selected, the primary curves are Red, Green and Blue (RGB). If a black and white film type is selected, the primary curve is Monochrome. In either case, a Master curve is present. Gamma curves sent to the scanner always consist of primary and master curves.

Each of the Red, Green and Blue gamma curves is unique. The Master curve provides a simple means of adjusting all of the primary curves equally. Thus, you do not have to adjust each primary curve individually, as illustrated in Figure 16.11.



Figure 16.11 The resulting gamma curves sent to the scanner are a combination of the primary (red/cyan, green/magenta, blue/yellow) gamma curves and the Master curve.

Red/Cyan, Green/Magenta and Blue/Yellow (RGB) Gamma Curves

The Red/Cyan, Green/Magenta and Blue/Yellow gamma curves can be viewed individually by clicking on their respective buttons in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog. The appropriate gamma curve is then displayed in the curve window. It remains active until another gamma curve button is selected. A typical curve is shown in Figure 16.12, in this case the Red/Cyan gamma curve.



Figure 16.12 The Red/Cyan gamma curve shown graphically in the curve window.

This two-dimensional graph represents the *input/output transfer function*. The horizontal axis represents the input, or original gamma levels. The vertical axis represents the output, or new gamma levels. The bottom of the gamma curve represents the shadow values in an image. The middle area represents the midtone values, and the top of the curve represents the highlight values in an image.

The input and output values on 8-bit scanner models range from 0 to 255. The input values on 12-bit scanner models range from 0 to 4095, while the output values are still limited to the range of 0 to 255.

A diagonal line connecting the lower-left and upper-right corners would represent a linear transfer function. For example, an input value of 100 would produce an output value of 100. Similarly, a 200 input would produce a 200 output, and so on. A horizontal line running along the bottom border would map all inputs into a zero output, consequently creating a black image.

Monochrome Gamma Curve

The Monochrome gamma curve is viewed by clicking on the Monochrome button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, shown in Figure 16.13. The Monochrome curve is identical to the color curves, but is active only when a Monochrome film type is selected. The resultant Monochrome gamma curve sent to the scanner is the combina-

The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog

Chapter 16

tion of the Monochrome primary gamma curve and the Master curve.



Figure 16.13 The Monochrome gamma curve button.

Master Gamma Curve

The Master gamma curve is viewed by clicking on the Master curve button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, shown in Figure 16.14. This control is only active when a color film type is selected in the Scan dialog. Adjustments to the Master curve are applied to all of the primary curves before they are sent to the scanner, as shown in Figure 16.11. For example, raising the brightness of the Master gamma curve would raise the brightness of the red, green and blue content in the image. The Master curve is initialized as a diagonal linear function representing a 1:1 input/output relationship.



Figure 16.14 The Master gamma curve button.

Red, Green, and Blue (RGB) Gamma Curves

At times it is desirable to view all of the gamma curves simultaneously. These include the Master curve, and the R, G, and B primary gamma curves. This is accomplished by clicking and holding the RGB button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, shown in Figure 16.15. As long as the button is held down, all of the curves will be displayed. A typical set of curves is shown in Figure 16.16.

This control is only active when a color film type is selected in the Scan dialog.



Figure 16.15 The RGB gamma curve button.

Chapter 16

The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog



Figure 16.16 Display of the R,G,B and Master gamma curves.

Viewing the Histogram

At times it may be useful to view the *histogram* of the preview image. A histogram is the statistical representation of the densities in an image. This is accomplished by clicking and holding the Histogram button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, shown in Figure 16.17. As long as the button is held down, the histogram will be displayed. A typical histogram is displayed in Figure 16.18.

This control is active when either a monochrome or color film type is selected in the Scan dialog. The histogram is viewable only while the mouse button is held down.



Figure 16.17 The Histogram button.

Chapter 16

The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog



Figure 16.18 The histogram of a preview image.

The histogram's horizontal axis represents the pixel intensity, the high density (darker) values appearing on the left and the low density (lighter) values on the right. The vertical axis represents a scaled version of the number of occurrences of each pixel value. The histogram therefore represents a graphical view of the brightness of an image.

Adjusting the Preview Image

In order to modify the gamma curves accurately and effectively, it is necessary to understand the nature of the film being scanned. It is possible with the Nikon Scanner plug-in to perform gradation correction of the image data in the preview window. This involves setting *control points* on the gamma curves, selecting the *white point* and *black point*, and performing *automatic contrast adjustment*.

Setting Control Points on the Gamma Curves

In Figure 16.20, a control point is seen superimposed on the Master gamma curve. This control point provides a means to relate densities in the preview window to a point on the Master gamma curve. All pixels in the preview window have colors that correspond to points on the Master gamma curve. By clicking the Marker button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, shown in Figure 16.19, then placing the mouse over the preview image, an arrow cursor will appear.





Figure 16.19 The gamma curve Marker button – Macintosh and Windows.

As you move the cursor across the preview image, a temporary marker is displayed on the active gamma curve and the R,G,B component values of the pixels are displayed

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners



in a text message beneath the gamma curve window. If the mouse is clicked, a control point is placed on the gamma curve for reference. This is illustrated in Figure 16.20.

Color Components I Marker 1001 Selected Pixel Location of



This process can be repeated to place additional control points on the Master gamma curve for reference. For example, you could select a point in the shadows, in the midtones, and in the highlights, thus leaving three reference markers on the gamma curve.

Setting the Black Point

The Black Point represents the darkest point in the image.

The Black Point is typically selected such that all values in the image that are darker than this point can be 'mapped,' or converted to black without disrupting the quality of the image. For example, suppose that a black area in the image is represented by a 10 in the scanned data. Values 0–9 would be wasted since no pixel in the image would have any value lower than 10, unless there are no blacks in the original image. By setting the Black Point to 10, a re-mapping of the data would occur such that a value of 10 from the scanner would consequently produce a 0.

When the Black Point is selected, the active gamma curve is automatically adjusted to reflect this selection. For example, suppose that the original Master curve was a diagonal linear 1:1 mapping and the Black Point selected corresponded to the Black Point in the top graph in Figure 16.21. The resulting Master curve would be changed as seen in the bottom graph in Figure 16.21.

The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog

Chapter 16

(a) The original 1.1 Master Curve	
(a) The original TTT master Carte	
	<i></i>
	/
Master Curve —	
	/
	-+
	II- + + - + - + / - + - + - + - + - + - + - + - + - + -
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Dlash Daint Maulson	
Diack Politi Marker	→ 20
	[
(b) The resulting Master Curve	
(b) The resulting Master Curve	
(b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point	
(b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point	
(b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point	
(b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point	
(b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point	
(b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point	
(b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point Master Curve ————————————————————————————————————	
(b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point Master Curve ————————————————————————————————————	
(b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point Master Curve ————————————————————————————————————	
(b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point Master Curve ————————————————————————————————————	
(b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point Master Curve ————————————————————————————————————	
 (b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point Master Curve ——— Black Point 	
 (b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point Master Curve	
 (b) The resulting Master Curve after setting the Black Point Master Curve ————————————————————————————————————	

Figure 16.21 Setting the Black Point.

This tool can be used with any gamma curve, although it is most effective when used with the Master gamma curve.

After the Black Point button is clicked, shown in Figure 16.22, position the mouse cursor over the image in the preview window and select a pixel value to be used as the darkest point in the image. This will be the Black Point, or reference point for darkness. In addition, the pixel's location and RGB component values will be displayed, as described in the "Marker Button" section of this manual.

1	1
---	---

Figure 16.22 The Black Point button – Macintosh and Windows.

When you decide on the pixel you want to use as the image's Black Point, clicking the mouse forces the gamma curves to use this value as the minimum value in the preview window. Any pixels darker than the black point will be set to the minimum value. The result of this new curve is approximated in the preview window.

Setting the White Point

The White Point represents the lightest point in the image, thus serving the reverse function of the Black Point. Like the Black Point, selection of a White Point

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

reduces the tonal range of the image data so as not to waste any of its tonal range on light areas that are not actually present in the film.

The White Point is typically selected such that all values in the image that are lighter than this point can be 'mapped,' or converted to white without disrupting the quality of the image.

Selection of the White Point and Black Point is illustrated in the Master curve of Figure 16.23. Note that all pixels in the image darker than the Black Point will be mapped to Black, while all points lighter than the White Point will be mapped to white.



Figure 16.23 The White and Black Point set in the Master curve.

When the White Point is selected, the active gamma curve is automatically adjusted to reflect the Black Point.

After the White Point button is clicked, shown in Figure 16.24, position the mouse cursor over the image in the preview window and select a pixel value to be used as the lightest point in the image. This will be the White Point, or reference point for darkness. In addition, the pixel's location and RGB component values will be displayed as described in the Marker button section.





Figure 16.24 The White Point button – Macintosh and Windows.

When you decide on the pixel value you want to use as the image's White Point, clicking the mouse forces the gamma curves to use this value as the minimum value in the preview window. Any pixels lighter than the White Point will be set to the minimum value. The result of this new curve is approximated in the preview window.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

This tool can be used with any gamma curve, although it is most effective when used with the Master gamma curve.

Automatic Contrast Adjustment (Automatic Black Point and White Point Selection)

If you prefer, the Nikon Scanner plug-in is capable of selecting optimal Monochrome Points for you. The *automatic contrast adjustment* control in the plug-in will usually produce excellent results. Simply click the Contrast Adjust button, shown in Figure 16.25, in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog. The image data within the crop rectangle is analyzed to produce the Black Point and White Point. The active gamma curves will automatically be modified.



Figure 16.25 The Contrast Adjust button.

Modifying the Gamma Curves

Modifying the gamma curves is relatively easy, but modifying them *correctly* is not. While the effects of altering the Master curve are relatively straightforward, the relationships between the Red/Cyan, Green/Magenta and Blue/Yellow gamma curves are far more complex, and the result more difficult to predict.

The gamma curves can be modified manually or automatically. The manual mode involves selecting and moving points on the gamma curves with the mouse, thereby graphically reshaping the curve.

A semi-automated technique involves the White Point and Black Point selection, which was discussed in a previous section. This will simplify the process somewhat. It is also possible to use control points to assist in correctly adjusting the gamma curves. As you learned in the preceding section, the automatic contrast adjustment control is a fully automated technique for selecting the image's Black Point and White Point.

Graphically Altering a Gamma Curve

The individual gamma curves in the gamma curve window can be manually altered by clicking the mouse at points on the gamma curve and dragging, thus reshaping the curve. The primary gamma curves are accessed by clicking on the appropriate button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog:

Macintosh:

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Red/Cyan gamma curve button: the top-most button in the center of the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, allows adjustment of the red-to-cyan gamma curve.

The Green/Magenta gamma curve button: immediately below the Red/Cyan button, allows adjustment of the green-to-magenta gamma curve.

The Blue/Yellow gamma curve button: immediately below the Green/Magenta button, allows adjustment of the blue-to-yellow gamma curve.

Windows:

Red gamma curve button: the R button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, allows adjustment of the red gamma curve.

Green gamma curve button: the G button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, allows adjustment of the green gamma curve.

Blue gamma curve button: the B button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, allows adjustment of the blue gamma curve.

These controls are only active when a color film type is selected in the Scan dialog.

You will notice that changes to the shape of the gamma curves will cause corresponding changes to the tonal quality of the image, as seen in the adjacent image preview window. As the curved is altered, a curve-fitting software algorithm redraws the new curve.

As mentioned earlier, the bottom portion of the gamma curve corresponds to the image's shadow areas. The middle portion corresponds to the image's midtones, and the top portion to the highlights. An example is shown in Figure 16.26, in which the original gamma curve is shown as the lighter line. Two marker points were placed on this gamma curve, one in the shadows region of the curve and one in the highlights region of the curve. By moving the highlight marker to the right and the shadow marker up and to the left, the gamma curve is redrawn and shown as the darker curve.

The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog

Chapter 16



Figure 16.26 Graphically altering a gamma curve.

This technique, while providing the finest control over the image, will require a good deal of trial and error to achieve the best results. Depending on how critical your results are and how much time you have to achieve them, you may want to rely on the scanner's automated gamma controls instead.

Forcing a Gamma Curve to Linear

In some cases, a linear gamma curve offers a better starting point for adjustments than the default gamma curve. Clicking the Force Linear button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, shown in Figure 16.27, 'forces' whichever gamma curve is active to a linear, or 1:1 state.

		1
	1	
	/	
/		

Figure 16.27 The Force Linear button.

Exiting the Gamma Curve Editor Dialog

There are two ways to exit the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, thereby returning control to the Scan dialog. These are CANCEL and DONE. In short, the difference between the two is that CANCEL does not save the results from the current gamma curve editing session, while DONE does. In addition, DONE assumes that you want the new gamma curves to be sent to the scanner as custom gamma curves.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Chapter 16

Exiting Without Saving Results of the Editing Session

Often the results of a gamma curve editing session are instructional, yet undesirable. When this is the case, you will want to discard these resulting curves, as opposed to saving them. This is easily accomplished by clicking on the CANCEL button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog, seen in Figure 16.28. No changes will then be recorded. The next time that the Gamma Curve Editor dialog is invoked, the gamma curves will be identical to the curves opened before the last session.



Figure 16.28 The CANCEL button, for saving current gamma curves – Macintosh and Windows.

Exiting and Saving Results of the Editing Session

You can exit the Gamma Curve Editor dialog while also sending the various gamma curves to the scanner before the next scan. This is accomplished by clicking on the DONE button, shown in Figure 16.29. No data is sent to the scanner from the Gamma Curve Editor dialog *after* DONE is clicked. Instead, the CUSTOM check box found in the Scan dialog box is checked (see Chapter Fifteen). If the CUSTOM box remains checked, the curves generated within the Gamma Curve Editor will be sent to the scanner. If the check box is clicked, the check mark will disappear and the curves generated within the Gamma Curve Editor to the scanner.

Done

Done

Figure 16.29 The DONE button in the Gamma Curve Editor dialog – Macintosh and Windows.

The Gamma Curve Editor Dialog

Chapter 16

Page 156

Nikon Control Application Software – Macintosh

Nikon Control is a simple to use, yet effective scanning application providing complete control of Nikon scanners. While it is a stand-alone program, it utilizes the Nikon Scanner plug-in, just like other imaging applications, such as Photoshop.

The Nikon Control application is menu driven, and utilizes standard file dialogs. Among its features, Nikon Control allows you to scan and save images, and zoom-in on and zoom-out of areas of interest within scanned images. Complete scanning control is provided via the Nikon Scanner plug-in, described in detail in this manual.

Launching Nikon Control

The Nikon Control application is launched by double clicking on its icon, shown in Figure 17.1.



Figure 17.1 Launching Nikon Control.

Scan Windows

Nikon Control is based on three elements: a simple menu system, the Nikon Scanner plug-in, and *scan windows*. The scan windows are standard resizeable, scrollable document windows. A scan window will contain a full-crop image upon performing a scan. A typical scan window is shown in Figure 17.2.

Nikon Control Application Software - Macintosh

Chapter 17



Figure 17.2 A typical scan window.

Status Bar

The Status bar shows you information about the image currently displayed. The information is the Height and Width (always in pixels) and the resolution and size of the file.

The Main Menu

The Nikon Control Main menu, shown in Figure 17.3, consists of the Apple menu, the File menu and the Edit menu.

🗯 File Edit

Figure 17.3 The Nikon Control Main menu.

The Apple Menu

The Apple menu contains the ABOUT NIKON CONTROL menu item, and items in your Apple Menu Items folder (RAM) or Desk Accessories (System 6), as seen in Figure 17.4.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Nikon Control Application Software – Macintosh



Figure 17.4 The Apple menu.

Chapter 17

When selected, the ABOUT NIKON CONTROL dialog provides pertinent information regarding the Nikon Control application and the Nikon Scanner plug-in, as shown in Figure 17.5.



Figure 17.5 The ABOUT NIKON CONTROL dialog.

The File Menu

The FILE menu, seen in Figure 17.6, contains commands to perform scans, close scan windows, save new scans to a disk file, eject the film from the scanner, and quit the application.

Nikon Control Application Software – Macintosh

Chapter 17

É	File & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & &	₩N
	Elose Save As	*W *S
	Eject	ЖE
	Quit	жQ

Figure 17.6 The FILE menu.

New Scan

The Nikon Scanner plug-in's Scan dialog will appear when Nikon Control is first launched. The Command "**¢**" – "N" keyboard shortcut will invoke the NEW SCAN command. The plug-in's Scan dialog is shown in Figure 17.7.

the Space (SC-Fill)	
This is how block disk space is available on the volume that will (0.0) to used to save the file of it is being several.	(648,8
CINCAR	A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL PROPERTY AND A
Film Type: Color Positive 💌	A C C REAL REAL
Under R Inches + CAL	m m alla
Foundation Inches T	Co Pass
Ginal Part 17 Binets (Said) -	1000
Finds field	
Pritch: 6 Scan Res: 450 BP1	
Lock: Hspect Prie Size: 820.1 KB	
Interview Index	ALC: NO.
Set Defaults Custom 1236	and the second
Reset V C Ruto C 0 (0.452)	1848,452
Saze Settings 50	
Load Settings Form	
TOLOS SU	
3 50 December 1	First Cancel Score

Figure 17.7 The Nikon Scanner plug-in's Scan dialog.

Close

A scan window can be closed by selecting the FILE menu's CLOSE command, or by clicking the standard close box in the upper-left corner of the window. If the image in the window resulted from a new scan and has not been saved to disk, a query dialog,

Page 160

shown in Figure 17.8, will appear. The Command "**₲**" –"W" keyboard shortcut will also invoke the CLOSE command.



Figure 17.8 Closing or saving a scanned image dialog.

Save As...

Chapter 17

The SAVE As... command causes the image in the active scan window to be saved as a file. The Save As... dialog appears, prompting you to enter a file name and select a file format. PICT and TIFF 5.0 formats are supported, which will allow you to import images created with your scanner to a wide variety of imaging and page layout software packages. The Save As... dialog is shown in Figure 17.9.

🕾 Nikon Control 🔻]
 ♠ Nikon Control □ Nikon Scanner 4.0 	OP C Application: Eject Desktop
Save the file as: Untitled-1	Save Cancel
le Format: ✓PICT File TIFF 5.0	

Figure 17.9 The Save As... dialog.

Eject

You can eject the film from the scanner's film slot at any time that scanning is not in progress by selecting the E_{JECT} command from the F_{ILE} menu. The Command "**é**" – "E" keyboard shortcut will also invoke an eject.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Chapter 17

Quit

You can quit the Nikon Control application at any time that scanning is not in progress by selecting the $Q \cup T$ command from the FILE menu. You will be prompted to save the images in any scan windows that are opened, but not yet saved. The Command " \bigstar " – "Q" keyboard shortcut will also invoke the $Q \cup T$ command.

The Edit Menu

The Nikon Control Edit menu, shown in Figure 17.10, consists of UNDO (last command), ZOOM IN, ZOOM OUT, DOUBLE ZOOM, HALVE ZOOM, SET ZOOM 1:1 and ORIGINAL SCAN ZOOM.

Edit	
Undò Zoom In	жZ
Zoom In	;≋+
Zoom Out	ж-
Double Zoom	ж2
Halve Zoom	೫/
Set Zoom to 1:1	%1
Original Scan Zoom	%0

Figure 17.10 The EDIT menu.

Undo/Redo (Last Command Used)

The UNDO/REDO (LAST COMMAND USED) command enables you to revert to the last window state, regardless of which menu selection was made in the edit menu. All Edit menu items are supported. Command " \bigstar " – "Z" will invoke this function.

Zoom In

The ZOOM IN command enables you to magnify the view of the image in the active scan window.

The ZOOM IN command can be invoked in two ways:

- 1. Select the ZOOM IN command from the EDIT menu.
- 2. Simultaneously strike Command "**¢**" "+" on the keyboard.

Zoom Out

The ZOOM OUT command enables you to reduce the magnification of the view of the image in the active scan window.

The ZOOM OUT command can be invoked in two ways:

- 1. Select the ZOOM OUT command from the EDIT menu.
- 2. Simultaneously strike Command "**¢**" "-" (the minus sign) on the keyboard.

Double Zoom

The DOUBLE ZOOM command enables you to increase the magnification of the view of the image in the active scan window by 200%.

The DOUBLE ZOOM command can be invoked in two ways:

- 1. Select the DOUBLE ZOOM command from the EDIT menu.
- 2. Simultaneously strike Command "♠" "2" on the keyboard.

Halve Zoom

The HALVE ZOOM command enables you to decrease the magnification of the view of the image in the active scan window by 50%.

The HALVE ZOOM command can be invoked in two ways:

- 1. Select the HALVE ZOOM command from the EDIT menu.
- 2. Simultaneously strike Command "**¢**" "/" on the keyboard.

Set Zoom to 1:1

The SET ZOOM TO 1:1 command enables you to view the image in the active scan window at 72 dpi.

The SET ZOOM TO 1:1 command can be invoked in two ways:

- 1. Select the SET ZOOM TO 1:1 command from the EDIT menu.
- 2. Simultaneously strike Command "**¢**" "1" on the keyboard.

Original Scan Zoom

The ORIGINAL SCAN ZOOM command enables you to view the image in the active scan window at the original zoom factor. This will allow you to view the entire image.

The ORIGINAL SCAN ZOOM command can be invoked in two ways:

Nikon Control Application Software – Macintosh

Chapter 17

- 1. Select the ORIGINAL SCAN ZOOM command from the EDIT menu.
- 2. Simultaneously strike Command "**¢**" "0" (zero) on the keyboard.

Nikon Control Application Software – Windows

Nikon Control is a simple to use, yet effective scanning application providing complete control of Nikon scanners. While it is a stand-alone program, it utilizes the Nikon Scanner plug-in, just like other imaging applications, such as Photoshop.

The Nikon Control application is menu driven, and utilizes standard file dialogs. Among its features, Nikon Control allows you to scan and save images, and zoom-in on and zoom-out of areas of interest within scanned images. Complete scanning control is provided via the Nikon Scanner plug-in, described in detail in this manual.

Launching Nikon Control

The Nikon Control application is launched by double clicking on its icon, shown in Figure 18.1.

Nikon	

Figure 18.1 Launching Nikon Control.

Scan Windows

Nikon Control is based on three elements: a simple menu system; the Nikon Scanner plug-in; and *scan windows*. The scan windows are standard resizeable, scrollable document windows. A scan window will contain a full-crop image upon opening a file, or performing a scan. A typical scan window is shown in Figure 18.2.

Nikon Control Application Software – Windows

Chapter 18



Figure 18.2 A typical scan window.

The Main Menu

The Nikon Control Main menu, shown in Figure 18.3, consists of the File menu, the EDIT menu and the WINDOW menu.

-		Nikon Control	-	•
File	<u>E</u> dit	Window		

Figure 18.3 The Nikon Control Main menu.

The File Menu

The FILE menu, seen in Figure 18.4, contains commands to perform scans, open existing scanned image files into scan windows, close scan windows, save new scans to a disk file, and exit the application.
Chapter 18

Nikon Control Application Software – Windows

<u>F</u> ile	
<u>N</u> ew Scan	F2
<u>O</u> pen	Ctrl+0
<u>C</u> lose	Ctrl+F4
<u>S</u> ave	Ctrl+S
Save <u>A</u> s	
<u>A</u> bout	
E <u>x</u> it	Alt+F4

Figure 18.4 The FILE menu.

New Scan

The Nikon Scanner plug-in's Scan dialog is invoked when NEW SCAN is selected from the File menu. The F2 keyboard shortcut will also invoke the NEW SCAN command.

Open

Selecting this menu item will bring up the standard file open dialog. Only Targa and Windows Bitmap file formats are supported. Multiple files may be selected by using the Control and Shift keys. Holding down the Shift key will allow you to select a range of files. Holding down the Control key will allow you to toggle the selection of specific files. A typical Open dialog is shown in Figure 18.5.

File <u>N</u> ame:	Directories:	ОК
t.tga ocean.tga sunset.tga	c:\images\ray	
bozotest.tga denttest.tga ocean.tga roman.tga simple1.tga simple2.tga sunset.tga water.tga ↓	i images i images i images	• Lancel
List Files of <u>T</u> ype:	Dri <u>v</u> es:	
Targa Files 👲	🖃 c: nikon	±

Figure 18.5 The OPEN FILE dialog.

Once a file is selected, a scan window is opened to accommodate the size of the image file. If the image size is larger than the available screen resolution, a maximum size scan window will be opened with scroll bars to allow you to view the entire image.

Close

A scan window can be closed by selecting the FILE menu's CLOSE command, or by clicking the standard close box in the upper-left corner of the window. If the image in the window resulted from a new scan and has not been saved to disk, a query dialog, shown in Figure 18.6, will appear. The Control – F4 keyboard shortcut will also invoke the CLOSE command.

_		Nikon Cor	ntrol
\bigcirc	Save i	image 'Unt	itled 1 (1:1)'?
	Yes	<u>N</u> o	Cancel

Figure 18.6 Closing or saving a scanned image dialog.

Save

The SAVE command causes the image in the active scan window to be saved as a file. If the image has not been previously named and saved as a file, the SAVE AS... dialog will appear. The Control – S keyboard shortcut will also invoke the SAVE command.

Save As...

The SAVE As... command causes the image in the active scan window to be saved as a file. The SAVE As... command is typically used when you have modified a preexisting file and want to save it is a new file, thus leaving the original file intact. Before performing the actual save, the SAVE AS... dialog appears prompting you to enter a file name and file format. The SAVE AS... dialog is shown in Figure 18.7.

Chapter 18

Nikon Control Application Software – Windows



Figure 18.7 The SAVE AS... dialog.

About

The ABOUT command will bring up a dialog showing the software version, copyright information and customer support information.

Exit

You can exit the Nikon Control application at any time that scanning is not in progress by selecting the $E_{X|T}$ command from the F|LE menu. You will be prompted to save the images in any scan windows that are opened, but not yet saved. The Alt – F4 keyboard shortcut will also invoke the $E_{X|T}$ command.

The Edit Menu

The EDIT menu, seen in Figure 18.8, contains the COPY command, which is invoked by holding down the Control and "C" keys at the same time. Selecting this menu item will copy the image in the currently active window to the clipboard. If the entire image does not fit into memory, an error will be reported and the operation will fail. Most applications have a provision for importing .BMP or .TGA files. If the copy fails, the image should be saved and imported into the other application in this manner. If your system is running in 386 Enhanced Mode you can successfully copy the maximum size image to the clipboard by increasing the size of the swap file (using the 386 Enhanced Control Panel) to 40 megabytes The COPY command is only available if an image is loaded in the window.

Nikon Control Application Software – Windows

Chapter 18

<u>E</u> dit	1.0
<u>С</u> ору	Ctrl+C

Figure 18.8 The EDIT menu.

The Window Menu

Cascade

The CASCADE menu item will arrange the windows that are not icons so that the title bar of each window is visible. This option is only available if an image is loaded.

Tile

The TILE menu item will arrange the windows that are not icons so that all of them are visible. This option is only available if an image is loaded.

Arrange Icons

The ARRANGE ICONS menu item will arrange the windows that are currently displayed in minimized form into rows across the bottom of the application window. This option is only available if an image is loaded.

Zoom In

The ZOOM IN command enables you to magnify the view of the image in the active scan window up to 8 times the original view.

The ZOOM IN command can be invoked in three different ways:

1. Select the ZOOM IN command from the WINDOW menu.

2. Simultaneously strike Control and "+" on the keyboard.

3. Place the cursor in the active scan window. The cursor will change shape to a magnifying glass with a "+" sign in the center. This is the Zoom In cursor, shown in Figure 18.9.



Figure 18.9 The Zoom In cursor.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 170

Zoom Out

The ZOOM OUT command enables you to reduce the magnification of the view of the image in the active scan window up to 8 times the original view.

The ZOOM OUT command can be invoked in three different ways:

1. Select the ZOOM OUT command from the WINDOW menu.

2. Simultaneously strike Control and "-" (the minus sign) on the keyboard.

3. Place the cursor in the active scan window. The cursor will change shape to a magnifying glass with a "-" sign in the center. This is the Zoom Out cursor, shown in Figure 18.10.





The "-" sign will disappear from the center of the Zoom Out cursor when it has reached maximum reduction.

Fit In Window

The FIT IN WINDOW command will zoom the currently active image anywhere from actual size out to 1:8 and resizes the window so that the entire image is visible. This option is only available if an image is loaded.

Autosize Window

The AUTOSIZE WINDOW command will attempt to resize the currently active window so that the entire image is visible. If the image is larger then the application window's workspace, the window is sized to fill the workspace. This option is only available if an image is loaded.

Information

Selecting the INFORMATION menu item will show statistics about the currently active image. The display includes vital information about the image, as seen in Figure 18.11. The F3 key will invoke the Information command. This option is only available if an image is loaded.

Nikon Control Application Software – Windows

Chapter 18



Figure 18.11 The Information Window.

Selecting the Active Scan Window

If you have multiple scan windows open at the same time, you will see each one listed if you pull down the WINDOW menu. You can select the window you want to be active by placing the menu scroll bar over it, then releasing the mouse button.

Troubleshooting – Macintosh

Following are some common problems you may encounter in the installation and operation of your scanner. Corrective action for each problem is listed by order of most likely cause. If a corrective action does not solve the problem, proceed to the next listed corrective action. If the problem persists after exhausting all of the suggested corrective actions, contact Nikon Technical Support at (516) 547-4311, or via FAX at (516) 547-0305 for assistance. Nikon Technical Support can also be contacted through the following electronic information services at the corresponding addresses:

AppleLink	Nikontech
PressLink	Nikon.Tech
America Online	Nikontech
Internet	Nikontech @ AOL.COM

• Problem: After installing the scanner, my Macintosh is displaying the flashing question mark when I start up.

Action: You most likely have a SCSI address conflict that is preventing your system from recognizing the disk used to start the system.

1. Shut the system off, remove the scanner, then restart.

If the system starts normally, check the SCSI ID number of all disk drives and other attached SCSI devices. Make sure that no device has the same SCSI ID number as the scanner. If so, power off all SCSI devices and reset their ID numbers accordingly. Reconnect the scanner, power-up, and proceed.

2. If the Macintosh still is displaying the flashing "?" you may have a termination problem. Make sure that you have a terminated device at the end of the SCSI chain. Macintosh IIfx systems require a special *black* terminator. One is supplied with every IIfx system. If you are installing a Coolscan, do *not* use the gray terminator that ships with Coolscan to terminate a IIfx system. Doing so may result in damage to your Macintosh's motherboard.

3. You may wish to eliminate all non-essential items from the SCSI chain and try restarting again.

4. You may have to rearrange your SCSI devices and cables on the SCSI chain until you find a combination that works.

Troubleshooting – Macintosh

5. You may have to remove SCSI devices with DB-25 connectors.

6. You may need to contact the vendors of your other SCSI devices to determine if they are internally terminated. Generally, you should not have more then one terminated device on your SCSI chain. Certain devices and arrangements may require more then one terminator. However, these instances are rare.

You should contact Nikon Technical Support if you are experiencing severe difficulty and have worked through the preceding corrective steps without success.

• Problem: The scanner is not found by the Nikon Scanner plug-in.

Action: Attempt to locate the scanner on the SCSI bus by first clicking on the Tools icon. Once inside the Tools dialog, attempt to manually address the scanner by clicking on the SCSI icon and the ALWAYS FIND DEVICE button. Once you have determined the scanner's SCSI address, set that address in this dialog, click the DONE button, then set the scanner's defaults.

• Problem: The plug-in fails to find the scanner when I click FIND DEVICE.

Action: Proceed with the following corrective action:

1. You may need to power on all of your SCSI devices *before* starting your computer. If this fails to correct the problem, the scanner may be defective, or you may have a rare conflict on your SCSI bus.

2. You may have two SCSI devices set to the same SCSI ID number, such as the Nikon scanner and an external hard drive. Make sure that no two SCSI devices are set to the same SCSI ID number.

3. Try starting your Macintosh with the Shift key held down (System 7) in order to disable all of your Extensions. Then, try using the scanner. If the scanner functions normally, you should examine the contents of your Extensions and Control Panel folders to make sure that you don't have outdated or incompatible software. "Inits" used with some removable cartridge drives may cause SCSI difficulties. Some utilities that display the active drive number may also cause problems.

It is best to start with nothing but Apple-issue system files installed. Have your scanner up and running, then start reinstalling your accessory files. You may need to change the order in which these files are loaded. You can do so by adding an "A" or a "Z" to the very beginning of the file name to change the loading order (Apple system software loads these files in alphabetical order).

Page 174

• Problem: I can't find the Nikon Scanner plug-in in my third-party application software.

Action for Adobe Photoshop 2.01 Users: All plug-ins (including Nikon's) must be in the same folder as the Photoshop Prefs files, "PS Prefs." If the ACQUIRE menu is not available, locate *all* copies of the PS Prefs file, delete them, and *empty the trash*. If the trash is not emptied, Photoshop will follow the PS Prefs file to the trash and use it!

The next time you start Photoshop you will be asked where the PS Prefs file is. Click on the NEW button and then SAVE the new PS Prefs file into your Photoshop plug-ins folder. You should then be able to find the Nikon Scanner plug-in in the ACQUIRE menu.

Action for Adobe Photoshop 2.5 Users: Using the PREFERENCES menu in Photoshop, set the proper plug-in folder.

Action for ColorStudio Users (Version 1.5 or later): Hold down the Command key when launching ColorStudio. You will be asked to identify your plug-in folder. Once you copy the Nikon Scanner plug-in to this folder you will be able to scan directly into ColorStudio.

• Problem: I can't get the software installation to finish.

Action: You may have an extension conflict. Restart your Macintosh with the Shift key held down, then run the Installer again.

• Problem: When I attempt to run the Nikon Scanner plug-in software through Fractal Design Painter I can't activate any buttons.

Action: Before attempting to use the Nikon Scanner plug-in with Painter close all open windows and palettes.

• Problem: When I try to scan negative film on Coolscan I get an error 32208.

Action: The strip film holder is not inserted properly. Remove, then re-insert the film strip holder, making sure that it is in firmly.

• Problem: My Centris 610/650/660AV or Quadra 800/840AV 'hangs' at the

Troubleshooting – Macintosh

completion of a scan.

Action: Version 4.0 of the Nikon Scanner plug-in software will not operate properly on these particular systems. Check your distribution diskette for the version number, then contact Nikon for a software update.

• Problem: I can't open TIFF files created by Coolscan Control in other applications.

Action: Use *Nikon Control* for saving TIFF files. TIFF files created in Coolscan Control can only be opened by Photoshop 2.0.1.

• Problem: When I open the Nikon Scanner plug-in for my GPIB scanner my system locks up.

Action: Check the version number of your NB-Handler. Version 4.4 of the NB-Handler is not compatible with Nikon products. Contact National Instruments at 1-800-433-3488 to obtain a later version.

• Problem: If I open SCSI Probe or other software that lists SCSI devices while scanning in Photoshop 2.5, the scan stops.

Action: When scanning in the background, do not use software that sends an Inquiry on the SCSI bus. This would include SCSI Probe, most disk utilities, and back-up software.

Page 176

Troubleshooting – Windows

Following are some common problems you may encounter in the installation of your scanner. Corrective action for each problem is listed by order of most likely cause. If a corrective action does not solve the problem, proceed to the next listed corrective action. If the problem persists after exhausting all of the suggested corrective actions, contact Nikon Technical Support at (516) 547-4311, or via FAX at (516) 547-0305 for assistance. Nikon Technical Support can also be contacted through the following electronic information services at the corresponding addresses:

AppleLink	Nikontech
PressLink	Nikon.Tech
America Online	Nikontech
Internet	Nikontech @ AOL.COM

• Problem: The Nikon Software Installer reports that it cannot read my thirdparty application disks during the installation, but when I run the third-party installer outside of the Nikon Installer the disks are read with no problem.

Action: This problem is due to an error in reading different density media. We advise you to install your third-party software first, then update the scan drivers with the Nikon Installer disk.

• Problem: My system won't boot after I install the SCSI controller card in my PC or compatible.

Action: You have an interrupt conflict. For Coolscan, refer to the section in the Installation Guide on setting the SCSI card configuration, which will direct you on how to assign one of three possible interrupts to your SCSI host card. For LS-3510-AF/LS-3500, refer to the technical guide accompanying your particular SCSI controller card.

You may have a conflict with a video card driver, or a driver from another installed hardware device. The SCSI controller card accompanying Coolscan will run in a large number of PCs with no change in settings required.

Please contact Nikon Technical Support if you are unable to resolve the problem.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 177

Troubleshooting – Windows

• Problem: When I launch Microsoft Windows I am returned to the "C:" prompt.

Action: Windows may not be properly installed. Try launching Windows with the following command: "Win/s." If Windows runs in standard mode, you should reinstall it, as well as your other drivers. Also, make sure your system is properly configured to use the 386 enhanced mode.

• Problem: I've installed the Nikon Scanner Drivers in my Aldus PhotoStyler and now I can't use my other scanner.

Action: PhotoStyler can only support one scanner driver at a time. If you have sufficient disk space, create a duplicate of the PhotoStyler directory. Then, set up one copy for the Nikon scanner, and use the other copy for your other scanner.

• Problem: My Coolscan cannot be found by the Nikon Scanner Driver.

Action: Check the messages displayed on your screen as your system is first starting up. Pay particular attention to the Trantor ASPI driver. It should indicate the SCSI ID and type of device as it is loading. In the unlikely event that Coolscan has not completed the power-up diagnostics, you may need to reboot your system so that Coolscan is recognized. Please contact Nikon Technical Support if this occurs.

Action: Check that you have all cables firmly attached to Coolscan.

For *LS-10E* units, it is advised to fasten the connector's wire clips in order to firmly attach the SCSI cable and terminator to the back of Coolscan. SCSI cables will sometimes 'walk' away from the connector, leaving the impression that the cable is firmly seated, while in fact, it is not.

For *LS-10* units, make certain that the SCSI ribbon cable has not been punctured or crushed when you reinstalled your PC's case. Assure that the SCSI ribbon cable is firmly seated at both ends. Check the position of the configuration switch for termination "ON," as indicated in Figure 3.4 in Chapter Three of the Coolscan Installation Guide.

• Problem: Scanning is very slow.

Action: The scanner will provide the best possible performance if enough RAM is available to contain the entire scan. Eight megabytes of RAM will yield reasonable performance. The host application (e.g. Nikon Control, Picture Publisher or Photoshop)

Page 178

starts to use virtual memory when there is no more RAM available. In this case, you will notice an increase in disk activity and a decrease in overall scanning speed.

• Problem: My SCSI hard disk is unreliable since I installed Coolscan.

Action: You should be interfacing Coolscan with the included SCSI controller card. Nikon cannot guarantee compatibility with every ASPI-compliant SCSI controller card and hard disk driver software. You will not see any speed increase by using a different SCSI controller card, as the included SCSI card can receive image data faster than Coolscan can generate it.

Problem: I get a system error when I'm scanning.

Action: Make note of the exact error message that appears, then contact Nikon Technical Support. It will help if you have the following file information in front of you before you call:

Contents of: Config.sys Autoexec.bat Win.Ini

• Problem: I am getting an error code 203 or 208 while scanning with Coolscan.

Action: Enable the jumper on the Trantor T-130 SCSI Controller Card for "Zero Wait States" and/or assign an interrupt. Please contact Nikon Technical Support if you require assistance.

• Problem: Communication with my internally-mounted Coolscan seems erratic.

Action: Contact Nikon Technical Support for instructions on enabling termination power on Coolscan internal models.

Troubleshooting – Windows

Page 180

Glossary of Computer Imaging Terms

A/D Conversion	analog to digital signal conversion.
absolute address	the x and y pixel coordinates in a pixel map using global coordinates in a locally cropped area of a larger image.
analog gamma function	a non-linear function used in analog signal processing.
aspect ratio	the ratio of width to height in an image.
analog signals	these electrical signals represent or are "analogous" to real world events such as a sound or pattern of light. An "analog" is a simile or representation of something else.
ASCII	a coding system used to represent characters using binary storage.
aband sequential	color pixels stored in separate planes in the same file, or as separate files. Sometimes called planar, screen, or field sequential.
binary	a number system which uses a base of two. Used for the majority of computing systems, since electrical logic circuits are easily constructed with a small positive (+) voltage to signify On, or True, and a negative (-) or 0 voltage used to represent Off or False.
bit	A binary digit representing 0 or 1, true or false, plus or minus.
binary images	these are high contrast, bit-mapped images, used to represent line art and typography.
byte sequential	color stored in triplet pixels for RGB, HSV, etc., or quadruplet pixels for RGBÅ, YMCK, etc.
buffer capacity	the available space to store information in any system. "Buffer" usually refers to intermediate storage for processes that would otherwise bottleneck a system.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 181

Glossary of Computer Imaging Terms

e results of the imaging process on a known color/gray d real life subjects. This quantitative measurement is netry, where we measure the values of the input and an then define a function for the changes that are intro- imaging system. This transfer function can then be used
the imaging system.
d device. This is a solid state memory unit with storage accumulate electron charges.
in on the CCD in the scanner.
age limit of the CCD output can be clamped at a par- allowing the black level of the image to be established so s of the exposure increase, the black level stays the same. linear type of amplification.
sing unit.
mage.
balancing the color of an image.
y ways to describe color. Color spaces are three dimen- they consist of units of measurement along three differ- generally talk about three common characteristics. (brightness, lightness, darkness, or value): the color's rk to light. nee (chroma, color, hue): the color's name. (purity, degree of gray contamination): the color's tensity resulting from the quantity of neutral or gray with the color. color spaces are: RGB, YMC, YMCK, HSV, HSL, IR, CIE, L*a*b, CIE, L*u*v, etc. Colors can also be

	specified using Pantone®, just one of many color matching systems.
contrast	the difference between the lightest and darkest shades in a picture. The slope of the function of exposure versus density is, in effect, the contrast, also called gamma.
decimal	a number system which uses a base of ten. First appeared as the Arabic number system, it also includes various types such as integers, real and imaginary numbers, etc.
daisy chain	a series of devices connected together with a beginning and end- point, unlike an endless loop.
digitized	the process of converting a continuously variable signal into a quan- tized representation, usually binary.
DIP switch	dual in-line pin switch.
dither	to mix different tonal values or shades together in a pattern to smooth the transition between two different tonal areas. To create the appear- ance of more gradations by blending small components of different shades alternately together.
dither pattern	a two-dimensional matrix used in the dithering process. This com- monly measures from 2x2 up to 8x8 cells, with different values in each cell. As the dither matrix grows, more shades can be simulated, but the image will appear less and less defined (sharp) as small details of high contrast pixels are spread over a wider area.
driver	an intermediate software or firmware controller for various input/output devices connected to a computer, and the application running on it.
emulsion	The light sensitive coating in photographic film or paper. The side of the film bearing the emulsion or image layer is usually slightly matte (non-reflective) when viewed with an oblique light source, compared to the base or non-emulsion side. Can also be determined from the readability of the manufacturers identification markings. When these ID's are readable, the emulsion side is facing away from you.

Glossary of Computer Imaging Terms

four-color process	the use of four subtractive pigment-based primaries, Yellow, Magenta Cyan, and blacK, to reproduce the full spectrum in print. Can also be achieved with three color process, Yellow, Magenta, and Cyan, which are the compliment (opposite) to the three additive primaries, Blue, Green, and Red.
exposure shift	a change in a lighter or darker direction.
GCR	gray component replacement is the use of black ink to substitute for common quantities of colored inks. In other words, when the print has a large gray area that is being reproduced using approximately equal quantities of cyan, magenta, and yellow ink, the common com- ponent of the three colors can be replaced with a similar density of black ink. Also called 'achromatic' reproduction.
gray balance	the relative proportion of primary colors, additive or subtractive, needed to produce a neutral tone from dark to light intensities.
HEX or (h)	a number system which uses a base of 16. Where we use the first ten numbers in the arabic system and continue on with letters: 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, A, B, C, D, E, F.
hue	a discrete, fully saturated color, is given a name. This name is its "hue". The same hue is referred to by different descriptors depending on the color model being used.
handshaking	the process of acknowledging transmission and reception of data through hardware or software.
interleaved	refers to a color pixel storage structure where the RGB elements of the pixel are all present in consecutive order at one memory location for that pixel. Non-interleaved or planar means that the red, green and blue pixels are stored in different planes or files. See band sequen- tial, byte sequential, line sequential, full chunky, chunky planar, and full planar.
irradiation	photons entering a light sensitive film emulsion tend to 'bounce
Page 184	Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

	around' resulting in diffusion of sharp lines and loss of definition. This can be minimized with thinner emulsions and a light absorbing base under the sensitized layers.
high-key	describes an image where most if not all of the subject matter has a density range from midtones to highlights. A predominantly light picture.
line-sequential	where color is stored in RGB, YMCK, etc. lines of pixels instead of bytes or planes. Sometimes called row sequential for a horizontal raster.
luminance	see color models.
low-key	describes an image where most if not all of the subject matter has a density range from midtones to shadows. A predominantly dark picture.
LUT	look-up-table — used to transpose one value into another via some predetermined scheme.
LSB	least significant bit — the right-most bit in a binary code.
mapping	assigning colors to particular areas of an image based on shade or some other description. Often used to produce visually continuous tone color images when there are very few colors available in the palette to do so.
moire	an undesirable visible interference pattern created when dot screens overlap at certain frequencies. This pattern can be eliminated (sub- dued) through trial and error and compromise. The angles and fre- quencies of the four process screens must be manipulated to reduce the effect.
MSB	most significant bit — the left-most bit in a binary code.
Photometry	the process of reading densities through photoelectric conversion.

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 185

Glossary of Computer Imaging Terms

	Also related to sensitometry or densitometry which can also be per- formed using visual matching.
pixel	the smallest discrete element in a picture, usually square, in a digital system. Short for picture element. These elements can also be irregu- lar shapes and randomly spaced like silver halide grains in a photo- graphic emulsion. Also called pel.
PostScript®	a page description language authored by Adobe Systems. It is used extensively in the desktop publishing industry to translate digitally stored images, raster and object types, to a raster-oriented printing device, such as a laser printer or laser typesetter.
progressives	a four color ink proof made on press, where each plate is printed sep- arately and in various combinations with the other three so that the four color images can be properly evaluated for dot gain and the over- all quality of the color separations. Also called "progs".
prescan	photometry performed by the scanner before a screen preview.
pseudo-color images	when colors are assigned to monochrome shades to give meaning to areas in the picture. Often used in satellite imagery to define vegeta- tion and geological information. Can also refer to simple tinting of monochrome images, like oil-coloring B&W prints.
RAM	Random Access Memory.
raster	a lattice of parallel lines used to represent an image by varying the brightness of points on each line. The raster is a regular pattern of thin, horizontal, equally spaced bars.
refractive index	the factor by which a material, such as glass or water, causes light wave/particles to change velocity. This change in velocity is a change in direction rather than speed, since the speed of light is constant. The result is that light waves change direction when they pass through a boundary from one material, such as air, to another, such as glass or water. This change can be viewed directly, as when a mag- nifying lens bends light, or when water magnifies the part of an object which is submerged. The change in angle can be calculated from this

	"index of refraction". Certain materials having a higher density, will bend light more than others. Different types of glass can possess larg- er or smaller indices of refraction.
registration	the accurate placement or line-up of discrete image elements, in superimposition such as in multiple pass scanning or four-color print- ing plate registration. This term is also used to refer to the download- ing of commands to the LS-3510AF memory.
resolution	the fine-line definition or resolving power of an imaging system. A measure of optical performance. Also refers to the number of dots or pixels used to define an image. The more dots per unit of measure, the higher the resolution.
reversal films	film emulsions that have been designed to be exposed and developed as a negative, and then reversed by chemical or light-induced fogging, to produce a positive image from the unprocessed portions of the negative. The negative image is then bleached away, leaving a positive silver layer for black and white, or three silver layers with color cou- plers for a color image. For color, the silver is bleached away, leaving the color couplers which are then developed out to become color dyes.
screen	a lattice of lines used to create mechanical halftones in the photo- graphic process. These halftones are mostly generated digitally these days.
shading compensation	the CCD element normalization process in the scanner which com- pensates for different CCD element sensitivities to light in a linear array.
slice level	the threshold which is used to set a pixel either white or black, when converting from continuous tone or grayscale shaded originals.
slide mount	a paper or plastic frame used to hold film for projection or viewing purposes.

Glossary of Computer Imaging Terms

stage	the moving platform used to mount the slide or film strip holder in the scanner.
subsampling	the process of reducing the number of discrete pixels in an image by throwing certain ones away or averaging several together to form a single one.
tone wedge jump	posterization caused by having too few bits to represent the number of tones needed in an image.
vector conversion	the conversion of information from scalar to vector. Vector informa- tion is defined as having magnitude and direction. In other words, a point in space can be defined in a cartesian coordinate system, and there is a vector pointing towards that location in space. In imaging, we can convert a pixel from a value at a particular x, y location, to a vector number which defines its magnitude as well as its spatial loca- tion in one number. This system is used extensively to mathematical- ly represent randomly shaped objects so that computers can "draw" them.

Index

Index

A

ABORT, 2, 30, 37, 85-86, 134 ADOBE PHOTOSHOP, 5, 7, 11, 51, 137 ARRANGE ICONS, 170 ARROW CURSOR, 61, 101, 137, 148 ASPECT, 93, 97, 101, 107-108 ASPI DRIVER, 2, 12, 21 AT-GPIB, 20 AUTO CHECK BOX, 86-87, 120-121 AUTOEXPOSURE, 30, 37, 86-87, 119-121 AUTOEXPOSURE BUTTON, 120 AUTOEXPOSURE CHECK BOX, 120-121 AUTOEXPOSURE CHECK MARK, 120-121 AUTOFOCUS, 28, 30, 36-37, 88 AUTOMATIC METHOD, 73, 75, 79, 81 AUTOSIZE WINDOW, 171

B

BASE, 27-28, 35-36, 115 BLACK AND WHITE NEGATIVE, 115-116 BLACK AND WHITE POSITIVE, 115, 134 BLACK BORDER, 30, 38 BLACK POINT, 148-152 BLUE EXPOSURE, 123-124, 126 BLUE GAMMA CURVE BUTTON, 153 BLUE/YELLOW SLIDER, 124 BMP, 90, 169 BRIGHTNESS, 26, 29, 32, 34, 37, 40, 44, 56-57, 86, 89, 119-126, 146, 148 BRIGHTNESS BUTTON, 121-122 BUSY LED, 30-31, 37, 39

С

Calibrate Lamp Button, 64, 70 Calibrating the Lamp, 70 Cascade, 170 Color Balance, 26, 29, 34, 37, 44, 56-57, 70, 89, 119-126 Color Negative, 115 Color Positive, 115, 119 Combo Boxes, 59 CONFIG.SYS, 17, 21 Contrast Adjustment, 148, 152

Index

Contrast, 26, 29, 32, 34, 37, 40, 44, 56-58, 61, 86, 88-89, 101, 119-127, 133, 148, 152 Contrast button, 123 Contrast slider control, 123 Control points, 148-149, 152 CP-3000, 5-6, 9, 11 Crop Rectangle, 30, 38, 45-48, 61-62, 94, 97-101, 107-110, 140, 152 Cropping, 0, 25-26, 29, 34, 37, 44, 54, 56-57, 93-112 Crosshair cursor, 61, 100-101 Curve button, 64, 145-146, 153 Custom and Default Gamma Curves, 137 Custom check box, 133-134, 139, 141, 155 Custom curves, 133-134, 138-139

D

DEFAULT CUSTOM GAMMA CURVES, 137-141 DEFAULT GAMMA CURVES, 133, 137-139, 142 DEFAULT SETTINGS, 29, 37, 74-76, 79-80, 82, 137, 139-141 DEFAULT STATE, 73-76, 79-80, 82, 86 DIMENSIONAL UNITS, 103 DISK FREE, 111 DISK SPACE STATUS, 110-111, 137 DITHERED, 3, 32, 40 DONE BUTTON, 70, 129, 134, 155 DOS, 11, 82, 91 DOUBLE ZOOM, 162-163 DYNAMIC RANGE, 121-122

E

Easy Install, 7-10 Eject, 5-6, 11, 30, 37, 41, 49-50, 91-92, 159, 161 Eject button, 30, 49-50, 91 Eject Coolscan Film, 5-6, 11, 49-50, 91-92 Emulsion, 27 Exposure, 44, 86-87, 89, 98, 119, 123-126

F

Factory default gamma curves, 137-139, 142 Factory default settings, 75-76, 82, 139, 141 File Sharing, 2 File Size, 45-47, 93-94, 97-98, 101, 104-108, 110-111 Film Type, 26, 28, 34, 36, 41-43, 56-57, 71, 87, 89, 113-118, 134, 137, 139-140, 144-147, 153 Final Resolution, 41, 45-46, 93, 95-98, 100-101, 103-106, 108 Final Scan, 27, 30-32, 34-35, 38-39, 41-45, 48, 85-92, 94-95, 98-99, 104-105, 113-114

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 190

FIT IN WINDOW, 171 FLIP HORIZONTAL, 114 FLIP VERTICAL, 114 FOCUS BUTTON, 68, 88, 128-131 FOCUS CONTROLS, 127 FOCUS LEVEL METER, 128, 130 FOCUS VALUE EDIT BOX, 88-89 FOCUS WHEEL, 29, 37, 127-128, 131 FORCE LINEAR, 154 FORCING AN AUTOEXPOSURE, 87, 120 FOUR-WAY ARROW CURSOR, 61, 101

G

Gamma Curve Editor, 60, 62-64, 71, 89, 98, 119, 133-156 Gamma curves, 89, 121-122, 124, 133-135, 137-148, 150-155 Gamma Editor button, 142 GPIB addressing selection dialog, 69-70 GPIB-AT, 2 GPIB-PCIIA, 2 Graphics window, 60-61 Green Exposure, 119, 124-125 Green Exposure button, 125 Green Gamma curve button, 153 Green/Magenta slider, 125

Η

Halve Zoom, 162-163 Height, 45-46, 58, 89, 93-101, 103-108, 158 Height value edit box, 45 Help, 13-14, 57, 64, 71-72, 136-137 Highlights, 121-124, 149, 153 Histogram, 147-148 Histogram button, 147 Hot spots, 30, 38, 100-101

I

IMAGING LENS, 28, 36 INCREASING BRIGHTNESS, 121 INPUT/OUTPUT TRANSFER FUNCTION, 145 INSERTING THE SLIDE, 27, 35 INSTALLATION METHOD DIALOG, 19-20 INSTALLATION OPTIONS DIALOG, 15 INSTALLING THIRD-PARTY APPLICATIONS, 16, 19

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Index

Index

INTEGER PITCH, 106 INTERACTIVE HELP, 64, 71-72, 136-137 INTERFACE BUTTONS, 68 INTERPOLATION, 106, 114-115

L

LANDSCAPE, 28, 36, 43-44, 94, 98, 100, 113-114 LANDSCAPE MODE, 44, 98, 100, 113-114 LAUNCHING THE NIKON SCANNER, 23, 51 LED, 27, 30-31, 33-34, 37, 39 LINEAR GAMMA CURVE, 154 LOAD BUTTON, 142-143 LOAD SETTINGS. 74-77. 80-84. 140-141. 143 LOAD SETTINGS BUTTON, 74-77, 80-84, 141, 143 LOADING CUSTOM GAMMA CURVES, 142 LOADING THE FACTORY DEFAULT GAMMA CURVES, 142 LOCK ASPECT CHECK BOX, 97, 107 LOCK FILE SIZE, 46, 97-98, 107 LOCK ICON. 47. 107 LOCKING PROPORTIONS, 107 LOCKING THE ASPECT, 93, 97, 107-108 LOCKING THE FILE SIZE, 46-47, 97, 108 LS-3500, 1-2, 7, 9, 43, 58, 88, 124 LS-3510AF, 1-2, 6-10, 20-21, 27-31, 34, 36-39, 43, 50, 58, 64, 66, 70, 88, 119, 121-122, 124-127

Μ

MAGNIFYING GLASS, 89, 127, 170-171 MAIN SCAN DIALOG, 24-27, 31, 33-34, 39, 41-42, 52-57, 68, 127 MANUAL FOCUS, 88-89 MAPPED, 149, 151 MASTER CURVE BUTTON, 146 MASTER CURVE, 134, 142-144, 146, 149, 151-152 MASTER GAMMA CURVE, 137, 146, 148-150, 152 MC-GPIB, 2, 20 Message box, 26, 34, 57-58, 71-72, 136-137 METERED FOCUS, 68, 127-129 MICROCHANNEL, 2, 21 MICROGRAFX PICTURE PUBLISHER, 11, 51 MICROSOFT WINDOWS, 1-2, 12 MIDTONES, 122, 124, 149, 153 MODIFIED GAMMA CURVES, 133 MODIFYING THE GAMMA CURVES, 121-122, 124, 152

Page 192

Monochrome Button, 145 Monochrome Curve, 134, 137, 145-146

N-0

NB HANDLER, 5-6 NB-GPIB. 2 NEW SCAN, 67, 160, 167-168 NIKON CONTROL, 5-7, 10-12, 16, 18-19, 33-34, 41-42, 51, 82, 157-172 NIKON CONTROL MAIN MENU, 158, 166 NIKON IMAGEACCESS, 7, 11, 51 NIKON INSTALLER, 5-13, 15, 19, 21, 42 NIKON SCANNER PLUG-IN, 3, 5-7, 11-12, 15, 19-20, 23, 25-27, 33-34, 41-42, 51-73, 75, 79, 81, 86, 93, 99, 106, 110-111, 113, 119-120, 122, 124, 133-134, 137-141, 148, 152, 157, 159-160, 165, 167 NIKON SCANNER SOFTWARE SETUP DIALOG, 13-14 NIKON SETUP DIALOG, 18 NKNCTRL.INI, 71, 79-80, 82, 111, 134 NON-INTEGER PITCH, 106 **OPTICAL DEFINITION.** 127 ORIENTATION, 27-28, 30, 35-37, 41-44, 89, 94-95, 113-118 ORIGINAL SCAN ZOOM, 162-164 OUTPUT RESOLUTION, 45-46, 95, 102-104 OVEREXPOSE, 121

P

Path Selection for Files Dialog, 16, 20 Path Selection for Installer Dialog, 19-20 Photoshop plug-in, 5, 11, 41, 51 PhotoStyler, 39, 51 PICT, 90, 161 Pitch, 31, 39, 46, 93-97, 101-106 Pixel coordinates, 48, 98 Plug-in State, 71, 73-84 Pop-up Menus, 59 Portrait, 43-44, 94, 113-114 Portrait/Landscape Button, 94, 113 Portrait mode, 44, 113-114 PowerBooks, 25, 54 Preferences file, 71, 73-76, 99, 110, 134, 138-139

PREVIEW, 25-27, 29-32, 34-35, 37-39, 41-45, 48, 54-57, 60, 63, 71, 73, 75, 79, 81, 85-92, 94,

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Page 193

Index

98-103, 107-108, 110-111, 113-114, 119, 121, 123-124, 127, 129-131, 136, 147-148, 150-151, 153 Preview button, 29, 37, 42, 44, 85 Preview scan, 27, 29-30, 32, 34-35, 37-39, 41, 44, 75, 81, 85, 87, 89, 94, 113, 119, 130 Preview Window, 30-31, 39, 48, 71, 94, 98-100, 108, 114, 119, 127, 129-131, 136, 148, 150,

151, 153 PRIMARY COLORS, 124 PRIMARY CURVES, 144, 146 PRODUCT SELECTION DIALOG, 14-15 PROGRAM MANAGER, 11-12, 18 PROGRESS INDICATOR, 10, 17-18, 31-32, 39

R

RAM, 2, 158 Reboot System Dialog, 18 Red, Green, and Blue (RGB) Gamma Curves, 146 Red/Cyan slider, 125 Red Exposure, 124-125 Red Exposure button, 124 Red Gamma Curve button, 153 Reset, 73-74, 76, 88, 99, 139, 143-144 Reset button, 73-74, 76, 99, 139, 143 Resetting the Gamma Curves, 143 RGB button, 146 RGB component value, 150 ROM version, 34, 58

S

SATURATE, 121 SAVE AS..., 32, 39-40, 48-49, 90-91, 161, 168-169 SAVE SETTINGS, 74-77, 80-84, 140-141 SAVE SETTINGS BUTTON, 74-77, 80-84 SAVING, 49, 73-75, 79-80, 82, 90, 139, 143, 155, 161, 168 SCAN BUTTON, 31-32, 39, 48, 79, 81, 85, 90 SCAN PITCH, 46, 95-97, 103-106 SCAN RESOLUTION STATUS, 97 SCAN WINDOWS, 41, 157, 159, 162, 165-166, 169, 172 SCANNING FOCUS CHECK BOX, 64, 68, 127, 130 SCANNING PROGRESS INDICATOR, 31, 39 SCANNING SOFTWARE FOR MACINTOSH, 1, 5 SCANNING SOFTWARE FOR WINDOWS, 1, 11 SCSI, 1-2, 9-10, 12, 16-17, 21, 25, 27, 34, 54, 58, 64, 66, 68-69

Page 194

Nikon Software Reference for Scanners

Index

Index

SCSI II, 2, 10 SCSI ADDRESSING SELECTION DIALOG, 69 SCSI CONTROLLER CARD, 2, 12, 17, 21 SCSI DEVICE DRIVER OPTIONS DIALOG, 16-17, 21 SCSI DRIVER SOFTWARE, 12, 21 SCSI ID NUMBER, 58 Selecting the Active Scan Window, 172 Set default method, 73-75, 79-80, 82 SET DEFAULTS, 73-76, 79-80, 82, 139 SET DEFAULTS BUTTON, 73-76, 79-80, 82, 139 Set Zoom to 1:1, 163 SETUP.EXE, 12-13 Shadows, 121-124, 149, 153 SIZING CONTROLS, 93, 101 SLIDE HOLDER, 28, 36, 50 STATUS BAR, 158 STOP BUTTON, 9, 88-89, 127, 130-131 System 6.0.5, 1, 6 System 7, 2, 6, 10, 49, 91

Т

TGA, 90, 169 Third-party applications, 6, 12, 16, 19 32-bit QuickDraw, 2 TIFF, 90, 161 Tile, 170 Tools, 26, 51, 55, 63-68, 70, 91, 127, 130 Tools button, 66-67, 127 Trantor T-130, 21 Trantor T-260, 21

U-Z

UNDEREXPOSED, 121 USE DEFAULTS BUTTON, 79-80, 82 USE LARGE SCREEN CHECK BOX, 64, 67 USER-NAMED METHOD, 73-74, 76, 79-80, 82 VALUE EDIT BOXES, 58-59, 61 VGA, 3, 40 VIEWING THE GAMMA CURVES, 144 VIRTUAL MEMORY, 2 VISUAL FOCUS, 68, 127-128, 130-131 WASH OUT, 121

Index

WHITE POINT, 148, 150-152
WIDTH, 45-46, 58, 89, 93-101, 103-108, 158
WIDTH VALUE EDIT BOX, 45
WINDOWS' FILE MANAGER, 11, 18
WINDOWS 3.0, 1-2, 12
WINDOWS 3.1, 1-2, 12
ZOOM IN, 157, 162, 165, 170-171
ZOOM OUT, 157, 162-163, 165, 171

Nikon Inc. Electronic Imaging Dept. 1300 Walt Whitman Road Melville, NY 11747-3064

© 1993 Nikon Inc. All brands and product names are the registered trademarks of their respective holders. Product specifications are subject to change without notice.

EID-SRFS-993

Product #29990